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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-X contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements relate 1o future events or our future financial performance. We have attempled to identify forward-looking statements by

"o LT (LTS LTI e "o

terminology including “anticipates”, “believes”, “expects”, “can”, “continue”, “could"”, “estimates™, “expects”, “intends™, “may™, “plans”, “potential”, “predict”, “should” or
“will" or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions. Uncertainties and other factors, including the risks outlined
under Risk Factors contained in [tem 1 A of this Form 10-K, may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any
future results, levels or activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.
A variety of factors. some of which are outside our control, may cause our operating results to fluctuate significantly. They include:
+  the availability and cost of producis from our suppliers incorporated into our custemized module design solutions;

+  changes in end-user demand for the products manufactured and sold by our customers;

+  general pnd cyelical economic and business conditions, domestic or foreign, and, in particular, those in China's mobile handset, telecom equipment and digital
media industries;

+  the rate of introduction of new products by our customers;
*  therate of introduction of enabling technologies by our suppliers;
. changes in our pricing policies or the pricing policies of our competitors or suppliers;
. the success of our new engineer?ng services business;
*  ourability to compete effectively with our current and future competitors;
*  our ability to manage our growth effectively, including possible growth through acquisitions;
. our ability to enter into and renew key corporate and strategic relationships with our customers and suppliers;
*  our tmplementation of stock-based compensation plans;
*  changes in the favorable tax incentives enjoyed by our PRC operating companies;
»  foreign currency exchange rates fluctuations;
+  adverse changes in the securities markets; and
+  legislative or regulatory changes in China.
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance

or achievements. Our expectations are as of the date this Form 10-K is filed, and we do not intend to update any of the forward-looking statements after the filing date to
conform these statements to actual results, unless required by law.




We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and proxy and information statemenis and amendments to reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Sccurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. You may read and copy these materials at the SEC's Public
Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the public reference room by catling the SEC at 1-§00-SEC-
0330. The SEC also maintains a website (Artp://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding us and other companies
that file materials with the SEC electrenically. You may also obtain copies of reports filed with the SEC, free of charge, via a link included on our website at
Atip:tiwww.comtech.com.cn.

PART 1
ITEM L. BUSINESS
Company Overview

We provide customized module design solutions for a diverse set of applications and end markets, serving as a gateway for our technology component suppliers to
access leading electronics manufacturers in China. Our customized module design selutions allow our customers to take advantage of technology components from reputable
suppliers in an efficient and cost-effective manner, effectively reducing their time-to-market and lowering their overall costs. Our close collaboration with our customers’
product development teams provides us with a unique understanding of their needs, enabling us to customize our suppliers’ technology components with module designs
that meet our customers’ needs. In addition, in 2006, we began offering technology and engineering services, network system integration and related training and maintenance
services 1o telecom equipment vendors in China and in Southeast Asia.

We are focused on the mobile handset, telecom equipment and digital media end-markets in China. In the mobile handset end-market, we provide module solutions for
functionalities such as LCD, camera. power supply and Bluetooth: in the telecom equipment end-market, we provide solutions for public switched telephone network, or PSTN,
switching, optical transmiltters, electrical signal processing and optical signal amplification; and in the digital medig end-market, we provide solutions for digital set-top boxes
and GPS applications. Over the course of our operating history, we have worked with over 200 customers, including many of the most established manufacturers in the mobile
handset, telecom equipment and digital media end-markets in China such as ZTE, Huawei and Lenovo. In addition to these origi¥al equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, our
other customers include industry participants that support these OEMs, such as subsystem designers and contract manufacturers. {n developing customized module design
solutions for use in our customers’ products, we collaborate closely with over 30 suppliers of technology components, including many large multinational companies such as
Broadcom, JDS Uniphase and Matsushita. In addition, in October 2006 we became one of the first China-based companies to license software technelogy and have access to
selected source codes relating to digital media directly from Microsoft.

L]

Based on the customer's specific requirements, we will propose a customized module reference design, which usually incorporates technology components from our
suppliers, [f the customer accepts our module reference design, it will generally agree to purchase specific components contained in our proposed design from us. However,
our customers and their third-pany contract manufacturers are responsible for the manufacture and assembly of the customized module based on our designs. Our business
model is based on generating recurring revenue by reselling specific components required in our module reference designs, The difference between the purchase price we pay
our suppliers for these components and our sales price to our customers for these componenis compensates us for our design. technical support and distribution services.

®

To further broaden and deepen the relationship with our existing customers, we began offering technology and engineering services in January 2006 to help facilitate
the deployment of their products both in China as well as abroad. In addition, we continue to explore and identify new end-markets where we can leverage both our design and
engineering expertise. For example, in 2006 we commenced the development of tocation-based search applications, particularly GPS module solutions for handsets and others
mobile applications.

From 2004 1o 2006, our net sales grew from RMB625.7 million to RMB 1,323.6 million ($ 169.6 million), representing a compound annual growth rate, or CAGR, of 45.4%,
and our net income grew from RMB62.2 million to RMB123.3 millien ($15.8 million) during the same period, representing 2 CAGR of 40.8%.

.




Competitive Strengths

We believe that our customized module design solutions allow our customers to more effectively utilize our suppliers’ enabling technology components, which in urn
allows them to better compete in their targeted end-markets. We believe our competitive strengths include:

Broad and diversified customer base and deep customer relationships. Our broad and diversified customer base includes many major domestic mobile handset,
telecom equipment and digital consumer electronics manufacturers in China and many of their supporting subsystem suppliers. Being a customized module design solution
provider to our customers requires a time-consuming znd difficult procurement qualification process, which we believe serves as a significant barrier to entry for other
participants. We believe that these close customer relationships, together with our continued qualified solution provider status, facilitate better understanding of our
customers' time-to-market, technelogy and cost requirements. These relationships alse present new business opportunities by enabling us to identify and capture additional
revenue streams from our customers” new growth areas.

Differentiated business model, We facilitate our customers’ use of technology components in their end-products, thus reducing both their time-to-market and overall
costs. As we focus on providing solutions to meet our customers’ specific requirements, we believe that we are less vulnerable to risks associated with the development and
adoption of new and unproven technology. We do not directly charge a design fee for our customized module solutions. Enstead, we are compensated by a markup on the
components recommended in cur design solution, which is determined principally by the extent of the design work we provide.

Accurnulated design solutions expertise, Over the years, we have developed an extensive portfolio of design solutions we can leverage to accommodate the needs of
new clients or existing clients with changed needs. As such, we are able to achieve significant design cost efficiencies by reducing the need to invest the time or resources
associated with designing a new solution. In addition, our engineers have also accumulated a significant amount of design and engineering expertise from working with
various clients from our extensive customer base.

Strong relationships with enabling rechnology components suppliers. We work closely with mare than 30 technology componenits suppliers, including major global
components suppliers such as Broadcom, JS Uniphase and Matsushita. In addition to facilitating the customization of their technology components, our suppliers often rely
on us as a means of penetrating new China-based electronics manufacturers via our existing domestic relationships.

Strategy

We intend to strengthen our position as a technology solution provider for customers in China’s mobile handset, telecom equipment and digital media end-markets.

Leverage our strong customer relationships into new opportunities. We intend 1o drive future revenue growth and profitability by continuing to leverage our strong
customer relationships and expanding the solutions we offer to them. For example, our relationship with Heawei began in 1995 when we provided design solutions for
Huawei's core 1elecom equipment business. When Huawei expanded into the 3G mobile phone business, we began providing solutions for this business in 2006. Similarly, as
Huawei's demand for engineering services within its telecom equipment business increased, we began offering services to facilitate the deployment of Huawei's products in
China as well as abroad, Growing with our clients will enable us to enter new end-markets and expand geographic presence.

Strengthen our design and developmens capabilities. To meet the changing needs of our customers, which include increasingly shorter product life cycles, we intend
to continue to improve and strengthen our in-depth and diversified solution development and design capabilities. We plan 1o continue investing resources 1o maintain the
most experienced and skilled design team to preserve competitiveness within a frequently changing and challenging industry landscape.

Enhance our competitiveness in new product areas through sirategic alliances. We intend to broaden our product offerings by leveraging our existing design and
engineering expertise as well as selectively entering into strategic alliances with third paniies to complement our existing capabilities. For example, we entered into a
collaborative arrangement with Microsoft whereby we will have the ability to license next generation software




technelogy from Microsoft’s IP Ventures program and use Microsoft's source codes to develop design solutions across a variety of digital media applications, We believe
this collaborative arrangement will enhance our competitiveness in design solutions for digital media initiatives, targeting various end-markets including the digital set top-box,
GPS, game console, smartphone and portable media player markets. We intend to continue collaborating with third parties in ways that will enhance our competitiveness.

Make strategic investments and acquisitions. We intend 1o grow and expand our business by making strategic investmenis in and acquiring businesses
complementary to ours that will enable us to expand the solutions we offer to our existing target customer base, and that will provide opporiunities to expand into new markets.
In particular, we plan to pursue opportunities where we expect to generate additionz] near-lerm revenue or expand our long-term growth opportunities by expanding our
customer base or target end-markets. For example, on December 15, 2006, we acquired all the outstanding shares of Viewtran Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Limited, or Viewtran,
a Shenzhen-based digital media technology and solutions provider focusing on digitat TV and GPS applications. We believe the acquisition of Viewtran will complement our
long-term strategy for China's digital media industry by sirengthening our research and development, or R&D, capabilities and broadening our product portfolio.

Products and Technology

We provide customization of our suppliers' technology components with module designs to suit each of our customers’ specific needs. Our customized module design
solutions include:

Mobile Handsets Modules Telecom Equipment Modules Dlgital Media Modules

LCD Fixed line telecom network Digital set-top box

Camera Data communications GPS

Persistent storage Optical transmission Multimedia module in portable media player
Input / output Wireless base-station Multimedia module in home entertainment

Sound system
Power supplies
Bluetooth

Multimedia

The following table sets forth the revenue contribution from our mobile handset, telecom equipment and digital media/other services end-markets during 2003 and 2006.

Market 205 2006

Mobile handset . ) - 151 S ¥ i
Telecommunication equipment i . B o T C a7 T 344
Digital media and others ) ) T o "7 Thog 2187
Engineering services. ) o - K

Total” 1000% ~ 100.0%

Qur R&D unit has always been a driving component in our business and remains crucial in providing the best design solutions for our customers. We have a team of
approximately 350 highly qualified design and application engineering specialists and 200 other technical employees engaged in R&D related activities to develop new
customized module solutions targeted at the wireless handset, telecom equipment and digital media industries. For 2006, we invested RMB28.0 million for R& D purposes and
will continue to devote significant resources o supperting and enhancing the depth and capabilities of our R&D unit.




Customers

Our broad and diversified customer base includes many of the major domestic mobile handset. telecom equipment and digital consumer electronics manufacturers in
China. In addition, our customers include industry participants supporting these OEMs, such as subsystem designers and contract manufacturers in China, as well as
international manufacturers who have begun to manufacture end-products in China for the domestic and international market. Our largest customer in terms of 2006 net sates
was T&W Electronics Co., Lid., or T&W Electronics, a major broadband terminal equipment and digital consumer electronics provider in China. Our largest customer in the
mobile handset market in terms of 2006 net sales was ZTE, both a large domestic mobile handset manufacturer and one of the largest telecom equipment manufacturers in
China. Our two largest customers from the telecom equipment industry in terms of 2006 net sales were Huawei and ZTE, major telecom equipment manufacturers in China. Our
two largest customers in the digital media end-market in terms of 2006 net sales were T&W FElectronics and Sichuan Jiuzhou Electronics. During 2006, T& W Electronics, ZTE
and Huawei, accounted for 15.9%, 8.6% and 6.9% of our net sules, respectively.

As of December 31, 2006, we believe that our major customers by end-market were as follows:
s Mobile Handset Manufacturers—Lenavo and ZTE.
. Telecommunication Equipment Manufacturers—Huawei and ZTE.

«  Digiral Media—T&W Electronics and Sichuan Jiuzhou Electronics.

In 2006, our top 10 customers ta whom we sold directly, including several contract manufagturers used by some of cur mujor end-market cusiomers, were as follows:

2006
Net Sales Percentage

Customer Natie {In milllons) of Net Sales (%)
T&W Electronics RMB 210.7 15.9%
ZTE ' ’ 1139 8.6
Huawei ] 90.9 69
Wuxi Zhongxing Optoelectronics 818 6.2
Wuhan Research Institute of Post & Telecommunications ) 74.3 5.6
ATI 539 4.1
Young Poong Electronics _ 454 34
Sichuan Jiuzhou Electronics - C ) 4“2 33
Starnet Digital Technology ) ’ 124 32
Accelink Technologies 41.3 3.1

Total i RMB 798.8 60.4%

The value of our technology solutions can be illustrated by specific examples of how we have worked closely with our customers and suppliers in leveraging our
competitive position and unique business model to solidify and extend our existing business, as well as identify and capture new opportunities:

Growing with our customers. We have been a provider of customized module design solutions 1o many of our major customers for a significant portion of our operating
history, often developing multi-level relaticnships with the various customer groups with whom we work. For example. we first became a solutions provider to Huawei in 1995
when Huawei had several hundred employees, compared to over 61,000 employecs at the end of 2006, As China's telecom market has grown, so has Huawei's telecom
equipment business and the demand for our module design solutions customized specifically for application within Huawei's products. In 2006, we also began providing
customized 3G cell phone modules to Huawei, as well as engineering services to Huawei. Our total net sales from Huawei grew to RMB90.9 miltion ($11.6 million) in 2006.




Applying our customized module design capabilities to new end-markers. We have leveraged our customized module design capabilities and our deep. multi-level
customer relationships to foltlow our customers into new end-markets. Since 1995, we have been a provider of customized module design solutions for telecom equipment to
ZTE, one of the largest telecom equipment manufacturers in China. ZTE first sought to enter the mobile handset market in China in 2000. Based on our working history with
ZTE on telecom equipment salutions and on our proven design capabilities, ZTE selected us as a provider of customized module design solutions for their mobile handsets in
2000. Our total net sales from ZTE has grown to RMB 1 13.9 million ($14.6 million) in 2006.

Suppliers

We develop our customized module design solutions based on technology components provided by key technology and other suppliers in our target end-markets. We
work with a select list of more than 30 key suppliers, including:

Supplier Name Product

Broadcom Various products including integrated circuit and Blueiooth
IDS Uniphase Optoelectronic components

Matsushita Switches, connectors, relay

M-Systems Flash Disk Pioneers Ltd. Flash memory

Sambu Communics Co., Ltd. Speakers

During 2006, based on cost, we purchased approximately 34.9%, 16.5% and 15.7% of the components sold to our customers from Broadcom, JDS Uniphase and
Matsushila, respectively. We have established long-standing relationships with our key suppliers, For example, we have worked with Matsushita since our inception in 1995,
While we depend on our key suppliers, we believe that we can find alternate suppliers within a reasonable amount of time without significantly altering our proposed
solutions. For further information concerning our reliznce on Broadcom, Matsushita and other key suppliers, see “Risk factors—Reliance on cur suppliers, with whom we
often do not have long-term supply agreements, makes us vulnerable to the loss of one or more key suppliers or the delivery capabilities of our suppliers.”

Development of collaborative relationships with key componen: suppliers. We have expanded our business by collaborating with our key component suppliers and
incorporating our suppliers’ technology components in1o our module reference designs to provide customized solutions for different OEM customers. For example, demand for
flash memory integrated circuits has increased as the need for high volume storage has grown rapidly due to the more advanced data services offered over wireless networks
onto mobile handsets. We developed a storage module by incorporating our supplier’s flash memory products, customizable for each cusiomer according to their varying
design criteria. Through this approach, we were able to customize each module to provide optimal functionality to a variety of OEM customers. Our ability to bring this
solution 1o each of these QEM customers:

+  allow our customers to optimize their mobile handsets by incorporating flash memory technology in a fast and cost-efficient fashion;
+  allow this supplier to penetrate the China market and specific OEM customers, without having to design and manufacture separate flash memory products: and

»  reinforce and broaden our relationship with this key component supplier.

Sales and Marketing

We genernte sales of our customized module design solutions through our direct sales force, consisting of approximately 105 sales directors, account managers and
sales support staff as at December 31, 2006. Our sales directors are responsible for establishing sales strategy and setting objectives for specific customer accounts. Each
account manager is dedicated to a specific customer account and is responsible for the day-to-day management of that customer relationship. Account managers work closely
with customers and, in many cases, provide on-site support. Account managers ofien attend our customers’ internal meetings related to




production, engineering design and quality dssurance to ensure that our customers’ expectations are approprialely interpretsd and communicated to our operations group, and
ultimately met or exceeded throughout the design process. Account managers also work with our customers to identify and meet their cost and design-to-delivery cycle time
objectives.

Currently Huawei is our principal customer for engineering services, though we intend to market these services more broadly to other customers in the future through
an expanded engineering services sales force.

Our new business development aceount managers initiate and maintain long-term, multi-leve] relationships with customer accounts and work closely with customers on
new business opportunities throughout the design-to-delivery cycle.

y

Competition .
We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting the markets for our customized modute design solutions and engineering services include:
. understanding our customers’ time-to-market, technology and cost requirements;

access to technology providers;

&, "

+  pricing and efficiency;

. design tapabilities;

¢ customer relationships; and
*  technical support,

We betieve that we compare favorably with respect to each of these criteria. In addition, while we do not believe that there are any direct competitors of any meaningful
size that aperate using the same business model as ours, we face indirect competition from the following;

Other rechno!bgy component suppliers. For each project, we work with suppliers to compete against other technology component suppliers. Consequently, we
indirectly compete against our suppliers’ competitors. For example, by working with JDS Uniphase, we compete indirectly against companies such as Avanex and Bookham in
supplying optical transmisston module designs.

Component manufacturers and distributors, We compete indirectly with component manufacturers such as Epcos, and compenent distributors such as Arrow
Electronics, Avnet and Memec, which may seek to expand their product/service offerings to include customized module design solutions. We believe that these large
component manufacturers and distributors have not historically engaged in customized module design, and therefore we believe that it is not one of their core competencies.

.

We may also face indirect competition from customers and suppliers. Currently many of our customers and suppliers do not focus on customized module design. 1f our
customers or supptiers decide to devote more time and resources 10 in-house module design, the demand for our sotutions may decline. In addition, our customers may change
their procurement strategy or decide to rely on us primarily for component delivery and not for integration or design work. Similarly, component suppliers may also seek to
offer their component products or modules incorporating key compenents from our soltutions directly to our customers.

Inteltectual Property

* We currently have five issued utility patents relating to our lightning surge protection for network products and a ceramic-to-steel adhesive application and a patent on
algorism for quallly of services, or QoS, relating to our digital media application. Historically, we have derived a small percentage of our net sales from our proprietary products.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 700 employees, with 350 in engineering services, 200 in research and development, 105 in sales and marketing and 45 in
administrative positions.

We make contributions for many of our employees in the PRC to retirement benefits based on their salaries and length of service upon retirement in accordance with a
PRC government-managed retirement plan.




The mandatory insurance schemes in Shenzhen, PRC inctudes a pension scheme, medical insurance, work-related insurance and unemployment insurance. The PRC
government is directly responsible for the payments of benefits to these retired employees, We are required to make contributions to the government-managed retirement plan
at specified rates of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees, up to a maximum amount specified by the local government from time to time.

Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified technical, marketing and management personnet, for
whom competition is intense. Our employees are not covered by any collective bargaining agreement and we have never experienced a work stoppage. We believe we enjoy
good relations with our employees.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information in this Form 10-K, readers should carefully consider the following imporiant factors. These factors, among others, in some cases
have affected, and in the future could affect, our financial condition and results of operations and could cause our future results to differ materially from those expressed or
implied in any forward-iooking statements that appear in this on Form 10-K or that we have made or will make elsewhere.

Risks Related to Qur B

Our operating results fluctuate from quarter to quarter. .

Qur quasterly revenue, income and other operating results have fluctuated in the past and may fluctuate significantly in the future due to a number of factors, including
the following:

+  the ability of our suppliers to meet our supply requirements;

. the cancelfation of large orders;

. competitive pressures;

. the time required for research and development;

. changing design requirements resulting from rapid technology shifts; and

+  industry trends impacting the overall market for our customers’ end-products,

As a result of these and other factors, our results of operations may vary on a quarterly basis and net sales may be adversely affected from period to period. Our results
of operations for a particular quarter may not be indicative of our future performance. If our operating results in a quarter fall below our expectations or the expectations of
market analysts or investors, the price of our common stock is likely to decrease.

Qur operating results are substantially dependent on development of new customized module design solutions.

We may be unable to develop new customized module design solutions in a timely or cost-efficient manner, and these new solutions may fail to meet the requirements
of our customers” end-markets. If we fail to develop new solutions that help our customers respond to competitive pressuces, achieve shorter time-to-market or broaden and
improve their product offerings, we will lose business and our results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.

If our customers do not accept aur proposed custonized module design solutions or do not purchase Sfrom us the specified components contained in the proposed
module reference design, our net sales will be adversely affected.

While many of our proposed customized module design solutions are accepted by our customers, there is no obligation for customers to accept our proposed
solutions. We dedicate personnel, management and financial resources to research and development and technical support in developing new customized module design
solutions for our customers. The time frames for most research and development projects typically range from two to 18 months, Because we do not charge a design fee for our
services, but rather generate revenue through the resale of specified components contained in our proposed reference designs, if our castomers do not accept our proposed
designs, we will fail to capitalize on the invested resources, time and effort that we expended on a project.




Furthermore, our customers typically make purchases on a purchase order basis. Prior to submission of a purchase order, our customers are not obligated 1o purchase
from us any quantity of specific components that we propose 10 sefl in our proposed module reference design. Qur customers may cancel or defer their purchase orders on
short notice without significant penalty. Even if a customer accepts our proposed modute reference design, the customer could bypass us and contract with our competitors or
possibly our suppliers directly for the purchase of the specific components we otherwise had proposed to sell. The failure to accept our proposed module reference design, the
loss of ongoing business from our customers or the transition away from us in favor of direct purchases from our competitors or suppliers could each result in our failure to
realize potentially significant net sales.

Reliance on our suppliers, with whon we often do not have long-term supply agreements, makes us vaulnerable to the loss of one or more key suppliers or the delivery
capabilities of our suppliers.

We typically rely on a limited number of key suppliers, and many customized module design solutions that we develop are designed around technology components
provided by cur suppliers. We typically do not have long-term supply agreements or other forms of exclusive arrangements with our suppliers. In 2006, for example, Broadcom,
JDS Uniphase and Matsushita, accounted for approximately 34.9%, 16.5% and 15.7%, respectively, of our cost of sales. Furthermore, although we deal with approximately ten
different divisions within Matsushita, purchases of relays and connectors from Matsushita accounted for a substantial portion of our cost of sales attributable to Matsushita.
If we lose a key supplier or a supplier reduces the quantity of products it sells to us, does not maintain a sufficient inventory leve!l of products required by us or is otherwise
unable to meet our demand for iis components, we may have to expend significant time, effort and other resources to locate a svitable alternative supplier and secure
replacement components. Fer example, on one prior occasion, one of our key suppliers experienced an interruption in its production capacity due to a relocation of its
production facilities, which resulted in its inability to meet our quarterly supply requirements. If suitable replacement components are unavailable, we may be forced to
redevelop certain of our solutions, which ultimately may not be accepted by our customers.

Also, if our suppliers fail to introduce new products that keep up with new technologies, they may be surpassed by other suppliers entering the market with whom we
may not have existing relationships. The costs and delays related to finding new suppliers or redeveloping solutions could significantly harm our business.

If we fail to attract and retain key personnel, particularly our chief executive officer, our business will be materially impaired and our financial condition and results
of aperations will suffer.

Our business greatly relies on the continued services of Jeffrey Kang, our principal shareholder and chief executive officer. Many relationships with our key suppliers
and key customers have been developed by and continue to be maintained by Mr. Kang. Our future success will depead to a significant degree upon the performance and
contribution of Mr. Kang and other members of our senior management team in areas including sales, research and development, information technology and finance.
Therefore, cur business and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected if Mr. Kang or another member of our senior management team Jeaves us, which
they may do at any time since, as with the exception of our chief financial officer, they do not have an employment or non-compete agreement with us. In addition, we will incur
additional expenses to recruit and develop senior management members if one or more of our key employees are unwilling or unable to continue his or her employment with us.
We do not maintain key man life insurance covering our senior management or any of our key employees.

Our fuwre success also depends on cur ability 10 identify, attract, hire, train, retain and motivate highly-skilled personnel. If we cannot attract and retain the personnel
we require at a reasonable cost, cur cost of goods sold will increase and the profitability of our business could be negatively affected. Our business is especially dependent on
sales, marketing, research and devetopment, and services personnel. Competition in China for executive-level and skilled technical and sales and marketing personnel is strong,
and recruiting. training, and retaining qualified key personnel are important factors affecting our ability to meet our growth objectives. Should key employees leave our
company, we may lose both an important internal asset and net sales from customer projects in which those employees were invalved.

Loss of key customers may adversely impact our net sales.

We generate the majority of our net sales from a small number of key customers, and we anticipate that a relatively small number of key custemers will continue to
account for a significant portion of our net sales in




the foreseeable future, particularly in the telecom equipment market. In 2006, our sales to T&W, ZTE and Huawei accounted for approximately 15.9%, 8.6%. and 6.9%
respectively, of our net sales. Sales 1o our top 10 customers represented approximately 60.4% of our net sales in 2006, Should we lose, receive reduced orders from, or
experience any adverse change in our relationship with any of our key customers, or should they decide to use solutions provided by other companies, we will suffer a
substantial foss in net sales.

The end-markets in which we operate are highly competitive and fragmented. Competition may intensify in the future, and if we fail to compete effectively, our
business will be harmed.

Pressures from current or future competitors could cause our solutions to lose market acceptance or require us to significantly reduce our sales prices to keep and
attract customers. Qur competitors often have longer operating histories, stronger customer and supplier relationships, larger technical staffs and sales forces, and/or greater
financial, technical and marketing resources than we do. Although we believe that there are no direct competitors of any meaningful size who operate using the same business
model as ours, we face indirect competition from:

¢ Other tecknology component suppliers. For each project, we work with one enabling technology component supplier to compete against other enabling
technology component suppliers, Consequently, we indirectly compete against our suppliers’ competitors. For example, by working with JDS Uniphase, we
compete against companies such as Avanex Corp. and Bookham Inc. in supplying optical transmission module design solutions.

* Component manufacturers and distributors. We compete indirecily with companent manufacturers such as Epcos AG, and component distributors such as
Amow Electronics, Inc., Avnet Inc. and Memec Inc,, which may seek to expand their product/service offerings to include customized module design solutions.

We may also face indirect competitien from customers and suppliers. Currently many of our customers and suppliers do not focus on customized module design. If cur
customers or suppliers decide to devote more time and resources to in-house module design, the demand for our solutions may decline. [n addition, our customers may change
their procurement strategy or decide to rely on us primarily for component delivery and not for integration or design work. Similarly, component suppliers may also seek to
offer their component products or modules incorporating key components from our solutions directly to our customers. The loss of customers for our customized module
design solutions as a result of these competitive factors would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

As we expand our business, we intend to develop new customized module design solutions and technological capabilities in end-markets where we do not currently
have extensive experience or technelogical capability, Failure to develap or execule this growth strategy will have a material adverse effect on our net sales.

Prior to 2005, we derived substantially all of our net sales from our customized module design solutions provided to customers in the mobile handset and telecom
equipment end-markets, In 2005, we began targeting the digital media end-market and in 2006, we began our engineering services businesses, which to date has related
primarily to engineering services provided to Huawei. Our success in the digital media end-market will depend, in significant part, on our ability to continue to develop the
necessary technological capability and to leverage our existing customer base that has expanded into this end-market. If we are unable to quickly develop technological
expertise, increase our research and development capabilities and leverage our customer base as anticipated, our return on our investment with respect to these efforts may be
lower than anticipated and our operating results may suffer. Finally, our customer base may not respond to our efforts o expand our proprietary capabilities and may be
unwilling to utilize these enhanced capabilities.

We inay be unable to manage rapid growth and a changing eperating environment, which could adversely affect our ability to serve our customers and harm our
business.

‘We have experienced rapid growth over the last five years, with our net sales increasing from RMB207.6 million in 2002 to RMB1,323.6 million (5169.6 million) in 2006,
Our number of employees has increased from appreximately 30 in 2001 te 700 as at December 31, 2006. We have limited operational, administrative and financial resources.
which may be inadequate 1o sustain our current growth rate. If we are




unable to manage our growth effectively, the quality of our solutions could deteriorate and our business may suffer. As our customer base increases and we enter new end-
markets, we will need 10:

*  increase our investments in personnel, research and development capabilities, facilities and other operational areas;
*  continue wraining, motivating and retaining our existing employees, and attract and integrate new qualified employees;
+  develop and improve our operational, financial, accounting and other internal systems and controls; and

. take enhanced measures to protect any proprietary technology or technological capability we develop.

Any failure to manage our growth successfully could distract management's attention and result in our failure 1o serve our customers and harm our business.

We face risks associated with future investmenis or acquisitions.

An imponant component of our growth strategy is to invest in or acquire businesses complementary to ours that will enable us to expand the solutions we offer to our
existing target customer base, and that will provide opportunities 1o expand into new markets. We may be unable to identify suitable investment or acquisition candidates or to
make these investments or acquisitions on a commercially reasonable basis, if ar all. 1f we complete an investment or acquisition, we may not realize the anticipated benefits
from the transaction.

Integrating an acquired company or technology is complex, distracting and time consuming, as well as a potentially expensive process. The successful integration of an
acquisition would require us to:

= integrate and retain key management, sales, research and development, and other personael;

*  incorporate the acquired products or capabilities into our offerings both from an engineering and sales and marketing perspective;
*  coordinate research and development efforts;

. integrate and support pre-existing supplier, distribution and customer retationships; and

+  consolidate duplicate facilities and functions and combine back office accounting, order processing and suppon functions.

The geographic distance between the companies, the complexity of the technologies and operations being integrated and the disparate corporate cultures being
combined may increase the difficulties of combining an acquired company or technology. Acquired businesses are likely to have different standards, controls, contracts,
procedures and policies, making it more difficult to implement and harmonize company-wide financial, accounting, billing, information and other systems. Management's focus
on integrating operations may distract attention from our day-10-day business and may disrupt key research and development. marketing or sales efforts,

Our acquisition strategy also depends on our ability to obtain necessary government approvals that may be required, as described under “—Risks Related 1o Doing
Business in China—Our acquisition strategy may be subject to SDRC approval under legislation enacted in 2005."

Our campetitive position could decline if we are unable to obtain additional financing to acquire businesses or technologies that are strategic for our success, or
otherwise execute our business strategy.

We believe that our curreat cash wilk be sufficient to fund our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months. However, we
may need to raise additional funds to support more rapid expansion, respond to competitive pressures, acquire complementary businesses or technologies or respond to
unanticipated requirements. We cannot assure you that additional funding will be available to us in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, If sufficient funds are not available
or are not available on acceptable terms, our ability 1o fund our expansion, lake advantage of acquisition opportunities, develop or enhance our services or products, or
otherwise respond to competitive pressures would be significantly limited.

If appropriate opportunities arise, we intend to acquire businesses, technologies. services or products that we believe are strategic for our success. Qur competitive
position could decline if we are unable to identify and aequire businesses or technologies that are strategic for our success in this market.




The unauthorized use of eur modute design solutions could have a material adverse impact on our net sales,

QOur in-house design engineering teams develop our customized module design solutions. We typically do not have patent or other intellectual property protection for
our solutions. nor do we typically have non-disclosure or confidentiality agreements with most of our suppliers or customers to keep our design specifications confidential.
Suppliers or other competitors may attempt to circumvent us by selling products or providing module design solutions directly to our customers. The unauthorized use by our
suppliers or other competiters of our module design solution specifications or other intellectual property in the future would result in a substantial decrease in out net sales.
The validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property in China is uncertain and siill evolving, and PRC laws may not protect intellectual property rights to
the same extent as the laws of some other jurisdictions, such as the United States. Moreover, litigation may be necessary in the future 1o enforce any intellectual property
rights we may establish or acquire in the future, which could result in substantial costs and diversion of our resources, and have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We became a public company through a share exchange with a non-operating public shell company, where we were the accounting acquirer and assumed all known
and unknown potential liabilities of our predecessor entity.

Our July 2004 share exchange with Trident was accounted for as a reverse merger in which Comtech Cayman was deemed the accounting acquirer and Trident, which
was originally incorporated in 1917, was the legal acquirer. We have retained all the known and unknown tiabilities of Trident. In addition 10 the threatened litigation discussed
under “Item 3. Legal Proceedings™, we cannot guaruntee that other petential liability will not come to our knowledge in the future.

We depend upon contractual agreements with the two shareholders of Shenzhen Comtech in conducting aur business through Shenzhen Comtech and Shanghai E&T
and receiving payments, which may not be as effective in providing operational control as direct ownership and may be difficult to enforce. Further, if the PRC
government finds these contractual agreements violate or conflict with PRC governmental regulations, our business would be maiterially adversely affected.

At the time of its incorporation, foreign shareholding in a trading business such as Shenzhen Comtech could not exceed 65%. With subsequent PRC deregulation,
foreign ownership of such a trading business can now reach 1009, and approval of foreign ownership of companies in the PRC engaged in commodity trading businesses—
which includes agency trade, wholessle, retail and franchise operations is now deleguted 10 local government agencies of the PRC Ministry of Commerce. In order to exercise
control over Shenzhen Comtech (a PRC operating company legally permitted to engage in a commodity trading business), without direct shareholding by us (a U.S.-listed
company and therefore a foreign-invested entity), Honghut Li, our vice president, and Huimo Chen, the mother of our principal shareholder and chief executive officer, Jeffrey
Kang, hold 99% and 1%, respectively, of the equity interests of Shenzhen Comtech, and through contractual agreements with us hold such equity interests exclusively for the
benefit of our 100% directly owned subsidiary, Comtech China. Shenzhen Comtech. in turn owns a 60% equity interest in another of our PRC operating companies, Shanghai
E&T, with the other 40% being held by Cemtech China (BVY1) through trust agreemenis. Under the trust agreements, Shenzhen Comtech owns a 35% equity interest in
Shanghai E&T for the benefit of Comtech China (BVI) and Honghui Li owns a 5% equity interest in Shanghai E&T for the benefit of Comiech China (BVI). While we do not
have any equity interest in Shenzhen Comitech, through these contractual agreements, we enjoy voling centrol and are entitled to the economic interests associated with their
equity interest in Shenzher Comiech, For additional details regarding these contractual agreements, see “Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independence.” These contractual agreements may not be as effective in providing us with control over Shenzhen Comtech as direct ownership because we rely on the
performance of Honghui Li and Huimo Chen under the agreements. If they lail to perform their respective obligations under the agreements. we may have to incur substantial
costs and resources to enforce such agreements and may not be able 10 do so in any case. Further, the profits of Shenzhen Comtech may not be able to be remitted outside the
PRC due to foreign exchange controls. Also, we must rely on legal remedies under applicable taw, which may not be as effective as those in the United States. Because we rely
on Shenzhen Comtech and Shanghai E&T in canducting our business operitions in Ching, the realization of any of these risks reluting to our corporate structure could result
in a material disruption of our business, diversion of our resources and the incurrence of substantial costs, any of which coutd materially and adversely uffect our operating
resulis and financial condition.




In the opinion of cur PRC counsel, Horizon Law Firm, the ownership structure of Shenzhen Comtech and the contractual agreements among Comtech China, Honghui Li
and Huimo Chen do not violute existing PRC [aws, rules and regulations. There are, however, substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of current or
future PRC laws and regulations, including but not limited to the laws and regulations governing the validity and enforcement of these contractual agreements. Accordingly,
we cannot assure you that PRC regulatory authorities will not determine that these contraciual agreements violate or conflict with PRC laws or regulations.

If we or our PRC operating company, Shenzhen Comtech, are found to violate any existing or future PRC luws or regulations, the relevant regulatory authorities witl
have broad discretion in dealing with such violation, which would cause significant disruptions to our business operations or render us unable to conduct our business
operations and may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Industry

Our inability to respond quickly and effectively to rapid technological advances and market demands would adversely impact our competitive position and our
results of aperations.

Historically, we have focused on the mobile handsel, telecom equipment and digital media end-markets in China. The mobile handset. telecom equipment and digital
media end-markets are characterized by rapid technological sdvances, intense competition, frequent introduction of new products and services and consumer demand for
greater functionality, lower costs, smaller products and better performance. We must constantly seck out new products and develop new solutions to maintain in our portfolio.
We have experienced and will continue to experience some sclution design obsolescence. We expect our customers’ demands for improvements in product performance to
increase, which means thal we must continue to improve our design solutions and develop new solutions to remain competitive and grow our business. Qur failure to compete
successfully for customers will result in price reductions, reduced margins or loss of market share, any of which would harm our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

A large portion of our net sales currently comes from sales to manufacturers in the cyclical mobile handset, telecom equipment and digital media end-markets and
cyclical downturns could harm our operating results.

The mobile handset and telecom equipment end-markets in particular are highly cyclical and have experienced severe and protonged downturns, often in connection
with maturing product cycles and declines in general economic conditions. These downturns have been characterized by diminished product demand, production
overcapacity, high inventory levels and accelerated erosion of average selling prices. The impact of slowing end-customer demund may be compounded by higher than normal
levels of equipment and inventories among our customers and our customers’ adjustments in their order levels, resulting in increased pricing pressure. The digital media
industry may also experience cyclical fluctuations, as well as fluctuations relating to how quickly certain new digital media products and technologies are adopted by the
market.

In addition, our recent and significant growth in net sales resulted, in large part, from the high growth in sales of products manufactured by domestic mobile handset,
telecom equipment and digital consumer electrenics manufacturers in China. These domestic manufitcturers may not continue to grow their sales at historical levels, if at all.
The stagnation or reduction in overall demand for mobile handset and telecom equipment products would materially affect our results of operations and financial condition.

The mobile handset end-market is characterized by a short product lifecycle, making time-to-market and sensitivity to customer needs critical to our success and our
Jailure to respond will harm our business.

Mobile handsets typically have a lifecycle of approximately six to 12 months before the technology becomes obsolete. Time-to-market, both with respect to our
customers’ ability to supply consumers with timely and marketable products and our ability to provide our customers with a wide array of latest generaion customized module
design solutions, is critical to our success. As design cycles in the industry shorten, we face logistical challenges in providing our solutions in an increasingly shorter
timeframe. If we are unable to respond to the shortened lifecycles and time-to-market, our business will suffer.




Risks Related to Doing Business in China

There are substantial risks associated with doing business in China, including those set forth in the following risk factors.

QOur operations may be adversely affected by China’s economie, political and social conditions,

Substantially all of our operations and assets are located in China and substantially all of our net sales are derived from our operations in China. Accordingly, our
results of operations and future prospects are subject to economic, political and social developments in China. In particular, our results of operations may be adversely
affected by:

. changes in China’s political, economic and social conditions;

»  changes in policies of the government or changes in laws and regulations, or the interpretation of laws and regulations;
. changes in foreign exchange regulations;

. measures that may be introduced to control inflation, such as interest rate increases: and

»  changes in the rate or method of taxation.

The PRC economy has historically been a ptanned economy. The majority of productive asseis in China are still owned by various levels of the PRC government. In
recent years the government has implemented economic reform measures emphasizing decentralization, utilization of market forces in the development of the economy and a
high level of management autenomy. Such economic reform measures may be inconsistent or ineffectual, and we may not benefit trom all such reforms, Furthermore, these
measures may be adjusted or modified, possibly resulting in such economic liberalization measures being applied inconsistently from industry to industry, or across different
regions of the country,

In the past twenty years, China has been one of the world’s fastest growing economies in terms of gross domestic product, or GDP. This growth may not be
sustainable, Moreover, a slowdown in the economies of the United States, the European Unien and certain Asian countries may adversely affect economic growth in China
which depends on exports to those countries. Our financial condition and results of operations, as well as our future prospects, would be materially and adversely affected by
an economic downturn in China.

Our financial results benefit from tax concessions granied by the PRC government, the change to or expiration of which would materially change our results of
operations.

Our resulis of operation may be adversely affected by changes to or expiration of preferential tax concessions that some of our PRC operating companies currently
enjoy or expect to enjoy in the future. The stawtory t1ax rate generally applicable to Chinese companies is 33%. As a result of preferential tax rate incentives, our operations
have been subject to relatively low tax labilities. Tux that would otherwise have been payable without preferential tax treatment amounted to approximately RMB34.4 million
($4.4 million) in 2006. For additional details regarding these tax incentives, please see “Item 7. Management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and result of
operations—Taxation.”

Tax laws in China are subject to interpretations by relevant tax authorities. The preferential tax treatment may not remain in effect or may change, in which case we may
be required 10 pay the higher income tax rate generally applicable to Chinese companies, or such other rate as is required by the laws of China.

‘The PRC government, in particular the National People's Congress, or NPC, is currently reviewing a draft new Enterprise Income Tax Law that, if enacted. wonld impose
a single income tax rate of 25% for most domestic enterprises and FIEs. The draft contemplates various transition periods for existing preferential tax policies. The draft is
subject to change and may end up not being enacted by the PRC government. If the proposed Enterprise Income Tax Law is enacted, it is expected to be effective as of
January 1, 2008, and could eliminate or significantly shorten the period in which Shenzhen China as an FIE enjoys our preferential 1ax treatmenl. The enactment of the
Enterprise Income Tax Law could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, our historical operating resulis may not be indicative of our
operating results for future periods as a result of the expiration of the 1ax holidays and value-added tux refunds we enjoy,




The telecom equipment market is extensively regulated in China.

The telecom equipment end-market accounted for 34.4% of our net sales in 2006, China's telecom industry is heavily regulated. Changes in regulations affecting sales of
these customers could negatively affect the telecom equipment end-market for our solutions, which will materially harm our business.

PRC government control of currency conversion may affect our ability to meet foreign currency obligations.

Because the majority of our net sales are denominated in Renminbi, any restrictions on currency exchange may limit our ability to use revenue generated in Renminbi to
meet our foreign currency obligations, such as settling the purchase of materials which may be denominated in U.S. dollars. The principal regulation governing foreign
currency exchange in China is the Foreign Currency Administration Rules {1996), or the Rules, as amended. Under the Rules, once certain procedural requirements are met,
Renminbi is convertible for current account transactions, inctuding trade and service-related foreign exchange transactions and dividend payments, but not for capital account
transactions, including direct investment, loans or investments in securities outside China, without prior approval of the PRC State Administration of Foreign Exchange, or
SAFE, or its local counter-parts. Since a significant amount of our future revenues will continue to be denominated in Renminbi, any existing and future restrictions on
currency exchange may limit our ability to utilize revenue generated in China to fund our business activities outside of China, if any, or expenditures denominated in foreign
currencies, or our abitity to meet our foreign currency obligations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We cannot be cenain that the PRC regulatory authorities will not impose more stringent restrictions on the convertibility of Renminbi with respect to foreign exchange
transactions.

Recent PRC regulations relating to offshore investment activities by PRC residents may increase the administrative burden we face and create regulatory
uncertainties that could restrict our overseas and cross-border investment activity, and a failure by our sharehelders who are PRC residents to make any required
applications and filings pursuant to such regulations may prevent us from being able to distribute profits and could expose us and our PRC resident shareholders to
liability under PRC law.

In October 2005, the PRC State Administration of Foreign Exchange, or SAFE, promulgated regulations that require PRC residents and PRC corporate entities to register
with and obtain approvals from relevant PRC government authorities in connection with their direct or indirect offshore investment activities. These regulations apply to our
sharcholders who are PRC residents in connection with our prior and any future offshore acquisitions.

The SAFE regulation required registration by March 31, 2006 of direct or indirect investments previously made by PRC residents in offshore companies prior to the
implementation of the Notice on [ssues Relating to the Administration of Foreign Exchange in Fund-Raising and Reverse Investment Activities of Domestic Residents
Conducted via Offshore Special Purpose Companies on November 1, 20035. If 2 PRC sharcholder with a direct or indirect stake in an offshore parent company fails to make the
required SAFE registration, the PRC subsidiaries of such offshore parent company may be prohibited from making distributions of profit (o the offshore parent and from
paying the offshore parent proceeds from any reduction in capital, share transfer or liquidation in respect of the PRC subsidiaries, and may be prohibited from receiving capital
contributions, shareholder loan or other payments from our offshore parent company, and may be further prohibited from making payments to or receiving payments from
other overseas entities. Furthermore, failure to comply with the various SAFE registration requirements described above could result in liability under PRC law for foreign
exchange evaston.

Some of our PRC resident shareholders may not have completed their registration with SAFE under the SAFE regulation, in part, due to confusion over the application
of the SAFE regulation to our company. For example, in mid-2006, some of our PRC resident shareholders attempted to register with SAFE in Shenzhen under predecessor
regulations to the SAFE regulation, but were informed by Shenzhen SAFE that the regulation did not apply to them. These PRC resident shareholders did not realize they
might be required to register under the new SAFE regulations. Further, even if our PRC resident shareholders do apply for SAFE registration, they may not be able to obtain
such registration a1 the discretion of SAFE due to various reasons including their failure to comply with the retroactive SAFE registration requirement prior to March 31, 2006,
the statutorily prescribed deadline for compliance. The failure or inability of our PRC resident shareholders to obtain any required approvals or make any required registrations
may subject us to fines and legal sanctions, prevent us




from being able 10 make distributions or pay dividends or to receive capitai contribution or shareholder loans, as a result of which our business operations and our ability 1o
distribute profits 1o you or capitalize our operation in China could be materially and adversely affected.

Qur acquisition strategy may be subject to SDRC approval under legislation enacted in 2004,

State Developmenl and Reform Commission, or SDRC, promulgated a regulation in 2004 that requires SDRC approval in connection with direct or indirect offshore
investment activities by individuals who are PRC residents and PRC corporate entities. This regulation may apply to our future offshore or cross-border acquisitions, as well as
1o the equity interests in offshore companies held by our PRC sharehelders who are considered PRC residents, We intend to make all required application and filings, and will
require the shareholders of the offshore entities in our corporate group who are considered PRC residents to make the application and filings. as required under the regulation
and under any implementing rules or approval practices that may be established under this regulation. However, because this regulation lacks implementing rules, approval
precedents or reconciliation with other approval requirements, it remains uncertain how this regulation, and any future legislation concerning offshore or cross-border
transactions, will be interpreted and implemented by the relevant government authorities. The approval criteria by SDRC agencies for outbound investment by PRC residems
are not provided under this regulation or other SDRC regulations. Accordingly, we cannot provide any assurances that we will be able to comply with, qualify under or oblain
any approval as required by this regulation or other related legistations. Our failure or the failure of our PRC resident shareholders to obtain SDRC approvals may restrict our
ability to acquire a company outside of China or use our entities outside of China to acquire or establish companies inside of China, which could negatively affect our business
and future prospects.

PRC laws and our corperate structure may restrict our ability to receive dividends and payments from, and transfer funds to, our PRC operating companies, which
may negatively affect our results of operations and restrict our ability te act in response to changing market conditions,

Substantially all of cur operations are conducted through our PRC operating companies. The ability of our PRC operating companies (o make dividends and other
payments to us may be restricted by factors such as changes in applicable foreign exchange and other laws and regulations, For example, under the SAFE regulations
discussed above, the foreign exchange activities of our present or prospective PRC subsidiaries are conditioned upon the compliance with the SAFE registration requirements
by the shareholders of our offshore entities who are PRC residents. Failure to comply with these SAFE registration requirements may substantially restrict or prohibit the
foreign exchange inflow to and outflow from our PRC subsidiaries, namely Comtech Communications and Comtech Software, including, remittance of dividends and foreign-
currency- denominated borrowings by these PRC subsidiaries. In addition, our PRC operating companies are required, where applicable, to allocate a portion of their net profit
to certain funds before distributing dividends. including at least 10% of their net profit to certain reserve funds until the balance of such fund has reached 50% of their
registered capital. These reserves can only be used for specific purposes, including making-up cumulative losses of previeus years. conversion to equity capital, and
application to business expansion, and are not distributable as dividends. Qur PRC operaling companies are also required, where applicable, to allocate an additional 3% to
10% of their net profits to a statutory common welfare fund. The net profit available for distribution from our PRC operating companies is determined in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in China, which may materially differ from a determination performed in accordance with U.S. GAAP. As a result, we may not receive
sufficient distributions or other payments from these entities 1o enable us 1o make dividend distributions to our shareholders in the future, even if our U.S. GAAP financial
statements indicate that our operations have been profitable.

We do not directly own the equily interest in Shenzhen Comtech, which accounted for approximately 7.1% of our net sales in 2006, or Shanghai E&T, which is owned
60% by Shenzhen Comtech and 40% by Comtech China through contractual agreements with Shenzhen Comtech and Honghui Li respectively, and which accounted for
approximately 6.5% of our net sales in 2006. Honghui Li and Huimo Chen, the shareholders of Shenzhen Comtech, have contractually agreed, among others things. 10 apply all
dividends or other payments they receive from Shenzhen Comtech to payments to cur 100% directly owned subsidiary, Comtech China, or its designated entities, for valid and
valuable consideration and to the extent permitted by applicable PRC law, including PRC foreign exchange law. PRC law and regulatory requirements would currently restrict
the ability of the shareholders of Shenzhen Comlech, based solely upon the contractual agreement, to directly apply the dividends or other payments they receive from
Shenzhen Comtech in U.S. dollars to payments to Comtech China or in Renminbi to Comtech China’s designated entities in China. For example, the PRC foreign exchange
authorities would have discretion to review the adequacy of the




consideration given in exchange for the application of any dividends or payments from Shenzhen Comtech to Comtech Chira. If Honghui Li and Huimo Chen fail to apply such
dividends or other payments received from Shenzhen Comtech, which might include profit distributions from Shanghai E&T to Shenzhen Comtech, to payments to Comtech
China or its designated entities, our financial condition would be negatively affected. Apart from the dividend distribution from our PRC subsidiaries to us, the transfer of
funds from our company to our PRC operating companies, either as a shareholder loan or us an increase in registered capital or otherwise, is subject to registration or approval
with or by PRC governmental authorities, including the relevant administration of foreign exchange and/or other relevant examining and approval authorities. These limitations
on the free flow of funds between us and our PRC operating companies may restrict our ability to act in response to changing market conditions.

Fluctuations in exchange rates could adversely affect our business.

Because a substantial majority of cur earnings and cash assets are denominated in Renminbi, fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the Renminbi
will affect the relative purchasing power of these proceeds and our balance sheet and earnings per share in U.S. dollars following this offering. In addition. appreciation or
depreciation in the value of the Renminbi retative to the 1.S. dollar would affect our financial results reported in U.S, dolar terms withowt giving effect 1o any underlying
change in our business or results of operations. Fluctuations in the exchange rate witl also affect the relative value any dividend we may izsue after this offering that will be
exchanged into U.S. dellars and earnings frem and the value of any U.S. dollar-denominated investments we make in the future. [n addition, a depreciation of the Renminbi
relative 1o the U.S. dollar would have the effect of reducing our U.S. dollar-transtated net sales and increasing the debt servicing requirements for our U.S. dollar-denominated
debt. On the other hand, the appreciation of the Renminbi would make our customers’ products more expensive 10 purchase outside of China because many of our customers
are involved in the export of gouds, which could adversely affect their sales, thereby eroding our customer base and adversely affecting our results of operations.

Since July 2005, the Renminbi has no tonger been pegged to the U.S. dollar. Although currently the Renminbi exchange rate versus the U.S. dollar is restricted to a rise
or fall of no more than 0.3% per day and the People’s Bank of China regularty intervenes in the foreign exchange market to prevent significant short-term fluctuations in the
exchange rate, the Renminbi may appreciate or depreciale significantly in value against the U.S. dollar in the medium to long term. Moreover, it is possible that in the future, the
PRC authorities may lift restrictions on fluctuations in the Renminbi exchange rate and lessen intervention in the foreign exchange market.

Very limited hedging transactions are available in China o reduce our exposure to exchange rate fluctuations. To date, we have not entered into any hedging
transactions in an effort 1o reduce our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. While we may enter into hedging transactions in the future, the availability and
effectiveness of these transactions may be limited and we may not he able te successfully hedge our exposure at all. In addition, cur foreign currency exchange losses may be
magnified by PRC exchange control regulations that restrict our ability to convert Renminbi into foreign currencies.

The legal system in Ching has inherent uncertainties that may limit the legal pratections available to you as an investor or to us in the event of any claims or disputes
with third parties.

The legal system in China is based on written statutes. Prior court decisions may be cited for reference but have limited precedential value. Since 1979, the central
government has promulgated laws and regulations dealing with economic matters such as foreign investment, corporate organization and governance, commerce, taxation and
trade. As China’s foretgn investment laws and regulations are relatively new and the legal system is still evolving, the interpretation of many laws, regulations and rules is not
always uniform and enforcement of these laws, regulations and rules involve uncertainties, which may limit the remedies available to you as an investor and 10 us in the event
of any claims or disputes with third paniies, In addition, uny litigation in China may be protructed and result in substantial cosis and diversion of resources and managemen
attention.

On August §, 2006, six PRC regulatory agencies, including the Chinese Sccurities Regulatory Commission, or CSRC, promulgated the Regulation on Mergers and
Acquisitions of Domestic Companies by Foreign Investors, which becume effective on September 8, 2006. This new regulation, among other things, requires offshore special
purpose vehicles, or SPVs, formed for overseas listing purposes through acquisitiens of PRC domestic companies and controlled by PRC individuals, 1o obiain the approval of
the CSRC prior to publicly listing their securities on an overseas stock exchange. We believe, based on the advice of




our PRC counsel, that this regulation does not apply 1o us or this offering and that CSRC approval is not required because such acquisition was completed leng before
September 8§, 2006 when the new regulation became effective. On September 21, 2006, the CSRC published a notice specifying the documents and materials that are required to
be submitted for obtaining CSRC approval, In the opinion of our PRC counsel, the new notice does not contradict its interpretation of the new regulation, nor does it add
greater clarity to the applicability of the new regulation to us. Based on the advice we have received from our PRC counsel, we do not intend 10 seek CSRC approval in
connection with this offering.

Since the new regulation has only recently been adopied, there may be some uncertainty as 1o how this regulation will be interpreted or implemented. If the CSRC or
other PRC regulatory body subsequently determines that the CSRC’s approval is required for this offering, we may face sanctions by the CSRC or other PRC regulatory
agencies. These regulatory agencies may impose fines and penalties on our operations in the PRC, limit our operation privileges in the PRC, delay or restrict the repatriation of
the proceeds from this offering into the PRC, restrict or prohibit payment or remittance of dividends by Comtech China, or take other actions that could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, reputation and prespects, as well as the trading price of our shares. The CSRC or other PRC regulatory
agencies may also take actions requiring us, or making it advisable to us, to halt this offering before settlement and delivery of the shares being offered by us.

You may experience difficulties in effecting service of legal process and enforcing judgments against us and our management.

Substantially all of our operations and assets are located in China. In addition, most of our directors, executive officers and some of the expenis named in this document
reside within China, and many of the assets of these persons are also located within China. As a resul, it may not be possible to effect service of process within the United
States or elsewhere outside China upon these directors or executive officers or some of the experts named in this document, including with respect to matters arising under
U.S. federal securities laws or applicable state securities laws, Moreover, our PRC legal counsel has advised us that China does not have treaties with the United States or
many other countries providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of court judgments. As a result, recognition and enforcement in China of judgments of a count
of the United States or any other jurisdiction, including judgments against us or our directors, executive officers. or the named experts, may be difficult or impossible.

We face risks related to health epidemics and outbreaks of contagious diseases, including avian influenza and Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome, or SARS.

Our business could be adversely affected by the effects of avian influenza, SARS or other epidemics or outbreaks of contagious diseases. There were recent reports of
outbreaks of a highly pathogenic avian influenza, or avian flu, caused by the H5N1 virus in certain regions of Asia and Europe, In 2005 and 2006, there were reports on the
occurrences of avian flu in various parts of China, including some confirmed human cases. A major outbreak of avian flu in the human population could result in 2 widespread
health crisis that could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, particularly in Asia. Additionally. a recurrence of SARS, a highly contagious
form of atypical pneumonia, similar to the occurrence in 2003 which affected China, Hong Kong, Taiwan, Singapore, Vietnam and certain other countries, would also have
similar adverse effects. Since all of our operations and substantially all of our customers and suppliers are based in Asia, an outbreak of avian flu, SARS or other contagious
diseases in China, other places in Asia or elsewhere, or the perception that such outbreaks could occur, and the measures taken by the gevernments of countries affected,
would adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. We have not adopted any written preventive measures or contingency plans to combat any
future outbreaks of avian flu, SARS or any other epidemics.

Risks Related to Our Commeon Stock

Cur principal shareholder and chief executive officer beneficially owns a substantial majority of our common stock. As a resulf, the {rading price for our shares may
be depressed due 1o market perception that our principal shareholder and chief executive afficer will be able to take actions that may be adverse ta your interests.

Jeffrey Kang, our principal shareholder and chief executive officer, directly and through emities he controls, currently beneficially owns approximately 32.8% of our
issued and outstanding common stock. This




significant concentration of share ownership may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock because investors, often perceive a disadvantage in owning shares in
a company with only one or very few controlting shareholders. Furthermore, Mr. Kang has the ability to significantly influence the outcome of all matters requiring shareholder
approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporale transactions, such as mergers, consolidations or the sale of substantially all of our assets.
This concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control, including a merger, consolidation or ather business combination involving
us, or discouraging a potentiat acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control, even if such a change of control would benefit you.

Failure to comply with recently enacted changes in securities laws and regulations could adversely affect our steck price.

As directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, public companies are required to include a report of management on the company's internal controls over
financial reporting in their anrtual reports on Form 10-K and the public accounting firm auditing 2 company's financial statements must attest to and report on management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the company's internal controls over financial reporting. If we are unable in the future to conclude that we have effective internal controls
over financial reporting, or if our independent auditors are unable to provide us with an unqualified report as to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial
reporting as of future year ends, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we could experience delays or inaccuracies in our reporting of financial information, or
non-compliance with SEC reporting and other regulatory requirements. This could subject us to regulatory scrutiny and result in a loss of public confidence in our
management, which could, among other things, adversely affect our stock price.

The trading prices of our shares have been and are likely to continue to be volatile, which could result in substantial losses to you.

The trading prices of our shares have been and are likely 10 continue to be volatile. Since January 1, 2003, the trading price of our shares on the Nasdaq Global Market
has ranged from $4.63 to $19.89 per share, and the last reported sale price on March 14, 2007 was $15.20 per share. The trading prices of our shares could fluctuate widely in
response to factors beyond our control, [n particular, the performance and fluctuation of the market prices of other companies with business operations located mainly in
China that have listed their securities in the United States may affect the volatility in the price of and trading volumes for our shares, Recently, a number of PRC companies
have listed their securities, or are in the process of preparing for listing their securities, on U_S. stock markets. Some of these companies have experienced significamt volatility,
including significant price declines after their initial public offerings. The trading performances of these PRC companies’ securities at the time of or afier their offerings may
affect the overall investor sentiment towards PRC companies listed in the United States and consequently may impact the trading performance of our ADSs. These broad
market and industry factors may significantly affect the market price and volatility of our ADSs. regardless of our actual operating performance.

In addition 1o market and industry factors, the price and trading velume for our shares may be highly volatile for specific business reasons. In particular, factors such as
variations in our revenues, earnings and cash flow, announcements of new investments, cooperation arrangements or acquisitions or sales of large blocks of our shares. could
cause the market price for our shares to change substantially. Any of these factors may result in large and sudden changes in the volume and trading price of our shares. In
the past, following periods of volaiility in the market price of a company's securities, shareholders have often instituted securities class action litigation against that company.
il we were involved in a class action suil, it could divert the attention of senior management, and, if adversely determined, could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Future sales of shares could have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.

A significant portion of our shares are held by a small number of shareholders. Historically, trading volume of our shares has been relatively low. Sales by our current
shareholders of a substantial number of shares could significantly reduce the market price of our common stock. These sales could also impede our ability to raise future
capital.

As of December 31, 2006, we had 32,971,901 shares of common stock outstanding, which shares will be able to be sold in the public market in the near future, subject to,
with respect to shares of common stock held




by affiliates and shares issued between 12 and 24 months ago, the volume restrictions and/or manner of sale requirements of Rule 144 under the Securities Act. These shares
are freely tradable without restriction or further registration. subject to the refated prospectus delivery requirements.

As of December 31, 2006. we had stock options cutstanding to purchase an aggregate of 1,428,519 shares of common stock and warrants outstanding to purchase
171,028 shares of our common stock. To the extent that the options and warrants are exercised, they may be exercised at prices below the price of our shares of common stock
on the public markel, reselting in a significant number of shares entering the public market and the dilution of our common stock. In addition, in the event that any future
financing should be in the form of securities convertible into, or exchangeable for, equity securities, investors may experience additional dilution upon the conversion or
exchange of such securities.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLYED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease properties with a total area of approximately 95,000 square feet in 20 locations in China including Shenzhen, Shanghai, Beijing, Hang Zhou and Hong Kong.
Approximately 20,000 square feet is for our corporate headquarters located in Shenzhen, approximately 38,000 square feet is for our research and development centers in
Shenzhen and Shanghai, approximately 17.000 square fee1 is for our representative offices located in the other cities, and approximately 20,000 square feet is used for
manufacturing of our proprietary lighining protection product for wireless base stations. These leases have remaining terms ranging from one to 40 months.

We believe that our existing facilities and equipment are well maintained and in good operating condition, and are sufficient to meet our needs for the foreseeable future.

ITEM ). LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In 2004, we received a complaint threatening an action for damages arising from alleged breaches of fiduciary duties in connection with transactions involving
Centerpoint Corporation and Bion Environmental Technolegies, Inc. The wransactions ok place before the consummation of our share exchange agreement with Trident, at a
time when Trident and our subsidiary, OAM, owned a majority of the shares of Centerpoint. We were named as a potential defendant in the draft complaint. together with
OAM, and Mark Hauser and Mark Segall. who were former members of our board of directors, and other individuals and entities associated with Trident. The complaint was
said to be on behalf of Centerpoint and a class of Bion shareholders, and alleged that the potential defendants controlled the affairs of Centerpoint, and used their positions,
among other things, to divert Centerpoint assets to themselves. The complaint has never been formally served, and there has not been any active litigation, as the parties have
been attempting te negotiate a settlement.

We claimed several refunds from the Italian government on corporate taxes paid by OAM, our 98.6% owned [talian subsidiary, during the 1970s and early 1980s. In one
instance, the ltalian tax authorities have counterclaimed, assessing additional unpaid taxes due by OAM. We have been successful in two lower courts in our defense of these
counterclaims and was informed that the case had been determined in our favor in April 2005. In May 2006, we received notification from the Italian counsel that the ltalian tax
authorities have counterclaimed again against the earlier judgment in April 2005. The lialian counsel also informed vs that there were grounds under l1alian law to appeal this
latest determination. In early 2007, we entered a Sale and Purchase Agreement for OAM with Asia Pacific Technology Development Limited.

We believe that the outcome of the two matters above will have no material effect on our financial condition or resulis of operations.

Except as described above, we are not currently involved in any material litigation. From time to time, we may be also involved in litigation arising in the normal course
of our business.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Atits Annual Meeting of shareholders held on December 20, 2006, the Company submitted the following matters to a vote of its shareholders:

1. Election of Divectors:

Name of Director Yotes For Vaotes Withheld
Jeffrey Kang 30,341,763 509,736
Hope Ni 30,339,441 512,058
Amy Kong 30,686,326 165,173
Q.Y.Ma 30,690,978 160,521
Frank Zheng 30,689,977 161,522
2 Approve 2006 Equity Incentive Plan which provides for the grant of up to 4,800,000 shares of our Common Stock pursuant to Incentive Stock Options, Non-Qualified

Stock Options, Restricted Stock, Stock Appreciation Rights, and Performance Stock Awards:

Yaotes For Votes Against Abstentions

18,727,885 6,173,348 89.459

3 Appointment of KPMG as the independent registered public accounting firm of the Company:

Votes For Votes Against Abstentions
30,827,685 16,324 7,489
PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Prices of Common Stock

Our common stock is quoted on the Nasdag Global Select Market under the symbol “COGO”. The following table sets forth the reported high and low sale prices for our
common stock for the periods indicated. These prices represent prices between dealers, without adjustment for retail mark-ups, mark-downs er commissions, and may not
necessarily represent actual transactions.

2006 2005
Dollars Per Share High Low High Low
Quarter: )
First 11.59 580 B850 545
Second ) 1670 1008 669 4.63
Third ' 15.28 903 6383 491
Fourth ’ 1989 1345 666 541

The closing price of our common stock on March 14, 2007 as reported by the Nasdaq Global Market was $15.20.

Shareholders

As of March 12, 2007, there were 33,105,911 shares of our common stock outstanding, and we had approximately 795 shareholders of recerd. The transfer agent and
registrar for our common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

Dividends

Prior to the share exchange with Trident on July 22, 2004, we declared dividends of RMB41.4 million ($5.0 mitlion) on our common stock. In September 2004, we paid our
shareholders of record prior to the share exchange such dividends. During the last two fiscal years we have not declared any other cash dividends on our common stock.
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We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the further development and expansion of our business and do not intend to pay cash dividends in
the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of
operations, current and anticipated cash needs, restrictions conttained in current or future financing instruments, plans for expansion and such other factors as our board of
directors deems relevant.

Our PRC operating companies are required, where applicable, to atlocate a portion of their net profit to certain funds before distributing dividends, including at least
10% of their net profit to certain reserve funds until the balance of such fund has reached 50% of their registered capital. These reserves can only be used for specific
purposes, including making-up cumulative losses of previous years, conversion to our equity capital, and application to business expansion, and are ot distributable as
dividends. Qur PRC operating companies are also required, where applicable. to allocate an additional 5% to 10% of their net profits to a stanutory common welfare fund. For
risks associated with the uncenainty in our receipt of the equivalent economic interest in connection with the equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech, see “Risk factors—PRC
laws and our corporate structure may restrict our ability to receive dividends and payments from. and transfer funds to, our PRC operating companies, which may negatively
affect our results of operations and restrict our ability to act in response to changing market conditions.™

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder retum on our common stock since we become public through a share exchange (July 22, 2004) through
December 31, 2006 with the cumnulative total stockholder return of (1) the Nasdaq Composite Index and (2) the companies using the same SIC Code as us (SIC Code 3670 —
Electronic Componenis and Accessories). The graph assumes $100 was invested in our common stock, and in each Index. on July 22, 2004, and that all dividends were
reinvested. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance,
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The stock performance Graph is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is nol deemed to be incorporated by
reference by any general statement incorporating by reference this annual report on Form 10-K into any filing of ours under the Securities Act of 1933, or any filing under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that we specifically request that the information be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporate this information
by reference into any such filing, and will not otherwise be deemed incorporated by reference into any other filing under the Securities Act or the Securities Exchange Act.

Recent Sales of Unregisiered Securities

None.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

See “[tem 1 1. Executive Compensation™ for the aggregate information regarding our equity compensation plans in effect on December 31, 2006.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated statement of operations data for the five years ended December 31, 2006 and consclidated balance sheet data as of December 31,
2006, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002, presented below are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto. These audited consolidated financial
statements and the related notes have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and have been audited by KPMG, an independent registered public accounting firm, for
the year ended December 31, 2006, and by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, an independent registered public accounting firm, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. The
selected statements of income data for each of the two year periods ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the balance sheet as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were
derived from our audited financiat statements which are not included in this report.
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The consclidated financial statements are reported in Renminbi because all of our material operating entities are based in and operated entirely within the PRC. Renminbi
and U.5. dollar amounts are presented in thousands, except shure and per share data. This data should be read in conjunction with our *Management’s discussion and
analysis of financial condition and results of operations” and our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

TFhe accompanying consolidated financial statements are expressed in Renminbi (“RMB™), the national currency of the PRC. Solely for the convenience of the reader,
the December 31, 2006 audited consolidated financial statements have been translated into United States dollars (“US$"” or “$") at the closing rate in New York City on
December 31. 2006 for cable transfers in RMB as centified for customers purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York of USS 1.00 = RMB 7.8041, No representation is
made that the RMB could have been, or could be. converted into US$ at that rate or at any other certain rate on December 31, 2006, or at any other certain date.

Consolidated Statement of Qperations Data

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Net sales

Product revenue
Services revenue

Costof sales

Cost of goods sold
Cost of services

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses

Other operating income

Income from operations

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Interest expense

Interest income

Income before income taxes and menority interests
Income taxes

Income before minority interests

Minority interests in income of consolidated subsidiaries
Net income

Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted
Dividends declared per share

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Basic

Driluted

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful amounts
Property and equipment, net

Total assets

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities and minority interests

Total steckholders’ equity

Year Ended December 31,

2006 30 2006 RMBIL 2005 RMK 2004 RME 2003 RMB 2002 RMB
162,629 1,269,176 866,332 625,656 357.805 207,607
6,969 54,387 — —_ — —
169,598 1,323.563 866,332 625,656 357.805 207,607
{133,642) (1.042,951) (714,881) (530,800) (306,939} {190,265}
(4,347) {33.928) — — — —
(137.989)  (L.076.879) (714.881) (530,800) (306,939) (190,265)
31609 246,684 151,451 04,856 50,866 17,342
(11,544) (90.097) {38.970) (21,052} (20.341) (7.461)
(3.585) (27,977 (15.837) (6,121}
24 185 180 111G — —
16.504 128,795 96,824 68.753 10,525 9,881
835 6,673 — — — —
[CE)] (2.896) (1,762 (2.156) 801y —
042 7332 2,493 38 54 157
17,930 139.924 97,555 66,635 29773 10,038
{1423) (11,104) {6.736) {2.300) {1.295) (820}
16,507 128,820 90,519 64.335 28.483 59,218
{711 {5,545) (3.977) (2,133) — —
15,756 123,275 86,842 62,202 28.483 9218
0.49 3.83 3.08 287 1.41 046
047 3.64 294 2.84 1.41 0.46
— — — — 204 —
32,200,094 32,200,044 28,168,274 21,690,560 21251075 20.251.075
33,829,519 33.829.519 29,507,939 21,885,053 20,251.075 20,251,075
As of December 31,

2006 §' 2006 RMB!?! 2005 RMB 2004 RMB 2003 RMB 2002 RMB
48071 35,147 177,008 41,444 30,683 12,194
35,698 278,589 267,543 168.989 92,259 67,597

1.588 12,365 6,904 337 2,961 1371
116.233 907,098 668,935 309,167 160,200 97.072
30,930 241,534 153,777 [18,955 142.546 66,514
31,160 243,180 162,376 123,159 142,546 66,514
85,073 663.918 506.559 186,008 17.654 30,558

(1}  We adopted Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share Based Payments (“SFAS No. 123R™) on January 1, 2006. Prior to 2006, we applied the intrinsic value
methed as allowed under SFAS No, 123, Accounting for Stock Based Compensation ("SFAS No. 123"}, The adoption of SFAS No. 123R effective Janvary i, 2006,
resulted in recognition of incremental stock-based compensation expense of RMB20.0 million (32.6 million) for the year ended December 31, 2006.




(2} Acquisitions during 2006 did not significantly increase total assets.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidared financial statements and
the notes to those financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K, This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve significant risks and
uncertainties. As a result of many fuctors, such as those set forth under “Forward Looking Statements™ and “ltem 1A, Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K, our
actual results may differ materially from those anticipared in these forward-looking siatements.

Overview

We provide customized module design solutions for a diverse set of applications and end markets, serving as a gateway for our technology component suppliers 1o
access leading electronics manufacturers in China, Qur customized module design solutions allow our customers to take advantage of technology components from reputuble
suppliers in an efficient and cost-effective manner, thus reducing their time-to-market and lowering their overall costs. Our close collaberation with our customers’ product
development teams provides us with a unique understanding of their needs, enabling us to customize our suppliers’ technology components with medule designs that meet
our customers’ needs. In addition, in 2006, we began offering technology and engineering services, network system integration and related training und maintenance services
to telecom equipment vendors in China and in Southeast Asia.

We are focused on the mobile handset, telecom equipment and digital media end-markets in China. n the mobile handset end-market. we provide module solutions for
functionalities such as LCD, camera, power supply and Bluetooth; in the telecom equipment end-market, we provide solutions for PSTN switching, optical transmitters,
electrical signal processing and optical signal amplification; and in the digital media end-market, we provide solutions for digital set-top boxes and GPS applications. Over the
course of our operating history, we have worked with over 200 customers, including 4 majority of the most established manufacturers in the mebile handset, telecom equipment
and digital media end-markets in China such as ZTE, Huawei and Lenovo. In addition Lo these original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs. our other customers include
industry participants that support these OEMs, such as subsystem designers and contract manufacturers. In developing customized module design solutions for use in our
customers” products, we collaborate closely with over 30 suppliers of technology components, including many large multinational companies such as Broadeom, JDS
Uniphase and Matsushita. In addition, in October 2006, we became one of the first China-based companies to license software technology and have access to selected source
codes directly from Microsoft.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we have two reportable operating segments: product revenue, consisting of revenues generated by providing customized
module design solutions focusing primarily in the mobile handset, telecommunications equipment and digital media end-markets, and services revenue, generated by providing
technology and engineering services, network system integration and related training and maintenance services. Prior to 2006, our only operating segment was product
revenue.

Principal Factors Affecting Qur Results of Operations
The major factors affecting our results of operations and financial condition include:

Revenue mix, Our net sales and gross profit are affected by our product mix, Over the last year, digital media related sales, which have generally higher profit margins
than our mobile handset module related sales and our telecom equipment module related sales, have constituted a significuntly greater portion of our total net sales as
compared (o previous years.
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Growth in end-market industries, The rapid growth of the domestic mobile handset, telecom equipment and digital media end-markets have been important growth
drivers for China’s electronics manufacturing industries. Specific markets that we expect 1o experience continued growth are the data communications market, consisting of
asymmetric digital subscriber line (ADSL) modems and Voice over Internet Protocol (VolP} equipment; the routers and network security equipment markets; the optical
transmission systems market: the fixed line telecom network market, as well as the digitat media marke1 particularly relating to digitat TV and GPS applications. Increased
domestic consumer spending power has contributed to rapid growth in these markets. This growth in domestic consumer spending power in turn has driven, and we believe
will cominue to drive, growth in the electrenics manufacturing businesses supporting hardware OEMs, including those engaged in the customized design of module solutions
such as ourselves. However, these industries and the respective domestic manufacturers that operate in these industries may not continue to grow their sales at historical
levels. if at all. The stagnation or reduction in overall demand for mobile handset, telecom equipment and digital media products could materially affect our resulis of
operations.

Increase in exports, We believe that the development of a highly-skilled, low-cost manufacturing base has also enabled China's domestic mobile handset, telecom
equipment and digital consumer electronics manufacturers to be competitive in the global marketplace. As an example, Huawei has become a major supplier of telecom
eguipment to international customers, while ZTE, a major manufacturer of mobile handset and telecom equipment in China, as well as other telecom equipment and mobile
handset manufacturers, have alse begun to expand overseas. We believe that growth in the export market will likely have a positive effect on our results of operations and
firancial condition, as it shoutd increase the demand for our solutions, particularly ameng our mobile handset and digital media clients.

Growth by entering new end-markets, strengthening in-house capabilities and leveraging our customer base. In 2005, we began targeting the digital media end-market
and, over lime, we intend to develop integrated circuit and application software design capabilities and provide solutions based on our own proprietary technology. In the first
guarter of 2005, we began generating sales from customized module design solutions for digital home entertainment products, primarily for digital set-top boxes. through sales
to our existing end-customers, Haier, Konka, Lencovo and TCL. We have since then grown our revenues generated from this market from constituting 10.8% of our 2005
revenue to 21.8% of our 2006 revenue. We anticipate that sales related to the digital media end-markets will generally have higher profit margins than our mobile handset and
telecom equipment modules retated sales, though such higher margins may decline over time as this industry mature. We will atso lock for opportunities to expand into new
end markets that we believe represent significant growth opportunities.

Qur success in the digital media end-market will depend, in significant part, on our ability to leverage our existing customer base. We expect to continue to incur
additional research and development expenses, through hiring additional engineering personnel to develop new solutions and expanding our intellectual property and
technological capabilities. to meet the needs of cur customers that have expanded into or are expected to expand tnto the digital media end-market.

Net Sales
Product Revenue

We do not charge cur customers an independent design fee for our solutions. Instead, our business model is to generate revenue by reselling a limited number of
specific compenents required in our module reference design. The difference between the purchase price we pay our suppliers for these components and our sales price to the
customer for these components compensates us for our design, technical support and distribution services. Our net sales includes a 17% value-added tax, or VAT. In 2006, we
received a VAT refund of RMB2,0 million.

Qur broad and diversified customer base includes many of the major domestic mobile handset, telecom equipment and digital consumer electronics manufacturers in
China. In addition, our customers include industry participants supperting these OEMs, such as subsystem designers and contract manufacturers in China, as well as
international manufacturers who have begun to manufacture end-products in China for the domestic and international market. Our largest customer in terms of 2006 net sales
was T&W Electronics Co., Lid., or T&W Electronics, a major broadband terminal equipment and digital consumer electronics provider in China. Our largest customer in the
mobite handset market has been ZTE, both a large domestic mobile handset manufacturer and one of the largest telecom equipment manufacturers in China. Our two largest
customers from the tetecom equipment industry are Huawei and ZTE, both of which are major telecom equipment manufacturers in China. Our largest customers in the digital
media end-market are T&W Electronics and Sichuan Jivzhou Electronics. During 2006, T&W Electrenics, ZTE and Huawei, accounted for 15.9%, 8.6% and 6.9% of our net
sales, respectively.
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Qur net sales are subject to seasonal fluctuation and periods of increased demand. All product module sales are typically highest in the fourth quarter of the year due to
desire by OEMs to spend remaining budgets allocated for a given period, usually on an annual basis. Net sales have historically been lowest in the first quarter of the year due
to the Chinese New Year holiday and the general reduction in sales following the holiday season. The digital media industry also experiences cyclical fluctuations, as well as
fluctvations in how quickly certain new digital media products and technologies are adopted by the market. These sales patterns may not be indicative of future sales
performance.

Services Revenue

We provide technology and engineering services, and related training and maintenance services to our customers. We generie revenue when our services are
rendered and acknowledged by our customers. Since beginning this service in early 2006, Huawei has accounted for substantially all of our services revenue.

Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales comprises cost of goods sald and cost of services.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold primarily consists of the purchase of components from suppliers. We develop our customized module design solutions based on specific
technology components purchased from suppliers in our target end-markets. Our list of over 30 key suppliers includes Broadcom (integrated circuit and Bluetooth), 1DS
Uniphase (optoelectronic components), M-Systems (flash memary, DiskOnChip), Matsushita (switches), and Sumbu (speakers). We typically issue purchase orders to our
suppliers only after we receive customer orders, enabling us to maintain low inventory levels and, in turn, minimize risks typically associated with holding inventory. During
20006, based on cost of sales, we purchased approximately 34.9%, 16.5% and 15.7% of the components sold to our customers from Broadcom, JDS Uniphase and Matsushita
and its affiliated entities, respeetively. If we lose a key supplier, or a supplier reduces the quantity of products it sells to us, does not maintain a sufficient inventory level of
products required by us or is otherwise unable to meet our demands for its components, we may have to expend significant time, effort and other resources to locate a suitable
alternative supplier and secure replacement components. Even if we are able to find a replacement supplier, we may be required 1o redevelop the customized module design
solution (o effectively incorporate the replacement components.

Cast of Services

Cost of services consists of direct staff costs and other direct related costs for providing engineering and technology services including training and materials.

Operating Fxpenses
Selling, General and Administrative Expensey

Our selling expenses include expenditures to promote our new module sofutions and gain a larger customer base, personnel expenses and travel and ententainment
costs related to sales and marketing activities, and freight charges. We expense all these expenditures as they are incurred. Selling expenses are expected to continue to grow
in the future as we diversify by developing and acquiring new design capabilities and expanding into new end-markets.

General and adiministrative expenses include compensation and benefits for our general and administrative staff, professional fees, and general travel and entertainment
costs. We expense all general and administrative expenses as they are incurred. We expect that general and administrative expenses will continue to increase for the
foreseeable future as a result of our expected continued growth and the continuing costs of complying with U.S. rules and regulations necessary to maintain our listing in the
United States.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs of the employees engaged in research, design and development activities; the costs
for design and testing; the cost of parts for prototypes: equipmeni depreciation; and third party development expenses. We expense research and development expenses as
they are incurred. As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 350 engineers and 200 other technical employees engaged in research and development related activities to
develop new customized module design solutions targeted at the mobile handset, telecom equipment and digital media industries, As a result of additional costs incureed in
developing new customized module design solutions, and an increasing headcount in our R&D department, research and development expenses were significantly higher in
2006 than they were in 2005, and we expect that our research and development expenses, including those relating 10 the planaed hiring of additional research and development
persennel, will increase in the future as we seek 10 expand our business by developing new costomized module design solutions and penetrating new end-markets, and as we
seek to grow our engineering services business.

Minority Interests

Minority interests consist of 45% of the outstanding equity interest in Comtech Broadband, 40% of the outstanding equity interest in Comtech Wireless, 48.9% of the
outstanding equity interest in Huameng and 1.4% of the outstanding eqguity interest in QAM. a non-operating ltalian subsidiary. held by minority sharehelders of these
entities, For the year ended December 31, 2006, approximately 22.1% of our total net sales was generated through these subsidiaries.

Taxation

We are a holding company incorporated in the State of Maryland und conduct substantially all our operations through our PRC operating companies. Although we are
subject to United States taxation, we do not anticipate incurring significant United States income tax liability for the foreseeable future because:

. we do not conduct any material business in the United States,

+  the earnings generated from our non-U.S. operating companies are generally eligible for a deferral from United States taxation until such eamnings are repatriated
to the United States, and

. we believe that we will not generate any significant amount of income inclusions under the income imputation rules applicable to a United States company that
owns “controlled foreign corporations™ for United Siates federal income Lax purposes.

Our subsidiaries that are incorporated in Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands are not subject to income taxes in those jurisdictions.

Our subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong, Comtech Hong Kong and Comtech Broadband, are subject to taxes on their profits in Hong Kong at 17.5% for 2006, 2005
and 2004,

The usual statutory tax rate applicable to PRC companies is 33%, while the statutary tax rate applicable to PRC companies in the Shenzhen Special Ecoromic Zene in
China is 15%. Since three of our PRC operating companies, Shenzhen Comtech, Comtech Communication and Comtech Software, are established in the Shenzhen Special
Economic Zone, have agreed to operate for a minimum of 10 yeurs in China and more than 50% of their revenues will be derived from their manufacturing operations, Shenzhen
Comtech was, and Comlech Communication and Comtech Software have been and will continue to be, entitled to preferential income tax treatment under PRC law as follows:

+  Shenzhen Comtech was subject to a three-year preferential tax rate of 7.5% in 2002, 2003 and 2004 and a tax rate of 15% in 2005 and 2006;

»  Comtech Communication operated under a zero-tax exemption in 2003 and 2004, and will be subject to a three-year preferential 1ax rate of 7.5% tn 2005, 2006 and
2007: and

+  Comtech Software has been operating under a zero-tax exemption in 2005 and 2006, and will be subject to a three-year preferential tax rate of 7.5% in 2007, 2008
and 2009.
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Our acquired PRC operating companies, Viewtran PRC, Huameng PRC and Comloca PRC, which are also located in the Shenzhen Special Economic Zone, have no
assessable profit in 2006. Following expiration of the preferential tax treatment described above, our PRC operating companies located in the Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
will be subject to the statwtory tax rate of 13%. In addition, Shanghui E&T, our PRC aperating company located in the Shanghai Qingpu Zone, has elected 10 be taxed on a
deemed basis at 0.5% of its net sales in accordance with guidelines issued by the local tax authority in the Shanghai Qingpu Zone since 2004. As a resull of the incentives
above, our operations have been subject to relatively low tax liabilities. See “Risk factors—Our financial results benefit from tax concessions granted by the PRC government,
the change to or expiration of which would materially change our results of operations.™ Qur effective tax rate was 7.9%, 6.9% and 3.5% in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
The increase in our effective tax rate over this three year period was mostly due (o our subsidiaries with higher tax rates representing a greater percentage of our revenues. The
ending of the preferential income tax period for Shenzhen Comtech and Comiech Communication also contributed to the increase in the effective tax rate. Having been granted
the preferential tax treatment for Comtech Software, we expect thal our effective tax rate will not significantly increase. Tax that would otherwise have been payable without
preferential tax treaiment amounted to approximately RMB34.4 ($4.4 million), RMB29.6 million and RMB19.9 million in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively,

Basis of Presentation

Our financial statements reflect the historical conselidated operations of Comtech Cayman. In the July 2004 share exchange with Trident, the stockholders of Comtech
Cayman received in exchange for our business approximately 91.2% of the tien-outstanding common stock of Trident. This share exchange transaction was accounted for as a
reverse acquisition in which Comtech Cayman was deemed the accounting acquirer and Trident was deemed the legal acquirer, In connection with the share exchange, we
changed our name to Comtech Group, Inc. from Tridens,

As a result of the share exchange transaction:
*  the historical financial statements of Trident for periods prior to the date of the share exchange transaction are no longer presented:
*  the historical financial statements for periods prior 10 the date of the transaction are those of Comtech Cayman, as the accounting acquirer;
+  all references to the financial statemems apply to the historicat financial statements of Comtech Cayman prior to the transaction; and

¢ the number of our shares of common stock has been restated retroactively to reflect the share exchange ratio as at the date of the share exchange transaction.

In order to exercise control over Shenzhen Comtech (a PRC operating company legally permitted to engage in a commodity trading business), withowt direct
shareholding by us (a U.S.-listed company and therefore a foreign-invested entity), Honghui Li, our vice president, and Huimo Chen, the mother of our principal shareholder
and chief executive officer, Jeffrey Kang, hold 99% and 1%, respectively, of the equity interests of Shenzhen Comtech, and through contractual agreements with us hold such
equity interests exclusively for the henefir of our 100#% directly owned subsidiary, Comtech China. Shenzhen Comtech, in turn owns a 60% equity interest in another of our
PRC operating companies, Shanghai E&T, with the other 40% being held by Comtech China (BV1) through trust agreements. Under the trust agreements, Shenzhen Comtech
owns a 35% equily interest in Shanghai E&T for the benefit of Comtech China {(BV1) and Honghui Li owns a 5% equity interest in Shanghai E&T for the benefit of Comtech
China (BVI). While we do not have any equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech, through these contractual agreements, we enjoy voting control and are entitled to the economic
interests associated with their equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech. For additional details regarding these contractual agreements. see “ltem 13. Centain Relationships and
Related Transactions, and Director Independence.”

Critical Accounting Policies und Estimates

The preparation of eur consolidated financial statements requires us 10 make estimates and judgments that affect the repored amounts of our assets, liabilities, revenue
and expenses. These estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable. Estimates are evaluated on an
ongoing basis, but actual results may differ from these estimates.




Critical accounting policies are those that, in management’s view, are most important in the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations. Those that
require significant judgments and estimates include:

Acquisition, As of December 31, 2006, our intangible assets primarily consist of proprietary technology and customer relationships thut were acquired in connection
with our acquisition of the remaining 40% equity interest in Shanghai E&T that were not already owned by the company, and the acquisition of the 100% equity interest in
Viewtrun. Both acquisitions were made during 2006. We allocate the cost of an acquired entity to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair
value on the date of acquisition, This process is commonly referred to as the purchase price allocation. As part of the purchase price allocation, we are required 10 detérming
the fair value of any identifiable intangible assets acquired. The determination of the fair value of the intangible assets acquired involves certain judgments and estimates.
These judgments can include, but are not limited 1o, the cash flows that an asset is expected to generate in the future, A change in the amount allocated to identifiabte
intangible assets would have an offsetting effect on the amount of goodwill recognized from the acquisition ard would change the amount of amortization expense recognized
related to those identiftable intangible assets,

The fair values of our identifiable intangible assets were determined by independent appraisers using mainly the income approach. Future cash flows are predominately
based on the historical pricing and expense levels, taking into consideration the relevant market size and growth fuctors and expected industry. The resulting cash flows are
then discounted at a rate approximating our wetghted average cost of capital.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We establish an allowance for doubtful accounts primarily based upon the age of receivables and factors surrounding the credit risk
of specific customers. We generally do not require collateral or other security from our customers. As of December 31. 2006, our sccounts receivable balance was RMB278.6
million ($35.7 mitlion). net of an RMB15.4 million (32.0 million) allowance for doubtful accounts. As our business grows, we expect our accounts receivable balance to increase,
as could our allowance for doubtful accounts. I the financial condition of our customers deteriorates, our uacollectible account receivables could exceed our current or future
allowances.

Stock-based Compensation. Prior to 2006, we applied the intrinsic value method as allowed in SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock Based Compensation ("SFAS
No. 1237}, and related interpretations. in accounting for stock options. Under the intrinsic value method. compensation cost for stock optiens is measured as the excess, if any,
of the quoted market price of our common stock at the date of the grant over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock, Compensation cost is recognized cn a
straight line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the same as the vesting period.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment {"SFAS No. 123R™}. SFAS No. 123R replaces SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123R requires that
all stock-based compensation be recognized as an expense in the consolidated financial statements and that such cost be measured at the fair value of the award and requires
compensation cost 1o reflect estimated forfeitures. SFAS No, 123R was adopted using the modified prospective method of application. Under this method, we recorded stock-
based compensation expense for awards granted prior to. but not yet vested as of Janvary 1, 2006 and for stock-based awards granted after January b, 2006. Compensation
cost is recognized on a straight line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the same as the vesting period.

We currently use authorized and unissued shares to satisfy share award exercises.

The adoption of SFAS No. 123R effective January 1, 2006, resulted in recognition of an incremental stock-based compensation expense of RMB20.0 million ($2.6 million)
for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Allowance for Obsolete Inventories. We established inventory allowance for estimated obsclescence or unmarketable inventory in an amount equal to the differcnce
between the cost of inventory and its estimated realizable value based upon assumptions about future dermand and market conditions. Management records a write-down
against inventory based on severa! factors, including expected sales price of the item and the length of time the item has been in inventory. If actual demand and market
conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory allowance could be required. In that event, our gross margin would be reduced.
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Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2006 compared to year ended December 31, 2005

Ner Sales. Total net sales increased RMB457.2 million (858.6 million), or 52.8% in 2006 when compared to 2005. The increase was mainly due to an increase in product
revenue by approximately RMB402.9 million ($51.6 million) and the new services revenue by RMB 4.4 million ($7.0 million).

Product Revenue

Details of product revenue by product type for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

Years ended December 31,

106 2006 2005 2005
% of Net % of Net
Amount Sates Amount Sales % change

(in mlllions, except for percentapes)

Mobile handser — o T ’ ’ i ' ' C 5673 RMB325.4 39.7%  RMB446.4 51.5% 17.7%
Telecemmunications equipment 58.3 455.2 344 326.7 317 193
Digital media and other (1) ' ) i ) 37.0 288.6 21.8 93.2 108 209.7
Total product revenue 51626 RMBI,269.2 95.9% RMB866.3 100.% 46.5%

{1}  Other includes sales of lightning protection devices for wireless base stations and storage technology solutions.

Product revenue for the year ended 2006 was RMB1,269.2 million ($162.6 millicn), or RMB402.9 million or 46.5% higher than the year ended 2005, Mobile handset related
sales increased by RMB79.0 million ($10.1 million), or 17.7%, 1elecom equipment related sales increased by RMB128.5 million (§16.5 million), or 39.3%, and digital media and
other sales increased by RMB 195.4 million ($25.0 million), or 209.7%. The increase in product revenue was mainty attributable to stable growth in sales volume, which resulted
from an increase in our customer base and an increase in our product types for all markets. The wider variety of product solutions and newly introduced business Yines in
digital media markets, such as home entertainment products also contributed to the increase. The contribution to total net sales by digital media and other sales in 2006
significantly increased to RMB288.6 million ($37.0 million), or 21.8% of tota! net sales, from RMB93.2 million, or 10.8% of total net sales, in 2005. Though we had an increase in
revenue amounts for both mobile handset and telecom equipment related sales, their contributien to total net sales decreased from 51.5% and 37.7% in 2005 to 39.7% and
34.4% in 20006, respectively, due to significant growth in our digital media business,

Services Revenue. Services revenue for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were s foitows:

Years ended Decemiber 31,

2006 2006 2005 1008
% of Nel % of Net
Amount Sales Amouni Sales
(Tn millions) {in millions}
Services revenue ) o . $7.0 RMBS4.4 4.1% — -

Services revenue was derived from the provision of technology and engineering services, network system integration and related training and maimenance services
commencing from January 2006, Huawei has accounted for substantially all of our services revenue,

Gross Profit, Gross profit was RMB246.7 million ($31.6 million) in 2006, an increase of RMB95.2 million ($12.2 million), or 62.8% when compared to RMB151.5 million
($19.4 million) in 2005. The increase in both gross profit and percentage is primarily attributable to a change in product mix. Digital media module refated sales have generally
higher margins than the other two market sales. The higher margin for services revenue also contributed to the increase.

In 2006 and 2005, we recorded a provision for inventory of RMB7.4 million ($0.9 million) and RMB3.9 million, respectively.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative and R&D expenses were RMB118.1 millien ($15.1 million) in the year ended 2006, or
[115.5]% higher than those of the same period the prior year. The expenses for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 20035 were as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2006 2006 2005 2005
% of Net % of Ne1
Amount Amount Sales Amount Sales

{ln millions, except for percentuges)

Selling expenses $ 53 RMB41.3 31%  RMBISS 1.8%

General and administrative expenses 6.2 48.8 37 232 27

R&D expenses 3.6 28.0 2.1 15.8 1.5
Total § 151 RMBI118.1 8.9% RMB54.8 6.3%

The increase in selling expenses in 2006 of RMB25.5 million ($3.3 million), or 161.4%, was mainly attributable 1o an increase in our bad debt provision of RMB7.9 millicn
made for 2006, and increases in our marketing and shipping expenses. In addition, business trip and salesperson expenses increased by RMB9.3 million, in line with increased
sales volumes. An increase in sales staff costs also contributed to the increase of RMB2.9 million and RMB 1.8 million, respectively. Other indirect selling expenses such as
freight charges and additional costs in opening new sales representative offices contributed to the balance of the increase.

The increase in general and administrative expenses of RMB25.6 million ($3.3 million), or 110.3% was primarily attributable 1o corporate compliance expenses reluted to
being a public company in the U.S., as well as additional salaries and other costs associated with our new employees of RMB3.3 million, The balance of the increase was
contributed by increase in office access and other general administrative expense.

R&D Expenses. R&D expenses increased in 2006 by RMB12.1 million (31.6 million), or 77.2%. as compared 10 2005. The increase was primarily attributable to the
significant increase in R&D persennel and engineers, in which the related staff cost was increased by approximately RMB4.7 million. The remaining increase resulted from
additional research expenditures spent for potential new markets, such as digital media solutions.

Gain on Disposal of a Subsidiary. In August 2006, we disposed of our wholly-owned subsidiary, United Information Technology Company Limited and its wholly-
owned subsidiary United Information Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited, or UIT to an independent third party for consideration of RMB29,884 (33,829). The disposal
resulted in a gain of RMB6.7 million (30.9 million).

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased in 2006 by RMB 1.1 million ($0.1 million) or 61.1%. as compared to 2005. The increase was due te more bills receivable
discounted to banks in 2006 than in 2005, The discounts in respect of the bills receivable sold of RMBO0.8 miltion ($0.1 millicn) were included in interest expense. In addition,
increase in interest rate also contributed to the increase in the expense. The average interest rate during the year ended December 31, 2006 was 6.4% per annum as compared to
4.9% during 2003,

Inrerest Income. Interest income in 2006 amounted to RMB7.4 million ($0.9 miilion), compared to RMB2.5 million in 2005. The increase was principally attributable to
higher net cash inflows generated from revenue resulting from higher average deposit balances.

Income Tax. The effective tax rate for 2006 was 7.9% compared to 6.9% for 2005. The increase in the effective tax rate was primarily due to subsidiaries with higher tax
rates representing a greater percentage of our revenues in 2006.

Net Income; Earnings Per Share. As a result of the above items, nel income for 2006 was RMB123.3 million ($15.8 million), compared to net income of RMB86.8 million
in 2005. We reported basic per share earnings of RMB3.83 (30.49) for 2006, based on 32.200,044 outstanding weighted average shares, and a diluted per share earnings of
RMB3.64 (30.47), based on 33,829,519 outstanding weighted average shares, compared to basic per share earnings of RMB3.08 for 2005, based on 28,168,274 outstanding
weighted average shares, and a diluted per share earnings of RMB2.94, based on 29,507,939 outstanding weighted average shares.
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Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004

Net Sales. Details of net sales for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:
Years ended December 31,

2008 2005 1003 i)
% of Net % of Net
Amouni Nales Amount Sales % change

(in mtillions, except for percentages)

Mobile handset $ 553 RMB#464 51.5% RMB368.1 58.8% 21.3%

Telecom equipment 40.5 326.7 317 2493 39.9 310

Digital media and Other (1) 105 93.2 10.8 8.3 1.3 1,022.9
Total net sales $107.3 RMBS866.3 0% RMB623.7 100% 38.5%

(1} Otherincludes sales of lightning protection devices for wireless base stations and storage technology solutions.

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2005 was RMB866.2 million ($107.3), or RMB240.,6 million or 38.5% higher than for the year ended December 31, 2004, Mobile
handset related sales increased by RMBT73,3 milkion ($9.7 million}, or 21.3%, telecom equipment related sales increased by RMB77.4 miltion (39.6 million), or 31.0%, and digital
media and other sales increased by RMB84.9 million ($10.5 million), or 1,022.9%. The increase was mainly attributed to growth in sales volume of the domestic mobile handset,
telecom equipment and digital consumer electronic products. More variety of product solutions and newly intraduced business lines, such as Broadcom and digital TV
products atso contributed 15 the increase. The contribution to total net sales by digitat media and other sales in 2005 significantly increased 1o RMB93.2 million ($11.5 million),
or 10.8% of total net sales, from RMB8&.3 million, or 1.3% of total net sules, in 2004, Though we had an increase in revenue amounts for both mobile handset and telecom
equipment reiated sales, their contribution 10 total net sales decreased from 58.8% and 39.9% in 2004 to 51.5% and 37.7% in 2005 respectively.

Gross Profit. Gross profit increased from RMB94.9 million or 15.2% in the year ended 2004 to RMB151.5 million ($18.8 million) or 17.5% in 2005. The increase was
principally due to an increase in consumer electronic medule sales which have a higher margin than mobile handset or telecom equipment. In addition, decrease in marginal
cost of goods sold, which resulted from bulk purchases, also contributed 10 the improvement in gross margin.

Selling, General and Administrative and R&D Expenses. Selling, general and administrative and R&D expenses were RMB54.8 million ($6.8 million) in the year ended
December 31, 2005, or 101.5% higher than those of the same period the prior year. The expenses for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were 55 lollows;

‘Years ended December 3,

2003 FIL 2004 2004
% of Net % of Net
Amount Amoant Sales Amount Sales

{in millions, except for percentages)

Selling expenses 5 20 RMBIL5.8 1.8% RMRB7.6 1.2%

General and admintstrative expenses 28 232 27 13.5 22

R&D expenses 2.0 15.8 1.8 6.1 1.0
Total § 68 RMB348 6.3% RMB27.2 44%

The increase in setling expenses in 2005 as compared 10 2004 of RMBS8.2 million ($1.0 million), or 107.9%, was mainiy attributable to uan udditional bad debt provision of
RMB3.7 million made for 2005, In addition, an increase in sales stafi costs and an increase in cost on product logistics contributed to the increase of RMB 1.4 million and
RMB 1.8 million respectively. Other indirect selling expenses such as freight charges and salesperson expenses and additional costs in opening new sales representative
offices contributed to the balance of the increase,

The increase in general und administrative expenses of RMB9,7 million ($1.2 million), or 71.9% was primarily attributable to corporate expenses related to being a public
company in the U.S, following our share exchange in July 2004, as well as costs associated with our additional employees.
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R&D expenses increased in 2005 by RMB9.7 million ($1.2 million), or 159.0%. as compared to 2004. The increase was primarily attributabie to the significant increase in
R&D personnel and engineers, in which the related staff cost was increased by RMB7.2 million, The remaining RMB2.5 million was resulted from additional research
expenditure for potentiul new consumer electronics markets, such as digital TV, IPTV and storage technology solutions.

Interest Expense. Interest expense in 2005 amounted to RMB1.8 millien ($0.2 million), compared to RMB2.2 million in 2004. The average interest rate during the year
ended December 31, 2005 was 4.9% per annum as compared to 4.0% during 2004. The increase resulted from the gradual increase in the bank borrowing interest rate.

Interest income. lnerest income in 2005 amounted to RMB2.5 million (30.3 million), compared 1o RMB0.04 million in 2004, The increase was principally attributed to the
proceeds of approximately $30 million received in the public offering on July 20, 2005. Higher net cash inflows generated from revenue resulting from higher average deposit
balances also contributed to the increase.

fncome Tax. The effective tax rate for 2005 was 6.9% compared to 3.5% for 2004, The increase in the effective tax rate was primarily due to the expiration of the
preferential tax period for two of our PRC subsidiaries, Shenzhen Comtech and Comtech Communication.

Net Income; Earnings Per Share. As a result of the above items, net income for 2005 was RMB86.8 million {S10.8 miition), compared to net income of RMB62.2 million in
2004, We reported basic per share earnings of RMB3.08 (30.38) for 2005, based on 28,168,274 outstanding weighted average shares, and a diluted per share earnings of
RMB2.94 (30.36), based on 29.507.939 outstanding weighted average shares, compared to basic per share eamnings of RMB2.87 for 2004, based on 21,690,560 outstanding
weighted average shares, and a diluted per share earnings of RMB2.84, based on 21,885,053 outstanding weighted average shares.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table presents our supplemental selected unaudited quarterly results of operations for the eight quarters prior to and including the quarter ended
December 31, 2006, You should read the following table in conjunction with our audited conselidated financial statements and reluted notes contained elsewhere in this Form
10K. [n our management's opinion, we have prepared our unaudited quarterly results of operations on substantially the same basis as our audited consolidated financial
statements. Due to the evolving nature of our business and other faclors affecting our business as described under “ltem 1A, Risk factors™, our results of operations for any
quarter are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for any future periods.

For he three months ended,
Dec 31, Sept. M, June. 3, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. W June 30, Mur. 31,

2006 2006 2006 2006 2005 1008 2005 2005
(in millions of RMB, except per share data)

Net sales 378.2 3412 3325 217 271.3 215.2 2078 1120
Gross profit 69.2 640 61.5 520 503 38.2 36.7 263
Net income 35.7 3.6 28.8 26.2 283 215 21.2 158
Earnings per share N

Basic 1.09 1.0t 0.90 0.83 0.0 071 0.83 0.62

Diluted 1.04 097 (.85 0.79 0.86 0.69 079 0.59

Our quarterly net sales over the past two years have experienced continued sequential growth,

The overall increase in our net sales over the past two years was consistent with (1) growing demand for all product solutions in China's domestic market as China’s
telecom operators continued 1o expand and upgrade their infrastructure, and (2) by a recent increase in our engineering services revenue via acquisitions.

We believe that the general increase in gross profit from quarler to quarter was primarily attributable to a change in our product mix, Specifically, services revenues, and
mobile handset and digital media related sales, which have higher profit margins than our mobile handset and telecom equipment related sales, have increasingly constiluted a
greater portion of our total net sales over the past two years,
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. E23R, "Share-Based Payment”. This statement is a revision to SFAS No. 123 and
supersedes APB Opinion No. 25. This statement establishes standards for the accounting for transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or
services, primarily focusing on the accounting for ransactions in which an entity obtains employee services in shure-based payment transactions. Entities will be required to
measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award, with limited exceptions. That
cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide service, the requisite service period {usually the vesting period), in exchange for the
award. The grant-date fair value of employee share options and similar instruments will be estimated using option-pricing models. i an equity award is medified after the grant
date, the incremental compensation cost will be recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the fair value of the modified award over the fair value of the original award
immediately before the modification. This statement is effective as of the beginning of the annual reporting period that begins after June {5, 2005. We adopted this statement
with effect frem January 1, 2006 under the modified prospective method of application. Under that method, we recognize compensation costs for new grants of share-based
awards, awards modified after the effect date, and the remaining portion of the fair value of the unvested awards at the adoption date.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections™ (“SFAS 154) which replaces Accounting Principles Board Opinions
No. 20, "Accounting Changes™ and SFAS No. 3, "Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statemems—An Amendment of APB Opinion No. 28.” SFAS 154
provides guidance on the accounting for und reporting of accounting changes and error corrections, It establishes retrospective application, or the latest practicable date, as
the required method for reporting a change in accounting principle and the reporting of a correction of an error, SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes and corrections
of ervors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. We do not anticipate the adoption of this statement will have a material effect on the our financial position or
results of operations,

In September 2005, the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF’} issued EITF Issue No. 04-13, Accauniing for Purchases and Sales of Inventory with the Same
Counterparty. EITF 04-13 provides guidance as to when purchases and sales of inventory with the same counterparty should be accounted for as a single exchange
transaction. E[TF 04-13 alse provides guidance as to when a nonmonetary exchange of inventory should be accounted for at fair value. EITF 04-13 will be applied to new
arrangements entered into, and medification or renewals of existing arrangements occurring after January I, 2007. We do not expect the adoption of EFTF 04-13 will have a
significant effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Acenunting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN 48"), FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
tuxes recognized in the Company's financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and messurement attributes for the
financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, The provisions of FIN 48 are effective for the fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006. We do not expect that the adoption of FIN 48 will have a significant effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements ("SFAS No. 157™), which defines fair value, provides a framework for measuring fair
value, and expands the disclosures required for fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies to other accounting pronouncements that require fair value measurements and
does not require any new fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and is required to be adopted by us in fiscal
year 2008, Although we will continue to evaluate the application of SFAS No. 157, we do not currently believe the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 115 (“SFAS No |59). SFAS No. 159 permits an entity to elect fair value as the initial and subsequent measurement attribute for many financial assets and
liabilities. Entities electing the fair value option would be required to recognize changes in fair value in earnings. Entities electing the fair value option are required to
distinguish, on the face of the statement of financial position, the fair value of assets and liabilities for which the fair value option has been elected and similar assets and
ltabilities measured using another measurement attribute, We are required to adopt SFAS No
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159 beginning on January i, 2008. The adjustment to reflect the difference between the fair value and the carrying amount would be accounted for as a cumulative-effect
adjustment to retained earnings as of the date of initial adoption. Although we will continue to evaluate the provisions of SFAS No. 159, management currently does not
believe the adoption of SFAS No. 159 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements,

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows and Working capital

Our accounts payable cycle typically averages approximately one month, whereas our receivables cycle typically averages approximately three months. Accordingly,
additional working capital, being current assets less current liabilities, is needed to fund this time difference.

As at December 31, 2006, we had no material commitments for capital expenditures.

As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately RMB375.1 million ($48.1 million) in cash. We regularly review our cash funding requirements and attempt to meet those
requirements through a combination of cash on hand, cash provided by operations, available borrowings under bank lines of credit and factoring facilities and possible future
public or private equity offerings. At times, we may evaluate possible acquisitions of, or investments in, businesses that are complementary to ours, which may require the use
of cush. We believe that our cash, increased operating cash flows, credit arrangements, and access to equity and debt capital markets, taken together, provide adequate
resources to fund cur ongeing operating expenditures for the next 12 months. In the event that they do not, we may require additional funds in the future 10 support our
working capital requirements or for other purposes and may seek to raise such additional funds through the sale of public or private equity, as well as from other sources.

As of December 31, 2006, we had working capital of RMBS85.6 million ($75.0 million), including RMB375.1 million ($48.1 million) in cash, as compared with working
capital of RMB507.3 miltion at December 31, 2005, including RMB177.1 million in cash.

Operating activities generated cash of RMB202.8 million ($26.0 million) for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to cash used of RMB35.1 million in the year
ended December 2005. The increase in cash generated from operating activities as compared to the prior year is primarily due to the collection of accounts and receivables on a
more timely basis, which was primarily due to the sale of receivables and the increase in trade payables. The incremental amount discounted as of 2006 was RMBB80 million
campared to 2005. The decrease in inventories of RMB26.9 million as at December 31, 2006 resulting from better inventory control alse contributed 10 the generation of
operating cash.

Operating activities used cash of RMB35.1 million ($4.3 million) for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to cash used of RMB60.3 million in the year ended
December 2004. The decrease in cash used in operating activities as compared to the prior year is primarily due to [the collection of accounts and receivables on a more timely
basis], |discounting of receivables] and the increase in trade payahles. The increase in payables was partly off-set by an increase in inventories of RMB94.9 million (511.8
million). The increase in inventories as at December 31, 2005 resutted from an increase in demand for our products, and a change in product mix.

Tnvesting activities used RMB9.0 million ($1.1 million) during 2006, mainly for new bank deposits of RMB16.1 million ($2.1 million) to pledge additional credit facilities of
RMB46.8 million {$6.0 million) with banks, The remaining investing aclivities were the purchases of fixed assets of RMB7.5 million and acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash
acquired of RMB12.7 million. The use of cash for investing activities was partly compensated by sale of subsidiary net of cash disposed of RMB 27.7 million. Investing
activities used RMB46.2 million ($5.7 million) during 2005, mainly for bank deposits of RMB40.7 million {$5.0 million) to pledge credit facilities of RMB113.0 million (314.0
million) with two banks. The remaining investing activities were the purchases of fixed assets.

Financing activities provided net cash of RMB11.9 million ($1.5 million) during 2006. Cash was provided by net proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants,
net of the repurchase of treasury stock, of RMB24.0 million. The cash inflow was reduced by repayment of bank borrowings of RMB6.3 million and a dividend paid 1o minority
shareholders of RMB2.1 million,
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Financing activities used net cash of RMB217.3 million ($26.9 million) during 2005. Cash was provided by the net proceeds of RMB234.7 million ($29.1 million) from the
public offering of 5,912,160 shares of our common stock on July 20, 2005. The cash inflow was compensated by repayment of certain bank borrowings of RMB17.4 million ($2.2
million).

Distributions by our PRC operating companies to us may be subject to governmental approval and taxation. Any teansfer of funds from us to our PRC operating
companies, either as a shareholder loan or as an increase in registered capital, is subject to registration or approval with or by PRC governmental authorities, incleding the
relevant administration of foreign exchange and/or other relevant examining and approval authorities. These limitations on the free flow of funds between us and our PRC
operating companies may restrict our ability to act in response to changing market conditions. To date, none of our PRC operating companies, including Shenzhen Comtech
and Shanghai E&T, have declared or paid dividends to us, and historically, we have not relied on such distributions for our liquidity needs. In addition, we have not declared
dividends since the share exchange transaction. Qur holding companies have no business operations and therefore the related expenses are relatively low, consisting mainty
of legal, accounting and other fees and expenses associated with being a holding company or, in the case of Comtech Group, Inc., a public company. Three of our major
operating companies, Comiech Hong Kong and Comtech Broadband, bath Hong Kong incorporated companies, and Comtech Communication and Comtech Software, both
wholly owned foreign enterprises, are legally permitted to declare and pay dividends, enabling them to provide any funds necessary to meet the holding companies’ limited
operating expenses, although in the case of a wholly owned foreign enterprise, such dividends would be subject to the conditions described in “Risk Factors—PRC laws and
our corporale structure may restrict our ability to receive dividend payments from, and transfer funds to, our PRC operating companies, which may negatively affect our results
of operations and restrict our ability to act in response 1o changing market conditions.” We do not expect restrictions between us and our PRC operating companies to affect
our liquidity and capital rescurces in the near future. For risks associated with the uncertainty in our receipt of the equivalent economic interest in connection with the equity
interest in Shenzhen Comtech, see “Risk factors—PRC laws and our corporate struciure may restrict our ability to receive dividends and payments from, and transfer funds to,
our PRC operating companies, which may negatively affect our results of eperations and restrict our ability to act in response to changing market conditions.”

Our PRC operating companies are required, where applicable, to allocate a portion of their net profit to certain funds before distributing dividends, including at least
10% of their net profit to certain reserve funds until the batance of such fund has reached 50% of their registered capital. These reserves can only be used for specific
purposes, including making-up cumulative losses of previous years, conversion to equity capital, and application to business expansion, and are not distributable as
dividends. Our PRC operating subsidiaries are required, where applicable, to allocate an additional 5% to 10% of their net profits to a statutory common welfare fund. These
reserves can only be used for specific purposes and are not distributable as dividends. For risks associated with the uncertainty in our receipt of the equivalent economic
interest in connection with the equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech or Shanghai E&T, see “Risk factars—PRC laws and our corporate structure may restrict our ability to
receive dividends and payments from, and transfer funds to, our PRC operating cornpanies, which may negatively affect our results of operations and restrict our ability to act
in response to changing market conditions.”

Indebtedness

On October 7, 2005, Comtech Hong Kong entered into a RMB40.4 million ($5 million) U.S. doliar denominated credit facility with Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong)
Limited, or SCE, and a RMB72.6 million ($9 million) U.S, dollar denominated facility with Bank of China, or BOC. In 2006, BOC increased the amount available under the facility
to RMB 117.1 million {$15 million). Both of the SCB and BOC faciities are guaranteed by Comtech Group, Inc. Apart from income from operations, these revolving credit
facilities serve as our principal source of liquidity to fund our working capital needs.

As of December 31, 2006, there was no outstanding loan balance under the SCB facility. This facility is secured by funds on deposit in an amount not less than $2
million, and bears interest from 1.5% per annum over HIBOR or U.S. prime, depending on different kinds of borrowings made. The SCB facility is repayable on demand and SCB
may immediately terminate the facility without our consent or that of any third party,
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As of December 31, 2006, the outstanding loan balance under the BOC facility was RMB30.3 million ($3.9 million), at an interest rate of approximately 7.3% per annum,
leaving RMB88.4 million ($11.4 million) in availability. This facility is secured by funds on deposit in an amount not less than $5 million, and bears interest from LIBOR plus
1.75% to 2% per annum, depending on different kinds of borrowings made and is used to settle foreign exchange obligations to the extent needed. The facility is repayable on
demand and BOC may increase, reduce and/or cancel the facility by notice to us. Based on a variable return on interest, the bank borrowings amounted te fair value,

Some of our customers enter into arrangements with their respective banks for purposes of settling their bills. Under such arrangements, we are entitled to collect the
amounts owed directly from the customers’ banks when the invoice becomes due. In certain circumstances, we have arranged to transfer with recourse certain of our bills
receivable to the bank. Under this discounting arrangement, the bank pays a discounted amount to us and collects the amounts owed from the customers’ banks. The discount
typically ranges from 0.69% 10 0.8% of the balance transferred, which is recorded as interest expense. For the year ended December 31, 2006, we had received proceeds from
the sales of the bills receivable amounting to RMB106.9 million ($13.7 million), compared with RMB60.7 million (§7.8 million) for the previous year.

Contractiwal Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table sets forth our contractual payment obligations for operating leases and purchase obligations as of December 31, 2006:

Payments due by Period

Less than More Than
Total 1 year 1.3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years

Contractua! Obligations - {in millions of RMB) -

Operating lease obligations ] ] _ . 113 60 43 0.6 e
Purchase obligations ) 2029 2029 — — —
Bank borrowings o B i . o303 — — —
Total 2445 239.2 4.7 0.6 —

Operating lease obligations consist primarily of operating lease agreements for our office facilities, including our head office and research center in Shenzhen. Our
leases have remaining terms ranging from one to 40 months.

Purchase obligations consist of outstanding purchase orders for components from our suppliers. We do not have any minimum purchase obligations with these
suppliers.

Gff-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Apart from the discounting of receivables discussed under “—Indebtedness” and operating lease obligations discussed under “Contractual Obligations,” we have no
outstanding off-balance sheet arrangements, derivative financial instruments, interest rate swap transactions or foreign currency forward contracts. We do not engage in
trading activities involving non-exchange traded comtracs.

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Foreign Exchange Risk

Our reporting currency is the Renminbi. Transactions in other currencies are recorded in Renminbi at the rates of exchange prevailing when the transactions occur.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are remeasured into Renminbi at rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet dates. Exchange gains and
losses are recorded in our statements of operations as a component of current period earnings.

The PRC State Administration for Foreign Exchange, under the authority of the People’s Bank of China, controls the conversion of Renminbi into foreign currencies.
The principal regulation governing foreign currency exchange in China is the Foreign Currency Administration Rules (1996), as amended, or the “Rules™. Under the Rules, once
various procedural requirements are met, Renminbi is convertible for current account transactions, including trade and service-related foreign exchange transactions and
dividend payments, but not for capital account transactions, including direct invesiment, loans or investments in securities outside China, without prior approval of the State
Administration of Foreign Exchange of the People’s Republic of China, or its local counterparts.
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Since July 2005, the Renminbi has no longer been pegged to the U.S. dollar. Although currently the Renminbi exchange rate versus the U.S. dollar is restricted to a rise
or fall of no more than 0.3% per day and the People’s Bank of China regutarly intervenes in the foreign exchange marken to prevent significant short-term fluctuations in the
exchange rate, the Renminbi may appreciate or deprectate significamly in value against the U.S. doliar in the medium to long term. Moreover, it is possible that in the future, the
PRC authorities may lift restrictions on fluctuations in the Renminbi exchange rate and lessen intervention in the foreign exchange market. As of December 31, 2006, the
exchange rate of RMB to $1 was RMB7.8041.

We canduct substantiaily all of our operations through our PRC operating companies. and their financial performance and position are measured in terms of Renminbi.
Qur solutions ate primarily procured, sold and delivered in the PRC for Renminbi. The majority of our net sales are denominated in Renminbi.

Any devaluation of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar would consequently have an adverse effect on our financial performance and asset values when measured in
terms of U.S. doltars. On the other hand, the appreciation of the Renminbi could make our customers’ products more expensive to purchase because many of our customers are
involved in the expor of goods, which may have an adverse impact on their sales. A deerease in sales by our customers could have an adverse effect on our operating results.
[n addition, from time to time we may have U.S. dollar denominated borrowings, and therefore a decoupling of the Renminbi many affect our financial performance in the future.

We recognized a foreign currency transtation adjusiment of approximately RMB10.0 million ($1.3 million) for the year ended December 31, 2006. We do not currently
engage in hedging activities. as such, we may in the fuiure experience economic loss as a result of any foreign currency exchange rate fluctvations.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk arising from short-term variable rate borrowings from time to time. Our future interest expense will fluctuate in line with any change
in our borrowing rates. We do not have any derivative financial instruments and believe our exposure to interest rate risk and other relevant market risks is not material. Our
bank borrowings amounted 10 RMB30.3 miilion {33.9 miilion) as of December 31, 2006. Based on the variable nature of the underlying interest rate, the bank borrowings
approximated fair value at that date.

If there was a hypothetical 1% change in interest rates, the net impact to earnings and cash flows would be approximately RMBO0.3 million ($0.04 million). The potential
change in cash flows and earnings is calculated based on the change in the net interest expense over a one year period due to an immediate 1% change in rates,

Inflation

In recent years, China has not experienced significant inflation, and thus inflation has not had a material impact on our results of operations. According to the National
Bureau of Statistics of China, the change in Consumer Price Index in China was 3.9%, 1.8% und 1.5% in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

ITEM 8. FEINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The following financial statements and the footnotes thereto are included in the section beginning on page F-1.

|3 Reporns of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
2. Consolidated Bulance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005.

3 Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.
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4. Consalidated Statements of Sharchoiders” Equity and other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.
5 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

6. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Management's Repont on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Consolidated Financial Statements,
Notes to Consolidated Financtal Statements and Financial Statements Schedules which are listed in the Index to Financial Statements and which appear beginning on page F-2
of this report are incorporated into this Item 8. Quarterly Results of Operations information is included elsewhere in this report 2nd is incorporated into this ltem 8.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

In April 2006, we dismissed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, which served as our independent public accountants for the 2005 fiscal year, and engaged KPMG as our
independent public accountants for the 2006 financial year. This change in independent public accountants was previously reported by us in Current Reports on Form 8-K
field with the Securities and Exchange Commission dated April 13, 2006 and April 21, 2006.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain controls and procedures designed to ensure that we are able 10 collect the information we are required to disclose in the reports we file with the SEC and to0
record, process, summarize, and disclose this information within the time periods specified in the rules of the SEC. Based on an evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report conducted by outr management, our chief executive and chief financial officers have concluded these controls
and procedures are effective to ensure we are able to record, collect, process, and disclose the information we are required to disclose in the reports we file with the SEC within
the required time periods.

{b}  Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management's annual report on internal contrel over financtal reporting and the related report of our independent registered public accounting firm are included in
this report on pages F-2 and F-3, respectively.




ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART IIT

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information about our directors and executive officers as of December 31, 2006.

Name Ape Position

Jeffrey Kang 37 Chief Executive Officer, Prestdent and Chairman of the Board
Hope Ni 34 Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and Director

Amy Kong (1)(2)3) 52 Director

QY. Ma (1)(2)3) 50 Director

Frank Zheng (13(2)(3} 40 Diirector

N Member of Audit Commitiee
) Member of Nominating and Governance Committee
[K)] Member of Compensation Comrnittee

Jeffrey Kang, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President. Mr. Kang was a co-founder of Comtech and has served as our chief executive officer and
chairman of the board since September 1999. Mr. Kang founded Shenzhen Matsunichi Electronics Co., Ltd. and Matsunichi Electronic {Hong Kong) Limited, predecessor of
the Company, in 1995, when Matsunichi commenced operations as 4 distributor for Matsushita. In 1999, Mr. Kang transferred atl operations and assets of Matsunichi into the
Company's immediate predecessor. Prior to forming Matsunichi, Mr. Kang worked for Matsushita Electronics from June 1992 to July 1995 where he was responsible for selling
components to the telecom industry within China. From 1998 to 1999, Mr. Kang was vice president of Shenzhen SME (Small and Medium Enterprises) Association, a non-profit
association in Shenzhen. Mr. Kang eamed B.S. degree in Electrical Engineering from South China Technology University in Guangzhou, China.

Hope Ni, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and Director. Ms. Ni has served as our chief financial officer and secretary 1o our board since August 2004, and as our
director since January 2003, Prior 1o joining us, Ms. Ni spent six years as a practicing attorney at Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP in New York and Hong Kong,
specializing in corporate finance. Prior to that, Ms. Ni worked at Merrill Lynch, investment banking division in New York. Currently, Ms. Ni is a member of the investment
committee of Time [nnovation Ventures, a venture capital firm focused on funding technology start-ups and joint ventures in China. Ms. Ni also serves on the board of Qianjia
Consulting Company, which she founded in 2002 and serves on the board of KongZheng Corporation, a Cayman slands corporation traded in the Nasdaq Global Market.

Ms. Ni received her J.D, degree from University of Pennsylvania Law School and her B.S. degree in Applied Economics and Business Management from Cornell University.

Amy Kong, Director. Ms. Kong has been a director since July 2004. Ms. Kong founded Primustech Ventures (HK) Limited, a private equity investment firm focused on
Greater China, and has been its chief executive officer since 2000. Ms. Kong invested in a number of private equity projects in the areas of document management, professional
training and education, medical waste management, medical devices, consumer electronics and information technology consulting. From 1999 1o 2000, Ms. Kong served as
interim chief executive officer of Cyber City International, a Shenzhen, China based company. In 1996, Ms. Kong founded GTF Asset Management for the Gajah Tunggal
Group, an $800 million global asset management company. Ms. Kong received a B.A. degree from Princeton University and an M.B.A. degree from New York University.

Q.Y. Ma, Director. Dr. Ma has been a director since December 2004. Dr. Ma has been the managing director of Time Innovation Ventures, a venture capital firm, since
2000, and served as a professor at the University of Hong Kong from 1998 10 2000. Dr. Ma was an associate professor at Columbia University from 1994 to 2000. He has also
served as a technology consultant to [BM, General Electric, TRW, Inc. and DuPont. Dr. Ma is a co-founder and advisor of Semicenductor Manufacturing International Corp.,
and has served as an adviser to the Ministry of Information Industry, Beijing Government, and a senior advisor to Zhangjiang Hi-Tech Park in Shanghai. Dr. Ma received his
Ph.D. from Calumbia University, and attended the Executive Program of Stanford University’s School of Business.
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Frank Zheng, Director. Mr. Zheng has been a director since January 2005, He has been the vice president of travel service for eLong, Inc., a leading online travel
service company in China, since July 2000, Mr. Zheng is responsible for the overall operation of eLong’s travel services, Before he joined eLong, Mr. Zheng was a senior
director of travel services with Asia.com, From 1994 through 2000, Mr. Zheng held various financial and operations positions with The Bank of New York, The Reserve
Management Corp, and Dean Witer Intercapital Company. Mr. Zheng received a B.B.A degree in Accounting from City University of New York.

Board Practices

Qur business and affairs are managed under the direction of our board of directors. The primary responsibilities of our board of directors are to provide oversight,
strategic guidance, counseling and direction to our management. It is our expectation that the board of directors will meet regularly on a quarterly basis and additionally as
required,

Board Committees

Qur board of directors has an audit committee, a nominating and corporate governance committee, and a compensation committes, each established in 2005. Our board
of directors has determined that Amy Kong, Frank Zheng and Q.Y. Ma, the members of these committees, are “independent” under the current independence standards of
Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4200(a)(15) and meet the criteria for independence set forth in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
Exchange Act). Our bourd of directors has also determined that these persons have no material relationships with us—either directly or as a partner, stockholder or officer of
any entity—which could be inconsistent with a finding of their independence as members of our board of directors.

Audit Committee

The sudit commitiee, consisting of Ms. Kong and Messrs. Ma and Zheng, oversees our financial reporting process on behalf of the board of directors, The committee’s
responsibilities include the following functions:

*  approve and retain the independent auditors to conduct the annuat audit of our books and records;

* review the proposed scope and results of the audit;

+  review and pre-approve the independent auditors’ audit and non-audited services rendered;

+  approve the audit fees to be paid;

. review accounting and financial controls with the independent auditors and our financial and accounting staff;
. review and approve transactions between us and our directors, officers and afftliates; and

. recognize and prevent prohibiled non-audit services.

Our board of directors has determined that Ms. Kong, the Chair of the Audit Committee, is an “audit commirtee financial expert” as defined by the SEC's rules.

Nominating And Corporate Governance Committee

The nominating and governance committee, consisting of Ms. Kong and Messrs. Ma and Zheng, is responsibte for identifying potential candidates to serve on our
board and its commitiees. The committee's responsibilities include the following functions:

+  making recommendations to the board regarding the size and composition of the board;
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+  identifying and recommending to the board nominees for election or re-election to the board, or for appointment to fill any vacancy:
+  establishing procedures for the nomination process;

+  advising the board periodically with respect to corporate governance matters and practices, including periodically reviewing corporate governance guidelines to
be adapted by the board; and

*  establishing and administering a periodic assessment procedure relating 1o the performance of the board as a whole und its individual members.

The nominating and corporate governance committee will consider director candidates recommended by security hoiders. Potential nominees to the board of directors
are required to have such experience in business or financial matters as would make such nominee an asset to the board and may, under certain circumstances, be required to
be “independent”, as such term is defined under independence standards applicable to the Company. Security hotders wishing to submit the name of a person as a potential
nominee to the board must send the name, address. and a brief (no more than 500 words) biographical description of such potential nominee to the committee at the following
address: Nominating and Corperate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors, c/o Comtech Group, Inc., Suite 1001, Tower C, Skyworth Building, High-Tech Industrial
Park, Nanshan, Shenzhen 518057, People's Republic of China. Potential director nominees will be evaluated by personal interview, such interview 10 be conducted by one or
more members of the committee, and/er any other method the committee deems appropriate, which may, but need not, include a questionnaire. The committee may solicit or
receive information concerning potential nominees from any source it deems appropriate. The committee need not engage in an evaluation process unless (1} thereis a
vacancy on the board, (2) a director is not standing for re-election, or (3) the committee does not intend to recommend the nomination of a sitting director for re-election. A
potential director nominee recommended by a security holder will not be evaluated any differently than any other potential nominee.

Compensation Committee

The compensation committee, consisting of Ms. Kong and Messrs. Ma and Zheng, is responsible for making recommendations to the board concerning salaries and
incentive compensation for our officers and employees and administers our stock option plans. Its responsibilities include the following functions:

*  reviewing and recommending policy relating to the compensation and benefits of our officers and employees, including reviewing and approving corporate goals
and objectives relevant to the compensation of cur chief executive officer and other senior officers; evaluating the performance of these officers in light of those
goals and objectives; and setting compensation of these officers based on such evaluations;

*  administering our benefit plans and the issuance of stock options and other awards under our stock plans; and reviewing and establishing appropriate insurance
caverage for our directors and executive officers;

¢« recommending the type and amount of compensation to be paid or awarded to members of our board of directors, including consulting, retainer, meeting,
committce and committee chair fees and stock option grants or awards; and

*  reviewing and approving the terms of any employment agreements, severance arrangements, change-of-control protections and any other compensatory
arrangements for our executive officers,

Compensation Committee Interlocks And Insider Participation

No member of our compensation committee has at any time been an officer or employee of ours, or our subsidiaries. No interlocking relationship exists between our
board of directors or compensation committee and the board of directors or compensation committee of any other company, nor has any interlocking relationship existed in the
past.




Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, requires our executive officers, directors and persons who beneficially own more
than 10% of a registered class of our equily securities to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of
our common stock and other equity securities. These executive officers, directors, and greater than 10% beneficial owners are required by SEC regulation to furnish us with
copies of all Section 16{a) forms filed by such reporting persons.

There was a failure by each of the following 1o timely file their respective Form 4s: Jeffrey Kang, Comtech Global [nvestment Ltd. and Ren Investment International Ltd.
Based solely on our review of such forms furnished to us and written representations from certain reporting persons, we believe that all other filing requirements applicable to
our executive officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial owners were complied with during 2006.

Code of Ethics

On November 4, 2004, we adopted a Code of Business Corduct and Ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees, incfuding our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer—our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer, respectively. A copy of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is
available on the Investor Information page of our website, www.comtech.com.cn.

ITEM i1, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overview

This compensation discussion describes the material elements of compensation awarded 10, earned by, or paid 10 each of our executive officers listed in the Summary
Compensation Table below (the “named executive officers”) during the last completed fiscal year. This compensation discussion focuses on the information contained in the
following tables and related footnotes and narrative for primarily the last completed fiscal year, but we also describe compensation actions taken before or after the last
completed fiscal vear to the extent it enhances the understanding of our executive compensation disclosure,

The compensation commitiee currently oversees the design and administration of our executive compensation program.

The principal elemen:s of our executive compensation program are base salary, annual cash incentives, long-term equity incentives in the form of stock options, other
benefits and perquisites, post-termination severance and acceleration of stock option vesting for certain named executive officers upon termination andfor a change in control.
Our cther benefits and perquisites consist of life and health insurance benefits.

Objectives and Philosophy
In General. The objectives of our compensation programs ase to:

«  attract. metivate and retaio talented and dedicated executive officers,
. provide our executive officers with both cash and equity incentives to further the interests of us and our stockholders, and
+  provide employees with long-term incentives so we can retam them and provide stability during our growth stage.

Generally, the compensation of our executive officers is composed of a base salary, an annual incentive compensation award and equity awards in the form of stock
options. In setting base salaries, the compensation committee generally reviews the individual contributions of the particutur executive. In addition, stock options are granted
to provide the opportunity for long-term compensation based upon the performance of our common stock over time. Our philosephy is to position the aggregate of these
elements at a level that is commensurate with our size and sustained performance.
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Elements of Compensation
Compensation consists of following elements:

Base Salary. The employment agreement with Hope Ni, our Chief Financial Officer, establishes a minimum base salary for the term of the agreement. Base salaries for
our executives officers are established based on the scope of their responsibilities, taking into account competitive market compensation paid by other companies in our
industry for similar positions, and the other elements of the executive officer’s compensation, including stock-based compensation. Our intent is to target executive base
salaries near the median of the range of salaries for executives in similar positions with similar responsibilities at comparable companies, in line with our compensation
philosophy. Base salaries are reviewed annually, and may be increased annually to realign salaries with market levels after taking into account individual responsibilities,
performance and expertence. Based on publicly available information, we believe that the base sataries established for our executtve officers are comparable tc those paid by
similar compantes in our industry.

Annual Bonuses. Our executive officers and certain other employees are eligible for annual cash bonuses, which are paid at the discretion of our compensation
committee. The employment agreement with our Chief Financial Officer does do not provide for minimum bonuses, The determination of the amount of annual bonuses paid to
our executive officers generally reflects a number of subjective considerations, including the performance of cur company averall and the contributions of the executive officer
during the relevant period.

Incentive Compensation. We believe that long-term performance is achieved through an ownership culture that encourages long-term performance by our executive
officers through the use of stock-based awards. We adopted the Comtech Group, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, which permits the grant of shares of cur incentive stock
options, non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, and performunce stock awards. Qur Board or a committee created by the Board will have the
authority under the plan to award incentive compensation to our executive officers, employees, consultants and directors in such amounts and on such terms as the committee
determines in its sole discretion.

Currently, we do not maintain any incentive compensation plans based on pre-defined perfermance criteria. Incentive compensation is intended to compensate
executive offtcers, employees, consultants and directors for achieving financial and operational goals and for achieving individual annual performance objectives. These
objectives are expected to vary depending on the individual executive, but are expected to relate generally to strategic factors such as expansion of our services and to
financial factors such as improving our results of operations. The actual amount of incentive compensation for the prior year will be determined following a review of each
executive's individual performance and contribution to our strategic goals conducted during the first quarter of each year. Speciftc performance targets used to determine
incentive compensation for each of our executive officers in 2007 have not yet been determined.

Other Employee Grants.

Other Compensation. Each employment agreement provides the executive with certain other benefits, including reimbursement of business and entertainment expenses
and life insurance. Each executive is eligible to participate in all benefit plans and programs that are or in the future may be available to ather executive employees of our
company. in¢luding any profit-sharing plan, thrift plan, health insurance or health care plan, disability insurance, pension plan, supplemental retirement plan, vacatien and sick
leave plag, and other similar plans. The compensation committee in its discretion may revise, amend or add to the officer’s executive benefits and perquisites as it deems
advisable. We believe that these benefits and perquisites are typically provided to senior executives of similar companies.

Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation

Our compensation committee has certain duties and powers as described in its charter. The compensation committee is currently composed of the three nen-employee
directors named at the end of this report, each of whom is independent as defined by the Nasdaq Global Market listing standards.
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! The compensation commitiee has reviewed and discussed with management the disclosures contained in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this

proxy statement. Based upon this review and discussion, the compensation committee recommended to our Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and

Analysis section be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC.

Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors

Amy Kong

Q.Y.Ma

Frank Zheng

Executive Compensation

Summary Compensation Table

Name and Principal Positlon Year

Jeffrey Kang, Chairman, 2006

Chief Executive Officer

and President 2008
2004

Hope Ni, Chief Financial 2006

Officer. Secretary and

Director(1) 2005
2004

(i} Ms. Ni joined our company in August 2004.

Salury
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66,847
65,162
227144
125.000
117.000
54,000

SEC filings sometimes “incorporate information by reference.” This means that we are referring you to information that has previously been filed with the SEC, and that
this information should be considered as part of the filing you are reading. Unless we specifically state otherwise, this report shall not be deemed to be incorporated by
reference and shall not constitute soliciting material or otherwise be considered filed under the Securities Act or the Securities Exchange Act.

Non-Equity
Stock Option Incentive Plan All Other
Bonus Awards Awards Comg ion Comp lon Total
5) 4] 1] 1$) &3] ($}
— - 269,800 — 2471 339.118
—_ — 269,800 -— 1,048(2) 336,010
_ - - — 967(2) 23,711
—_ 372234 _ —_ — 497,234
— — 284.640 — — 401,640
_ - 25876 —_— -— 79,876

(2} Mr. Kang is entitled to retirement benefits under o PRC government-managed retirement plan, Expenses reluted to Mr. Kang's participation in the PRC government
managed retirement plan amounted to approximately RMB6,250 ($807) for the year ended December 31, 2006 and RMB8.458 ($1,048) for the year ended December 31,

2005 and RMBS,000 ($967) for each of the year ended December 31, 2004,

(3)  Mr. Kang is entitled to retirement benefits under Hong Kong’s mandatory provident fund scheme. Expenses related to Mr. Kang's participation in the mandatory
provident fund scheme amounted to approximatety HKID13,000 (31,664) for the year ended December 31, 2006,
(4) Al the shares of restricted stock were granted to Ms. Ni on March 8, 2006 and vested quarterly during the one-year period following the date of grant.

Grants of Plan Based Awards

The following table summarizes our awards made to our named executive ofticers under uny plan in 2006,

Al Other All Other
- - ) Stock Optlon Exercise Closing
Estlimated Future Payouts Under X
) Awards; Awards: or Base Price
Equity Incentlve Plan Awards Number of Number of of on
Shares of Securities Option Grant
Grant Approval Threshold Turget Muximum Stock ur Underlying Awards Date
Nome Date Dare (%) i#) ) Units (#) Options (#) 1§/ 5h) {$/5h
Jefirey Kang N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A — — — —_
Hepe Ni Mar. 8, 2006 Mar. 7, 2006 N/A N/A N/A 50,000 — — 9.14




2004 Incentive Stock Option Plan

On August 3, 2004, the Company's board of directors adopted the Comtech Group, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan {the Incentive Plan), under which 2,500,000 shares of
common stock are reserved for issuance upon exercise of stock options, and for the issuance of stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and performance shares. The
purpose of the Incentive Plan is to provide additional incentive to employees, directors, advisors and consultants by facilitating their acquisition of common stock. The
Incentive Plan provides for a term of ten years from the dute of its udoption by the board of directors (unless the Incentive Plan is earlier terminated), after which no awards
may be made. Options granted under the Incentive Plan are either incentive stock options (i.e.. options that afford favorable tax treatment to recipients upon compliance with
certain restrictions pursuani to Section 422 of the U.5. internal Revenue Code (IRC) and that do not result in tax deductions to us unless participants fail to comply with that
Scction) or options that do not so qualify.

Our beard of directors determines when options under the Incentive Plan are exercisable and the option exercise price. The Incentive Plan permits options 1o be
exercised with cash, check, certain other shares of our common stock, consideration received by us under “cashless exercise” programs, or if permitted by our board,
promissory notes or other property. Qur board also determines the performance goals and performance period for performance shares: the purchase price and conditions of
repurchase for restricied stock and the terms of stock appreciation rights, Our board may at any time accelerate the vesting of any outstanding award, In the event we are sold,
merged, consolidated, reorganized or liquidated, our board may take any of the following actions as to outstanding awards: (a} provide that the successor will assume or
provide a substitute for the awards; (b} provide that all unexercised options and stock appreciation rights shall terminate immediately prior to the consummation of the
transaction, if not previously exercised; (c) in the event of a sale where common stockholders receive cash for their shares, provide that each outstanding vested option and
stock appreciation right will be exchanged for a payment in cash equal 10 the excess of the sales price over the exercise price; and (d) make such other adjustments deemed
necessary to provide participants with a benefit subsiantially similar 1o that which they would have been entitled had the event not occurred. In the event of any stock
dividend. split, recapitalization or other similar change. cur board may adjust the number and kind of shares subject to outstanding awards, the exercise or purchase price of
awards, and any other equitable adjustments it deems appropriate.

The Incentive Plan and the Directors’ Plan are administered by the compensation commitiee of our board of directors, The compensation committee selects the
employees to whom awards are to be granted, the number of shares to be subject to such awards, and the terms and conditions of such awards, provided that any discretion
exercised by the compensation committee must be consistent with resolutions adopted by our board und the terms of the Incentive Plan.

As of December 31, 2003, options to purchase an aggregate of 2,357,500 shares had been granted under the Incentive Plan, and options to purchase an aggregate of
115,000 shares had been granted under the Directors’ Plan.

2006 Equity Incentive Plan
Awards

The 2006 Plan provides for the grant of options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs™), performance share awards and restricted stock awards of up to an aggregate of
4,800,000 shares of Common Stock to officers, employees and independent contractors of the Company or its affiliates. If any award expires, is cancelled. or terminates
unexercised or is forfeited, the number of shares subject thereto is again available for grant under the 2006 Plan. The number of shares of Common Stock for which awards may
be granted to a participant under the 2006 Plan in any calendar year cannot exceed 2,400,000,

Currently, there are 43 employees and directors who would be entitled 1o receive stock options and/or restricted shares under the 2006 Plan. Future new hires and
additional consultunts would be eligible to participate in the 2006 Plan as well. The number of stock options and/or restricted shares to be granted to executives and directors
cannot be determined at this time as the grant of stock options and/or restricted shares is dependent upon various factors such as hiring requirements and job performance.
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Administration of the 2006 Plan

The 2006 Plan is administered by the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors consisting of not less than two members of the Board, each of whom is
a “non-employee director” within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act and an “outside director” within the meaning of Code Section 162(m) (in
either case, the “Committee”). Among other things, the Committee has complete discretion, subject to the express limits of the 2006 Plan, to determine the employees and
independent contractors to be granted an award, the type of award to be granted, the number of shares of Common Stock subject to each award, the exercise price of each
option and base price of each SAR, the term of each award, the vesting schedule for an award, whether te accelerate vesting, the value of the stock, and the required
withholding. The Committee may amend, modify or terminate any cutstanding award, provided that the participant’s consent to such action is required if the action would
materially and adversely affect the participant. The Committee is also authorized to construe the award agreements, and may prescribe rules relating to the 2006 Plan.
Naotwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee does not have any authority to grant or modify an award under the 2006 Plan with terms or conditions that would cause the
grant, vesting or exercise to be considered nonqualified “deferred compensation” subject to Code Section 409A.

Options

Options granted under the 2006 Plan roay be either “incentive stock options” (“180s™}, which are intended to meet the requirements for special federal income tax
tseatment under the Code, or “nonqualified stock opticns™ ("NQSOs”). Options may be granted on such terms and conditions as the Committee may determine; provided,
however, that the exercise price of an option may not be less than the fair market value of the underiying stock on the date of grant and the term of the option my not exceed 10
years (110% of such value and 5 years in the case of an [SQ granted to an employee who owns (or is deemed to own) more than §0% of the total combined voting power of all
classes of capital stock of the Company or a parent or subsidiary of the Company). [SOs may only be granted to employees. In addition, the aggregate fair market value of
Common Stock covered by [SOs {determined at the time of grant) which are exercisable for the first time by an employee during any calendar year may not exceed $100,000.
Any excess is treated as a NQSO. ’

Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs)

An SAR entitles the participant, upon exercise, to receive an amount, in cash or stock or a combination thereof, equal to the increase in the fair market value of the
underlying stock between the date of grant and the date of exercise. SARs may be granted in tandem with, or independently of, options granted under the 2006 Plan. An SAR
granied in tandem with an option (1} is exercisable only at such times, and to the extent, that the related option is ¢xercisable in accordance with the procedure for exercise of
the related option; (2} terminates upon termination or exercise of the related option (likewise, the eption granted in tandemn with an SAR terminates upon exercise of the SAR);
{3) is transferable only with the related option; and (4) if the related option is an [SQ, may be exercised only when the value of the stock subject to the option exceeds the
exercise price of the option. An SAR that is not granted in tandem with an option is exercisable at such times as the Committee may specify.

Performance Shares

Performance share awards entitle the participant to acquire shares of stock upon attaining specified performance goals.

Restricted Stoek

A restricted stock award is a grant or sale of stock to the participant, subject to the Company’s right to repurchase all or part of the shares at their purchase price (or to
require forfeiture of such shares if purchased at no cost) in the event that conditions specified by the Committee in the award are not satisfied prior to the end of the time
period during which the shares subject to the award may be repurchased by or forfeited to the Company. The purchase price for each share of restricted stock may not be less
than the par value of the Company’s Common Stock.

Additional Terms

Except as provided in the 2006 Plan, awards granted under the 2006 Plan are not transferable and may be exercised only by the respective grantees during their lifetime
or by their guardian or legal representative.
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Each award agreement will specify, among other things, the effect on an award of the disability, death, retirement, authorized leave of absence or other termination of
employment, The Company may require a participant to pay the Company the amount of any required withholding in connection with the grant, vesting, exercise or disposition
of an award. A participant is not considered a stockholder with respect to the shares underlying an award until the shares are issued to the participant.

Term; Amendments

The 2006 Plan is effective for 10 years, unless it is sooner terminated or suspended. The Committee may at any time amend, alter, suspend or terminate the 2006 Plan;
provided, that no amendment requiring stockholder approval will be effective unless such approval has been obtained. No termination or suspension of the 2006 Plan will
affect an award which is outsianding at the time of the termination or suspension.

Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following is a general summary of the federal income tax consequences under current tax law of options, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock. It does not
purport to cover all of the special rules, including special rules relating to participants subject to Section 16(b} of the Exchange Act and the exercise of an option with
previously-acquired shares, or the state or local income or other tax consequences inherent in the ownership and exercise of stock options and the ownership and disposition
of the underlying shares or the ownership and disposition of restricted stock.

A participant does not recognize taxable income upon the grant of NQSO or an ISO. Upoen the exercise of a NQSO, the participant recognizes ordinary income in an
amount equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the shares acquired on the date of exercise over the exercise price thereof, and the Company will generally be
entitled to a deduction for such amount at that time, If the participant later sells shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of a NQSO, the participant recognizes long-term or
short-term capital gain or loss, depending on the period for which the shares were held. Long-term capital gain is generally subject to more favorable tax treatment than
ordinary income or short-term capital gain,

Upon the exercise of an SO, the participant does not recognize taxable income. If the participant disposes of the shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of an 150
meore than two years after the date of grant and more than one year after the transfer of the shares to the participant, the participant recognizes long-term capital gain or loss
and the Company is not be entitled 10 a deduction. However, if the participant disposes of such shares within the required holding period, all or a portion of the gain is treated
as ordinary income and the Company is generally entitled to deduct such amount.

In addition to the tax consequences described above, a participant may be subject to the alternative minimum tax, which is payable to the extent it exceeds the
participant’s regular tax. For this purpose, upon the exercise of an 180, the excess of the fair market value of the shares over the exercise price therefore is an adjustment which
increases alternative minimurm taxable income. In addition, the participant's basis in such shares is increased by such excess for purposes of computing the gain or loss on the
disposition of the shares for alternative minimum tax purposes. If 4 participant is required 10 pay an alternative minimum tax, the amount of such tax which is attributable to
deferral preferences (including the incentive option adjustment) is allowed as a credit against the participant’s regular tax liability in subsequent years. To the extent the credit
is not used, it is carried forward.

A participant does not recognize income upon the grant of an SAR. The participant has ordinary compensation income upon exercise of the SAR equal to the increase
in the vatue of the underlying shares, and the Company will generally be entitled to a deduction for such amount.

A participant does not recognize income on the receipt of a performance share award until the shares are received. At such time, the participant recognizes ordinary
compensition income equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the shares over any amount paid for the shares, and the Company is generally entitled to deduct
such amount at such time.

A participant who receives a grant of restricted stock generally recognizes ordinary compensation income equal to the excess, if any of fair market value of the stock at
the time the restriction lapses over any amount paid for the shares, Ahernatively, the participant may elect to be taxed on the vatue a1 the time of grant. The Company is
generally entitled to a deduction at the same time and in the same amount as the income required to be included by the participant.

50




Qutstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table summarizes the number of securities underlying outstanding plan awards for each named exccutive officer as of December 31, 2006.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Kquity
Equity Equity Incentive Plan
Incentive Incentive Plan Awards:
Plan Market Awards: Market or
Number of Number of Awards: Number Value of Number of Payout Value
Securities Securities Number of of Shares Shares or Unearned of Unearned
Undertying Underlying Securitics or Units Units of Shares, Units Shares, Units
Unexercised Unexercised Underlying of Stock Stk ar Other or Other
Options (¥) Options (#) Unexercised Option That That Rights That Rights That
Unearned Exercise Option Have Not Have Not Have Not Have Not
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Options (#) Price ($) Expiration Date Vested (#) Vested (§) Yested (#) Vested {$)
Jeffrey Kang 283,376 166,666 — 3.74 Nov. 11,2014 — — — -
Hope Ni 100,000 — — 3.00 Aug. 16,2014 125000 227,375 - —

[8)] 12,500 shares vest on ¢ach of June 8, 2006, Sept. 8, 2006 and Dec. 8, 2006.
(2 The market value of the shares that have not vested has been calculated by multiplying the number of shares times $18.19, which represents the last reported sale price
of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market on Decemnber 31, 2006, which is the last day of the most recent fiscal year.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table summarizes stock option excrcises by our named executive officers in 2006.

{Oiption Awards Stock Awards
Number of Shures Value Realized on Number of $hares Vaulue Realized on
Name Acqutired on Exercise (#)} Exercise ($) Acquired on Yesting (#) Vesting ($)
Jefirey Kang 49,957 $ 587494 — —
Hope Ni 110,000 $ 1060494 37,5000 546,250

(3] 12,500 shares vest on each of June 8, 2006, Dec. 8, 2006 and Sept. 8, 2006,

Pension Benefits

We do not sponsor any qualified or non-qualitied defined benefit plans.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

We do not maintain any non-qualified defined contribution or deferred compensation plans. The compensation committee may elect to provide our officers and other
employees with non-qualified defined contribution or deferred compensation benefits if the compensation commitiee determines that doing so is in our best interests.

Empleyment Agreements

On August 1, 2004, we entered into an employment agreement with Hope Ni to serve us our chief financial officer and secretary. The employment agreement ferminates
on December 31, 2007, but will be automatically extended unless either we give Ms. Ni notice prior to her termination date or Ms. Ni gives 30 days’ written notice to us of her
election not to extend, Under the terms of the agreement, Ms. Ni receives a base salary of $117,000 per annum and was graated ten-year options to purchase a total of 210,000
shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $3.00, which options are all fully vested. In March 2006, the compensatien committee approved a new compensation
package for Hope Ni which includes a base salary of $125,000 per annum and 50,000 additional restricted shares which will be vested quarterly over one year.
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Potential Payments Upoen Termination or Change In Control

The following are the payments we would have been required 10 make to Ms. Ni if her employment had been terminated by us without cause or by her resignation for
good reason, as of December 31, 2006:

Before Change After Change
in Control in Control
Termination Termination
wio Cause or wio Cause or Change
for Good for Good VYoluntary in
Name Benefit Regson Reason Termination Death Disability Control
Hope Ni Cash Severance § 3L250(1)  § 62,500(2) None None None  None

(1)  Equal to three times monthly salary.

(2)  Ifachange in control occurs prior to December 31, 2007 and we subsequently terminate Ms. Ni's employment without cause, or if she resigns for good reason prior to
the date that our hoard of direciors certifies our audit for the first complete fiscal year after the change in control (the Change in Control Audit Date), Ms. Ni will be
entitled to receive standard termination benefits and a payment equal to the greater of {a) six times her monthly salary or (b) 12 months salary less compensation paid to
her between the date of the change in control and the date of termination. If the change in control oecurs prior to December 31, 2007 and we terminate Ms. Ni's
employment without cause, or if she resigns for good reason after the Change in Contrel Audit Date, Ms. Ni will be entitled to the same termination benefits she would
have received had a change in control not occurred and we terminated her employment without cause or she resigned for good reason.

We are not obligated to make any cash payments to Ms. Ni if her employment is terminated by us for cause or by the executive not for good reason. No severance or
benefits are provided for any of the executive officers in the event of death or disability. If Ms. Ni's employment is terminated after the Change in Contral Audit Date,
other than as a result of her resignation, Ms, Ni will have the right to exercise all of her stock options. If Ms. Ni resigns prior to the Change in Control Audit Date,
notwithstanding the fact that her options are fully vested, Ms. Ni shall have the right to exercise a specified number of shares at a price to be determined under the
terms of the agreement at the time of her resignation. For purposes of Ms. Ni's employment agreement, a “change in control” means the consummation of a
reorganization, merger of consolidation of us with one or more other persons.

{3)  The employment agreement contains a provision that reduces the exercise price of Ms. Ni's options to $1.50 upon a change in control. The exercise price of Ms. Ni's
options is §3.00.

Director Compensation

The following table summarizes compensation that our directors earned during 2006 for services as members of our Board.

Change in
Pension
Value and
Nongualified
Fees Farned Non-Equity Deferred
ot Paid in Stock Option Incentive Plan Compensation All Other
Natne Cash (%) Awards ($) Awards ($) Compensation (§) Earnings (§) Compensation ($) Total {$)
Amy Kong 26,0004 — — — — — 26.000
QY. Ma 21,0002 - - — — - 21,000
Frank Zheng 21,0007 — — — — — 21,000
Mark Hauser" 20,0009 — — — — — 2000
Mark B. Segall®® 20,000 _— — — — —_— 20,000

(1)  Mark Hauser and Mark Segall are no longer members of our Board as of December 31, 2006 as they did not stand for re-election.
{2)  Received $5,000 for meeting attendance, $10,000 for acting as Chair of our audit committee and $1,000 for serving on the compensation committee and nominating and
corporale governance committees,
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(3)  Received $5,000 for meeting attendance, $5.000 for being a member of the audit committee and $1,000 for serving on the compensation committee and nominating and
corporate governance ¢ommittees.

#)  Received $5,000 for meeting attendance and $5,000 for providing capital market advice.

Each non-employee director who becomes u director after the grant of opiions is entitled fo receive options on a pro rata basis for the portion of the period for which
they will serve. All of the options granted to the incoming directors will be exercisable at the fair market value on the date of grant and will vest quarterly during the remainder
of the period foltowing the close of grant.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth, ss of March 12, 2007, certain information as to the stock ownership of (1) each person known by us to own beneficially more than five
percent of our common stock. (2) each of our directors, {3) each of our executive officers, and (4) our executive officers and directors as a group. Except as set forth in Note 11
to the table. the business address of each sharehalder is c/o Comtech Group, Inc. Company, Suite 1001, Tower C, Skyworth Building, High-Tech Industrial Park, Nanshan,
Shenzhen 518057, People's Republic of China.

Number of Shares

Percenlage
Name of Beneficial Owner Beneficinlly Owned !1) Ownershlp
Jeffrey Kang 10,862,067 32.8%
Hope Ni 150,000 *
Amy Kong - . .
Q.Y.Ma 10.000° .
Frank Zheng 7,500 .
All executive officers and directors as a group (3 persons) 11,029,567 33.3%
Principal Stockholders .
Nan Ji 10,537,024047 31.8%
Comiech Global Investment Lid. 10,537,024 31.8%
YiKang 2,669,528 8.1%
Ren Investment International Ltd. 2,669,528 8.1%

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent of oer outstanding shares.

(1) Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules and regulations of the U.S. Sccurities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In computing the number of
shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of thut person, shares of common stock subject to options held by that person that are currently
exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of Masch 12, 2007 are deemed outstanding. Such shares, however, are not deemed owtstanding for the purposes of computing
the percentage ownership of any other person. Except as indicated in the footnotes to the following table or pursuant to applicable community property laws, each
stockholder named in the table has sole voling and investment power with respect to the shares set forth opposite such stockholder’s name. The percentage of
beneficial ownership is based on 33,105,911 shares of common stock outstanding as of March 12, 2007.

Includes (a) 325,043 shares issuable upon exercise of currenily exercisuble stock options and (b) 10,537,024 shares beneficially owned by Comtech Global Investment
Lid., over which Mr. Jeffrey Kang and his wife. Ms. Nan Ji, share voting and investment power.

Includes 2,669,528 shares beneficially owned by Ren Investment Internationat Ltd., aver which Mr. Yi Kang, as sole director, has sole voting and investment power.
Mr. Yi Kang, the brother of Yeffery Kang, does not have an economic interest in any shares of Ren Investment International Lid.

Mr. Jeffrey Kang owns a 29% interest and Ms. Nan Ji a 71 % interest in Comtech Global Investment Lid. The directers of Comtech Global Investment Lid. are Mr. Jeffrey
Kang and Mr. Y1 Kang.

Includes (2) 100,000 shares issuable upon exercise of currently exercisable stock options and (b) 50,000 shares owned by Ms, Ni,

Represents shares issuable upon exercise of currently exercisable stock eptions.
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(") Represents 10,537,024 shares beneficially owned by Comiech Global Investment i.4d., over which Mr. Jeffrey Kang and his wife, Ms. Nan Ji, share voting and
investment power.

{8)  Shares of Ren [nvestment [nternational Lid. are beneficially owned by Mr. Yi Kang, who as sole director, has sole voting and investment power over the shares. Mr. Yi
Kang does not have any economic interest in any shares of Ren [nvestment International Lid.

FTEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Commercial Transactions

As at December 31, 2006. there was a unsetiled payable o Matsunichi, with no fixed repayment date, amounting to RMB 1.5 millien (30.2 million) in connection with this
purchase.

Other Related Party Transactions

Al the time of its incorporation, foreign shareholding in a trading business such as Shenzhen Comtech could not exceed 65%. With subsequent PRC deregulation.
foreign ownership of such a trading business can now reach 100%, and approval of foreign ownership of companies in the PRC engaged in commodity trading businesses—
which includes agency trade, wholesale, retail and franchise aperations is now delegated to local government agencies of the PRC Ministry of Commerce. In order to exercise
control over Shenzhen Comtech (4 PRC aperating company legally permitted to engage in a commodity trading business), without direct shareholding by us (a U.5.-listed
company 2nd therefore a foreign-invested entity). Honghui Li, our vice president, and Huimo Chen, the mother of our principal shareholder and chief executive officer, Jeffrey
Kang, hold 99% and | %, respectively, of the equity interests of Shenzhen Comtech, and through contractual agreements with us hold such equity interests exclusively for the
benefit of our 100% dircctly owned subsidiary, Camtech China. Shenzhen Comitech, in turn owns a 60% equity interest in another of our PRC operating companies, Shanghai
E&T, with the other 40% being held by Comtech China (BVI) through trust agreements. Under the trust agreements, Shenzben Comiech owns a 35% equity interest ip
Shanghai E&T for the benefit of Comiech China (BV1) and Honghui Li owns a 5% equity interest in Shanghai E&T for the benefit of Comtech China (BVI). While we do not
have any equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech, through these contractual agreements, we enjoy voting control and are entitled to the econumic interests associated with their
equity interest in Shenzhen Comitech. For additional details regarding these contractual agreements, sce “Risk Factors—Risks Related to our Business—We depend upon
contractual agreements with the two shareholders of Shenzhen Comtech in conducting our business through Shenzhen Comzech and Shanghai E&T and receiving payments.
which may not be as effective in providing operational control as direct ownership and may be difficult to enforce. Further, if the PRC government finds these contractval
agreements violate or conflict with PRC governmental regulations, our business would be materially adversely uffected.”

In 2005, Nan )i executed an agreement to transfer her 709 equity interest in $henzhen Comiech to Jeffrey Kang and her 1% equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech to
Huimo Chen, the mother of Jeffrey Kang, who is a PRC citizen. Jefirey Kang and Huimo Chen have also agreed that upon the successful transfer of Nan Ji's equity interest as
described above. they will enter into and be bound by the same contractual arrangements with Comtech China relating to the voting conirol of Shenzhen Comtech. In 2006,
Jeffrey Kang executed an agreement to 1ransfer his 9% equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech to Honghui Li.

On August 6, 2006, Comtech China, our wholly-owned subsidiary. entered into a share acquisition agreement pursuant to which Comtech China acquired the remaining
40% minority interests of Shanghai E&T for cash consideration of RMB16.000 ($2.024). Comtech China in turn entered inta trust agreements with Honghui Li and Shenzhen
Comtech. Uinder the trust agreements. Honghui Li owns 5% interest in Shanghai E&T. and Shenzhen Comtech owns 35% interest in Shanghai E&T, in addition 10 60% equity
interest it owned previously. We enjoy voting control over and all economic interests associated with Shanghai E&T.

At present, most of our business in China is done through Shenzhen Comtech and Shenzhen Communication, except for business in Shanghai. which is conducted
mostly through Shanghai E&T, No dividends have been paid or distributions made by Shenzhen Comtech to Comtech China thus far.

In the event any transaction in which we propose to engage is a related-person transaction, our manragement must present information regarding the proposed related-
person transaction to the disinterested non-employee members of our buard of directors for consideration and approval or ratification. The presemation must include a
description of, among other things, the material facts, the interests, direct and indirect, of the related persons. the benefits to us of the transaction and whether any alternative
transactions were available. To identify related-person transactions in advance, we rely on information supplied by our executive officers,
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directors and significant stockholders. In considering related-person transactions, the disinterested non-employee members of the board take into account the relevant
available facts and circumstances including, but not limited to (a) the risks, costs and benefits to us, (b} the impacton a director's independence in the event the related person
is a director, immediate family member of a director or an entity with which a director is affiliated, (¢} the terms of the transaction, (d) the availability of other sources for
comparable services or products and (e) the terms available 1o or from, as the case may be, unrelated third parties or to or from employees generally. In the event a director has
an interest in the proposed transaction., the director must excuse himself or herself from the deliberations and approvat. The poiicy requires that, in determining whether to
approve, ratify or reject a related-person transaction, the disinterested non-employee members of the board look at, in light of known circumstances, whether the transaction is
in, or is not inconsistent with, our best interests and our stockholders, as determined in the good faith exercise of such directors’ discretion.

Director Independence

See the information set forth in the section titled “Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance—Board Committees” in Part 111, Item 10 of this Annuat
Report.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table presents the aggregate fees for professional services and other services rendered by our principal accountant to us in 2006 and 2005.

2006 2005
o ) ) T (o milifons)
Audit fees 'V 43 RMB24
Audit-related fees o ) ' - —_ 1.9
Tax fees T T ST T ’ e ) N . 7 ' — 0.3
All other fees T 7 T T - ' 02 —
Total = - o ) o ’ RMB4.5 RMBR4.6

(1) Audit fees consist of fees billed for the professional services rendered for the audit of our consolidated financial stutements for each of these fiscal years and the review
of the interim financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.

We are required to obtain pre-approval by our audit committee for all audit and permitted non-audit services performed by our independent auditors. In accordance with
this requirement, during fiscal 2006, 100% of all audit, audit-related, tax and other services performed by KPMG were approved in advance by the audit committee. Any pre-
approved decisions are presented to the full audit committee at the next scheduled meeting. KPMG was our principal auditor and no work was performed by persons outside of
this firm.
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PARTIV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)}{1) Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Please see the accompanying Index 1o Consolidated Financial Statements which appears on page F-1 of this report. The Management's Report on laternal Control over
Financial Reporting, Repons of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms, Consolidated Financial Statemnents and Notes 10 Consolidated Financial Staiements which
are listed in the Index to Consolidated Financiat Statements and which appear beginning on page F-2 of this report are included in liem § above.

(2)(2) Financial Statements Schedute

All financial statements schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is included in the Consolidated Financial
Statements or notes thereto.

(c) Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as par1 of, or are incorporacted by reference in, this Form 10-K:

Description

3l Amended Articles of Restatement of the Anticles of Incorporation. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Anoual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yeur
ended December 31, 1996 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 15, 1997.)

ERTEN] Amendments to Articles of Incorperation, {Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on December 23, 2004, and subsequently
amended on February 2, 2005.)

32 Bylaws. (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form -1 filed on December 23. 2004 and subsequently amended un February 2, 2005.)

4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate. (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form $-1 filed on December 23, 2004, and subsequently amended on
February 2, 2005.)

4.2 Shareholders Agreement. dated July 23, 2004. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Form 8-K filed with the Sccurities and Exchange Commission on
July 22, 2004.)

0.1 Comtech Group, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Option Pian. (Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form §-1 filed on December 23, 2004, and

subsequently amended on February 2, 2005.)

10.2 Employment Agreement with Hope Ni, dated as of August 1, 2004, {Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on December 23,
2004, and subsequently amended on February 2, 2005.}

103 Revolving Credit Agreement with Bank of Communications Hong Kong branch, dated September 14, 2004. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,3 to our Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 filed on March 31, 2005)

104 Share Exchange Agreement between Trident Rowan Group Inc., Comtech Group Inc., and certain other parties, dated May 25, 2004, (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 28, 2005.)

10.5 Equity Joint Venture Agreement between Comtech Group, Inc. and Broadwell Group Ltd. dated January 17, 2005. {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,12 of
the Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 21, 2005.)
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10.6
10.7
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10.10
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10.12
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31.2%
204t
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+
it

Descriptlon

Trident 1995 Director’s Pian. {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 24. 1996.)

Agreement between Comtech Group, Inc. and United Information Technology Co. Lid., dated May 12, 2005, (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 101 of the Form 8-
K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 17, 2005.)

Agreement between Comtech Cayman and Century Teltone Technology Co. Ltd., dated November 9, 2005. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 17, 2005.)

Agreement, dated August 6, 2006, between Comtech Group, Inc. and United Information Technology Co., Ltd. (Incorporated by reference (¢ Exhibit 10.1 of the Form
8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2006}

Termination Agreement, dued August 6, 2006, between Comtech Group, Inc. and United Information Technology Co., Ltd. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of the Form 8K filed with the Securities znd Exchange Commission on August 9, 2006)

Shares Acquisition Agreement, dated August 6, 2006, between Comtech (China) Holding Ltd. and Duckworth Investments, Ltd, (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit §0.3 of the Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2006)

2006 Equity Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A 1o our Schedule A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 1., 2006.)

Deed Concerning Shares of Shanghai E & T System Company Limited, dated December 12, 2006, among Honghui Li and Comtech (China) Holding Lid.

Deed Concerning Shares of Shenzhen Comtech International Lid, dated Decermber 12, 2006, among Jeffrey (Jingwei) Kang, Honghui Li and Camtech {China) Holding
Liud.

Cade of Business Conduct and Ethics. (Ineorporated by reference to Exhibit 14,1 to our Form [0-K for the yeur ended December 31, 2004 file on March 31, 2005)
Consent of KPMG, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consent of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm§

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Power of Attorney {included on signature page to Form 10-K}

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certificution of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxtey Act of 2002.

Centification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant 1o Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

Centification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200Z.

Filed herewith
Furnished herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

COMTECH GROUP, INC.
By,  Jeffrey Kang
Dated: March 16, 2007 Name: Jeffrey Kang

Title:  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Jeffrey Kang and Hope Ni, and each of them,
his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any or all
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their substitutes, may lawfulty do or cause to be done by virue
hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Dated March 16, 2007 By Jeftfrey Kang

Name: Jeflrey Kang
Titte:  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated Match 16, 2007 py: Hape Ni

Name: Hope Ni
Title:  Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and Director
(Principal Financial Officer)

Dated March 16, 2007 By: amy gamg

Name: Amy Kong
Title:  Director

Dated March 16, 2007 By: (Y Ma

Name: Q.Y.Ma
Title:  Director

Dated March 16, 2007 Frank
By:

Name: Frank Zheng
Title:  Director
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate “internal control over financial reporting™ (as defined in Rule 132-15(f) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934} for Comtech Group Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “*Company™). Our internal controi over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial

statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that accurately and fairly reflect, in reasonabie detail, transactions and dispositions of cur assets,

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of finarcial statements in accordance with U.S, generally accepled
accounling principles and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the directors of the Company, and

{(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on
our financial statements.

Because of its inherent [imitations, internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness 10 future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of
Comtech’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006. In its evaluation, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commisston (COS0) in Internal Controi-Integrated Framework. Management believes that as of December 31, 2006, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria. The Board's management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting excluded those of Viewtran Cayman, a company acquired on December 15, 2006. Viewtran Cayman is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company whose
total assets represented approximately 7% of consolidated total assets and less than 1% of consolidated net sales as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006. 1f
adequately disclosed, companies are allowed to exclude acquisitions from their assessment of internal control over financial reporting during the first year of an acquisition
while integrating the acquired company under guidelines established by the U.S, Securities and Exchange Commission.

Based on our assessment and the criteria described above, management has concluded thai, as of December 31, 2006, our internal control over financial reporting was
effective.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm has issued an audit report on management's assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. This report is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Bourd of Directors and Stockholders

Comtech Group Inc.

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Contrel over Financial Reporting, that Comtech Group Inc. and
its subsidiaries (“the Company") maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in /niernal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Commitiee of Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“C0S0™}, The Company's management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion en the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over finuncial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Overstght Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Qur audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances, We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion,

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reperting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the compunys; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary (o permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and thai receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company: and {3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also. projections of any evaluation of elfectiveness lo
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, managememt's assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material
respects, based on criteria established in fnternal Control — Integrated Framework issued by Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
{*COSO"™). Also, in our opinion. the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria
established in Intermal Contro) ~ Integrated Framework issued by Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (*COS0").

The Company acquired Viewtran Cayman (the *Acquired Company™) on December 15, 2006, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of its internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 the Acquired Company's internal control over financial reporting associated with total assets representing
approximately 7% of total consolidated assets and less than 1% of consolidated net sales of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting of the Company excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of the Aequired Company.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet of Comtech
Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders” equity and comprehensive income., and cash
flows for the year ended December 31, 2006 and our report dated March 16, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPMG
Hong Kong, China

March 16, 2007




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED ACCOUNTING FIRM

Tao the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Comtech Group, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consalidated balance shect of Comtech Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2006 and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2006. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our andit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, a5 well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Comtech Group, Inc and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2006 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 have been translated into United States dollars sotely for the
convenience of the reader. We have audited the translation and. in our apinion, such consolidated financial statements expressed in Renminbi have been translated into
United States dollars on the basis set forth in Note 2(c} to the consolidated financial statements.

As discussed in note 2(n} to the consolidated financial statements, on lanvary 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS") No.123
(Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment”, using the modified prospective method, representing a change in the Company’s methed of accounting for stock-based
compensation.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States). the effectiveness of Comtech Group, Inc.'s
imernal controf over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ), and our report dated March 16, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and
the effective operation of, internal contrel over financial reporting.

KPMG
Hong Kong, China

March 16, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF COMTECH GROUP, INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Comtech Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2005 and the related
consolidated statements of operatioas, shareholders’ equity and other comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2005.
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is 10 express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit 10 obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged 1o perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

1n our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2005 and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generatly accepted in the United
States of America.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

March 23, 2006
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COMTECH GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands. except shares and per share amounis)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash
Pledged bank deposits

Accounlts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts

Bills receivable

Prepaid expenses and other receivables
Amount due from a minority stockholder
Inventories

Total current assets

Property and equipment, net
Intangible asseis, nel

Investment in an affiliated company
Goodwill

Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Trade accounts payable
Bank borrowings
Amounts due to related parties
Income taxes payable
) Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Total current lizbilities
Minority interests

Stockholders” equity: o
Commen stock (USDG.0I par vaiue

00 -1 00 O

- authorized 200,000,000 shares: issued and cuistanding 32,971,901 shares in 2006 and 31,445,058 shares in 2005)

Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total stockholders’ equity

Commitments and contingencies

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHQLDERS® EQUITY

Al December 31,

2000 2006 2008
usp RMB RMB _
48071 375,147 177,008
7.101 55416 40,692
35698 278589 267,543
4074 31,797 54,905
1,326 14,254 9,657
— — 468
9.22] 70959  i0.763
105991 827,162 661,126
1,588 12,395 6904’
2,502 19,528 —
53 416 —_
5,983 46,692 -
16 905 905
116,233 907,098 668,935
14,636 104217 ~ 104,308
1,879 30,272 35,779
145 1522 1816~
1,188 9,270 2,524
11,052 86,253 9.350°
30950 241,534 153777
21077 1646 8,599
349 2725 2,602
51604 402,721 358,775
35,352 275890 152615
2,232) {17418 (7.433)
85073 663,918 506,559
116233  907.098 668935

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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COMTECH GROUP, INC.

C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

{in thousands, except shares and per share amounts)

Note 2006 2006 2005 2004
— T UsD RMEB RMEB RME
Net sales -7 ) 7
Product revenue o i . ) . 15 162,629 1.269.176 866,332 625,656
Services revenue - i 15 6,969 54,387 — —
169,598 1,323,563 366,332 625,656
Cost of sales )
Cost of goods sold 7 (133.642) (1,042.951) (714.881) (530,800)
Cost of services ) (4,347} (33,928) — —
(137.989)  (1,076879) {T14.881) {530,800}
Giross profit i o o 31,609 245,684 151.451 94,856
Selling, general and administrative o
expenses . o o {11,544} (90.097) {38.970) (21,092)
Research and development expenses ) ) ) (3,585) (27,977 {15.837) (6,121)
Other operating income i ) i i 24 185 180 1,110
Income from operations ] ) 16,504 128,795 96,824 68,753
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 12 855 6,673 — —
Interest expense 7 o . - L) {2.896) (1,762) (2,156)
Interest income ’ ) i 942 1352 2493 38
Income before income taxes and minority interests - 17930 139,924 97.555 66,635
Income taxes o i ) 10 (1.423) {iL.14) {6,736) (2.300)
Income before minority interests ) B 16,507 128,820 90.819 64,335
Minority interests in income of conselidated subsidiaries o . L (711} (5.545) {397 (2,133)
Net income 15,796 123,275 86,842 62,202
Earnings per share o
Basic 14 0.49 3.83 3.08 2.87
Diluted ) o S " 14 047 3.64 194 2.84
Weighted average number of common shares cutstanding o N L . ]
Basic 7 ) o 14 32200044 32,200,044 28,168,274 21,690,560
Diluted 14 33,829,519 33,829,519 29,507,939 21,885,052

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




COMTECH GROUP, INC.

C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands. except shares and per share amounts)

Balance at January |, 2004

Net income

Common stock held by Trident's stockholders

Recapitalization in connection with the share exchange
transaction

Deferred stock-based compensation

Amonizaon of deferred stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock in connection with private placement

Balance at December 31, 2004

Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustments

Comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock on exercise of warrants
Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation

Issuance of common stock in connection with public offering

Balance at December 31, 2005

Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustments

Comprehensive income

Issuance of common stock on exercise of warrants and options
Repurchase of shares issued under stock option exercises
Stock-based compensation

Balance at December 31, 2006
Balance at December 31, 2006 (in USD)

Accumulated
Additional Deferred other Total
paid-in stock-based Retained comprehensive stockholders'

Common stock capital tompensation earnings toss eguity

Number of shares RME RMB RMB RMB RMB KMB
20.251.075 1,676 12,407 — 3571 — 17,654
- — — - 62,202 — 62.202
1,959,950 162 162 -— —_ — 324
— — 23,181 -— — —_ 23,18)

_ — 348 (348) - — —

— — — 101 — — 101
3,150,000 261 82,283 — — §2.546
25.361.025 2,099 118.383 (247) 65773 — 186,008
—_ — — —_ 36842 — 36,342
_ _ _ — — (7.433) (7433
— —_ — — —_ _ 79,409
171,873 14 — —— — — 14
— — — 247 — — 247
5,912,160 489 240,392 — —— 240,881
31,445,058 2.602 358,775 — 152,615 (7.433) 306,559
— —_ —_ — 123.275 — 123,275
_ — — — — (9,985) {9.985}
— — — — — — 113,290
1,635.482 132 37,851 — — — 37,933
(£08.639) [¢] (13,934) — — m (13.943)
— — 20,029 — — — 20,029
32,971,901 2.725 402,721 — 275,890 (17.418) 663,918
USD 349  USD 51.604 UsSb — USD 35,352 USD(2,232)  USD 85,073

See accompanying notes 10 consolidated [inancial statements.
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COMTECH GROUP, INC.

C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Cash flows frem operating activities:
Net income )
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Amortization of intangible assets
[.oss on disposal of property and equipment
Gain on disposal of subsidiary
Minority interests
Stock-based compensation
Changes in current assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and dispositions:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other receivables
Bill receivables
Inventories
Trade accounts payable
Amounts due to related parties
Income taxes payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Decrease in pledged bank deposits
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Payment for acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Investment in an affiliated company
Ne1 proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries
{Increase)/decrease in other assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock (net of transaction cost)
Net cash from share exchange transaction (net of transaction cost)
Proceeds from exercises of stock warrants and options
Payments for repurchase of shares issued under stock options exercises
Proceeds from new bank berrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings
Repayment of amount due to holding company
Dividend paid
Contribution from minerity interest
Dividend paid to minority interest

Net cash provided by financing activities

Eftect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase in cash

Cash at beginning of the year

Cash at end of the year

Supplementary disclosures:
interest paid

Income taxes paid

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years ended December 31,

2006 2006 2005 2004
UsD KMB RMB RMB
15,796 123,275 86,842 62,202
102 2359 974 013
89 695 — —
12 94 —_ —
(855)  (6.67%) — —
Tl 5,545 3977 2,133
2566 20,029 247 10t
(692)  (5.398) (100.086) (71.588)
{1L073) (8.377) {7,509) 5380
2897 22608 22433 (64032)
3443 26870 (94860) 4136
767 5984 51,403 1,386
(38) (294) (376) 600
666 5,198 1,037 585
1,400 10,923 844 (2.155)
25091 202838 (35074)  (80.339)
2057y {16055)  (40,692) —
963 (1514 (4368 (1,033
| 5 — —_
(1,629  (12,708) — (906)
(39 (421) — —_
3555 271,742 _— —
— — (905) 344
(1.147) {8.952) (46,158) (1,595)
— — 234695 84036
— — — 26695
4867 37983 — —
(1.786)  (13,943) — —
—_ — — 53,707
(808)  (6,303) (17377 —
— — —  (50,356)
— — —  (41387)
424 3309 — —
(1,169) (9.124) — —
1528 11920 217,318 72,695
994 (2.757) (432) —
25378 198,049 135654 10,761
22693 1771098 41444 30,683
43071 375147 177098 41444
k¥l 2,896 1,762 2,156
558 4,358 5,661 1,608




COMTECH GROUP, INC.

N OTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{in thousands, except shares and per share amounts)

L ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Comtech Group, Inc. (the “Company™), formerty Trident Rowan Group Inc. (the “‘Parent™), and its subsidiaries (together, the "Group”) are principally engaged in the sale
of component parts for electronic devices and equipment such as liquid crystat display, cameras, persistent storage, and peripherat devices for wireless handsets and
fixed-line telecommunication to manufacturers in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"} and other overseas countries. The Group also provides technology and
engineering, business process outsourcing and other services in the PRC,

On May 25, 2004, the Parent entered ir;to a share exchange agreement (the "Share Exchange Agreement”) with Comiech Group, a Cayman Islands corporation, pursuant
0 which the Parent acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Comtech Group in exchange for the issuance in the aggregate of 20,251,075 shares of the
Parent’s common stock on July 22, 2004. As a result of the transaction, Comtech Group became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Parent and because the former
stockholders of Comtech Group acquired approximately 91,2% of the Parent's outstanding stock, this acquisition was accounted for as a reverse acquisition in which
Comitech Group was deemed to be the accounting acquirer and the Parent the legal acquirer. The Parent changed its name 10 Comtech Group, Inc. on August 2, 2004,

Accordingly, the historical consolidated finaneial statements of the Company for periods prior to the date of the transaction are those of Comtech Group, as the
accounting acquirer, and all references to the consolidated financial statements of the Company apply 1o the historical firancial statements of Comtech Group prior to
the transaction and the consolidated financial statements of the Company subsequent to the transaction, The Company's shares have been restated retroactively to
reflect the share exchange ratio as at the date of the transaction in a manner similar to a stock split.

As a part of the Share Exchange Agreement, the Company assumed fully vested options previously issued by the Parent to purchase 115,000 shares of common stock
with an exercise price of USD 3.00 per share. Additionally, the Company assumed 925,417 fully exercisable common stock warrants previously issued by the Parent.
Each warrant represents the right to receive | share of the Company's common stock, at an exercise price of USD3.00 per share for 484,452 commeon stock warrants and
USD2.50 per share for 440,965 common stock warrants, The options and warrants assumed from the Parent will expire on July 1, 2009,

On January 14, 2005, the Company's board of directors approved a one-for-two reverse stock split of common stock of the Company, All per share amounts and
outstanding shares, including all common stock equivalents (stock options and warrants), have been retroactively restated for all periods presented to reflect the
reverse stock split.

On July 20, 2005, the Company publicly sold 5,912,160 shares of the Company's common stock at USD5.1425 per share, after underwriting discounts and commissions,
for gross proceeds of approximatety RMB245,000 (USD30,000).
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COMTECH GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except shares and per share amounts}

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS - continued
As of December 31, 2006, the subsidiaries of the Company include the following:

Place and date of incorporation/

Attributable eguity interest

Name of company establishment held Principal activity
Alphalink Global Limited BVl 100% Investment holding
November 23, 2004
COGO Enginecring Services Limited British Virgin Istands ("BVI") 51.12% lnvestment holding {note b)
(previously known as "Huameng December 8, 2005
Engincering Services Limited™)
(“Huameng BVI™)
Comloca Technology (Shenzhen) People’s Republic of China (“PRC™) 6% Location-based search business
Comgany Limited ("Comloca™) November 3, 2005
Comtech Broadband Corporation Limited Hong Kong 55% Sales of electronics components
("Comtech Broadband™) March 23, 2005 and related products
Comtech (China) Holding Limited BV! 100% Investment holding
("Comiech China™) May 27, 2002
Comtech Communication Technology PRC 100% Sales of electronics components
{Shenzhen) Company Limited July 23, 2002 and related products
{"Comtech Communication")
Comtech Group Cayman [slands 100% Investment holding
April 26, 2002
Comitech (Hong Kong) Holding Limited BVI 100% Investment holding
("Comtech Holding") May 27, 2002
Comtech International (Hong Kong) Hong Kong 100% Sales of electronics components
Limited ("Comtech Hong Kong™) July 14,2000 and related products
Comtech Software Techrology PRC 100% Sales of electronics components
{Shenzhen) Company Limited March 18, 2004 and related products and research
("Comtech Software") and development of software
products
Comtech Wireless Limited ("Comtech BVI 60% Investment holding
Wireless") July 7, 2005
OAM S.p.A.("OAM") laly 98.6% Non-operating subsidiary
Reliable Group Limited BVI 100% Investment holding
January 7, 2005
Shenzhen Conuech International Limited PRC 100% Sales of electronics components
("Shenzhen Comtech™) July 4, 1996 and related products (note a)
Shanghai E&T System Company Limited PRC 100% Sales of electronics components
("Shanghui E & T") June 5, 2003 and related products (notes a and
b)
Shenzhen Huameng Software Company PRC 51.12% Provision of technology and
Limited (*Huameng PRC”) business November 26, 2003 engineering services, outsourcing,

process
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COMTECH GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except shares and per share amounts)

1,

ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS - continued

Place and date of incorporation/ Altributable equity

Name of company ] establishment interest held Principal activity

Viewtran Technology Limited Cayman Islands 100% I[nvestment holding {note b)
(“Viewtran Cayman™} December 2, 2002

Viewtran Technology (Shenzhen) Co.. PRC 100% Provision of media communication
Limited (“Viewtran PRC") Juby 12,2000 and collaboration platforms and

Note a

Note b

solutions
(note b)

The Company exercises its control over Shenzhen Comtech, which in turn, has a controlling interest in Shanghai E&T, through a declaration of trust
dated December 30, 2003 (“Declaration of Trust™) entered into between the Comtech China, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Shenzhen Comtech's legal shareholders (“Legal Shareholders™), Jeffrey Kang, whe is the principal sharcholder and chief executive officer, and his
wife, Nan Ji. Pursuant to the Declaration of Trust, the Legal Sharcholders transferred their 100% equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech to Comtech
China that was accounted as a business combination under commeon control and agreed to hold the equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech on behalf of
Comtech China and waive their full rights and risks of ownership of the equity interesis in favor of Comtech China, In 2005, Nan Ji, executed an
agreement to transfer her 70% equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech to Jeffrey Kang and her 1 % equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech to Huimo Chen,
the mother of Jeffrey Kang, who is a PRC citizen. In 2006, Jeffrey Kang executed an agreement to transfer his 99% equity interest in Shenzhen
Comtech to Honghui Li, Vice President of the Group, who is a PRC citizen. Huimo Chen and Honghui Li have also entered into and bound by similar
legal arrangements with Corntech China relating 10 holding of the equity interest in Shenzhen Comtech on behalf of Comtech China and waiving their
full rights and risks of ownership of the equity interests in favor of Comtech China. In addition, Shenzhen Comtech and Honghui Li entered into and
bound by similar legal arrangements with Comtech China relating to holding of 35% and 5% equity interest in Shanghai E&T on behalf of Comtech
China and waived their full rights and risks of ownership of the equity interests in favor of Comtech China, respectively.

Details of the acquisition of Huameng BVI, Huameng PRC, Shanghai E&T, Viewtran Cayman and Viewtran PRC are set out in note 8.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.5. GAAP").

{a)

&)

Principle of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Comtech Group, Inc. and its majority owned subsidiaries. Al significant inter-company balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consofidation. [n addition, the Group also consolidated any variable interest entities (“VIE's™) of which it is the primary
beneficiary, as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board (“"FASB") Interpretation No. 46 (R} Consnlidation of Variable Interest Entities an
interpretation of ARB No. 51{"FIN 46R™).

Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial s1atements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management of the Group to
make a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities a1
the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Significant items subject to such
estimates and assumptions include the carrying amount of property, ptant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets; valuation allowances for doubtful
receivables and deferred tax assets; valuation of share-based compensation; depreciation and amortizable lives; recoverability of inventories; and amounts
recorded for contingencies. These estimates are often based on complex judgments and assumptions that management believe to be reasonable but are
inherently uncertain and unpredictable. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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COMTECH GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{e)

(d)

(e)

{in thousands, except shares and per share amounts})

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

Transacticens denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the trunsaction. Monetary asscts and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are translated into the functional currency using the
applicable exchange rates ul the balance sheet dates. The resulting exchange differences are recorded in the consolidated statement of operations.

The Group’s reporting currency is the Renminbi (“RMB™). The functional currency of the Company's subsidiaries in the PRC is the RMB as the PRC is primary
economic environment in which these entities operate.

The functional currency of the Company is the US dollar (“USD™). In addition, the functional currency of the Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong is the Hong Kong
dotlar (“HKD'"'). Assets and liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the RMB are translated into RMB, in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards {“SFAS™ No 52, Foreign Currency Transiation, using the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Revenues and
expenses are translated at average rates prevailing during the year. The gains and losses resulting from translation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are
recorded as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity.

For the U.S. dollar convenience translation amounts included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the RMB amounts were translated into USD at the
rate of USD1.00 = RMB7.8041, representing the rate quoted by the People’s Bank of China at the close of business on December 29, 2006. No representation is made
that the RMB amounts could have been, or could be, converted into USD at that rate or at any particular rate or at all.

Cash and Pledged Bank Deposits

Cash consists of cash on hand, cash in bank accounts and interest-bearing savings accounts, Cash deposits that are restricied as to withdrawal or pledged as security,
are disclosed separately on the face of the consolidated balance sheet, and not included in the cash total for the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flow,

Trade Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Group's best estimate of the
amount of probable credit losses in the Group's existing accounts receivable. The Group determines the allowance based on a review of specifically identified accounts
and ageing data. The Group reviews its allowance for doubtful accounts monthly. Past due balances over 90 days and over a specified amount are reviewed individually
for collectibility. All other balances are reviewed on a poeled basis.

Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhousted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The
Company's subsidiaries in the PRC are required to comply with local tax requirements on the write-offs of doubtful accounts, which allow for such write-offs only when
sufficient evidence is available to prove the debtors’ inability 1o make payments. For financial reporting purposes, the Group generally records write-offs of doubtful
accounts ut the same time the local tax requirements for the write-offs are met. As a result, there may be time lags between the time when a provision for doubtful
accounts is provided and the time the doubtful accounts and the related allowunce are written off.

Apart from those disclosed in note 17(c), the Group does not have any off balance-sheet credit exposure related to its customers.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out method. Cost of inventories comprises direct materials.
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COMTECH GROUP, INC.

—_————eeen T

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands. excepk shares and per share amounts)

2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

(g) Long-lived Assets
Property and Equipment and Intangible Assets
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives
are as foltows:

Office unit 20 years

Machinery 3 years

Fumniture and office equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years
[ntangible assets with estimable usefu) lives are amontized over their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated residual values. The estimated useful lives are
as follows:

Customer relationships 5 years

Proprietary technology 3 years

Software assets 3 years

License agreements 2 years

Non-competc agreements t year
In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets ("SFAS No. 144™), long-tived assets, such as property and equipment,
and purchased intangible assets subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate thai the carrying amount of
an assel may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets 10 be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge
is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset, Assets Lo be disposed of are separately presented in the
balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair valuc less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a disposal
group classified as held for sale are presented separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of the balance sheel.
Goadwill
Goodwill represents the excess of costs over fair value of assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annuzlly in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
Goodwill is tested for impairment more frequently if events and circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. This determination is made at the reporting unit
level and consists of two steps. First the Group determines the fair value of a reporting unit and compares it o the reporting unit’s carrying amount, including goodwill.
Second. if the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized for any excess of the carrying amount of the reporting unit's
goodwill over the implied fair value of that goodwill. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined by allocating the fair value of the reporting wnit in a manner similar
to a purchase price allocation. The residual fair value after this allocation is the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill.

(h)  Investmentin an Affiliated Company

An investment in an affiliated company is an entity in which the Group has significant influence. but not control , over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an affiliated company is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method and is initially recorded at cost and adjusted
thereafter for the Group's share of the affiliate’s income and losses. When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in the affiliate. the Group's interest is reduced
to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except shares and per share amounts)

{0

W

k)

(]

(m)

)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liabitity method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit camy
forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted 1ax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected (o be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date.

Revenue Recognition

Sales of Components

The Company recognizes revenue when the components are delivered and the customer takes ownetship and assumes risk of oss, collections of the retevant receivable
is probable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists and the sales price is fixed or determinable.

Sales of components represent the invoiced value of goods, net of value added taxes (*VAT"), sales returns, trade discounts and allowances.

In the PRC, VAT at a general rate of 17% on invoice amount is coltected on behalf of tax authorities in respect of the sales of products and is not recorded as revenue.
VAT collected from customers, net of VAT paid for purchases, is recorded as a liability in the conselidated balance sheets until it is paid to the authorities.

Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company are eligible to receive a refund of a portion of the VAT paid to the local tax authority. The refund is reported as other revenue
in the consolidated statements of income, as it is akin to a2 government operating subsidy, and is recognized as revenue upon receipt since the refund amount is
discretionary and the amount varies year to year based on the availability of government funds as determined by the local tax authority.

Engineering Services

Revenue for services is generally recognized when services are performed.

Research and Development and Advertising

Research und development and advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs amounted to RMB26,924 (USD4,336), RMB15,837 and
RMBG,121 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Advertising costs amounted to RMB2,257 (USD289), RMB1,210 and RMB 1,200 for the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 respectively.

Shipping and handling fees and costs

Costs incurred by the Group for shipping and handling, including costs paid to third-party transportation companies, to transport and deliver products to customers,
are in¢luded in *Selling expenses”. Shipping and handling fees and costs amounted to RMBS, 184 (USD664), RMB3,351 and RMB 1,581 for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively,

Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income refers o revenues, expenses, gains and losses that under .S, GAAP are included in comprehensive income but are excluded from net
income as these amounts are recorded as a component of stockholders’ equity, The Company's other comprehensive income represented foreign currency translation
adjustment.

Stock-based Compensation

Prior to 2006, the Group applied the intrinsic value method as atlowed in SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock Based Compensation (“SFAS No. 123"}, and related
interpretations, in accounting for stock options, Under the intrinsic value method, compensation cost for stock options is measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted
market price of the Company’s common stock at the date of the grant over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. Compensation cost is recognized on
a straight line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the same as the vesting period.
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COMTECH GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except shares and per share amounts)

(n)

(o)

)

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Stock-based Compensation - continued

Effective January 1. 2006, the Group adopted SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Paymeni ("SFAS No. 123R™). SFAS No. 123R replaces SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123R
requires that all stock-based compensation be recognized as an expense in the conselidated financial statements and that such cost be measured at the fair value of the
award and requires compensation cost to reflect estimated forfeitures. SFAS No. 123R was adopted using the modified prospective method of application. Under this
method, the Group recorded stock-based compensation expense for awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006 and for stock-based awards
granted after January 1, 2006. Compensation cost is recognized on & straight line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the same as the vesting
period.

The Company currently uses authorized and unissued shares to satisfy share award exercises.

The adoption of SFAS No. 123R effective Janvary 1, 2006, resulted in recognition of incremental stock-based compensation expense of RMB20,029 (USD2,566) for the
year ended December 31, 2006, Since stock-based compensation is not tax deduciible in the PRC and the Company does not generate any taxable income in the United
States, no related tax bencefit has been recognized.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 as if the Group had applied the [ir value recognition provisions
of SFAS No. 123 to options granted under the Company's stock plans rather than APB No. 25. No pro forma disclosure has been made for periods following the
adoption of SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006 as ail stock-based compensation has been recognized in net income. For purpose of this pro forma disclosure, the value
of the options is estimated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model and amortized to expense over the options’ service periods with forfeitures recognized as they
occurred, :

2005 2004
i o o ) B RMBE
Net income as reported ) 86,842 62,202
Share-based employee compensation expense included in reported )
Net income 247 161
Pro forma compensation expense, net of nil tax benefit (14.677) {2,103}
Pro forma net income ' ) - 72412 60,200
Earnings per share — basic
As reported 3.08 287
Pro forma 2.57 178
Earnings per share — diluted _ A )
As reported 294 2.84
Pro forma 245 275
“ e —_—

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock, and with respect to dituted earnings per share, also includes the effect of
all dilutive potential common stock outstanding. Dilutive potential common stock resuelts from dilutive stock options and warrants. The effect of such dilutive potential
common stock on earnings per share is computed using the treasury stock method.

Commitments and Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines and other sources are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred
and the amount of the assessment can be reasonable estimated.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{in thousands, except shares and per share amounts)

(g)

(r}

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemenis

In September 2005, the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF") issued EITF [ssue No. 04-13, Accounting for Purchases and Sales of Inventory with the Same
Counterparty. EITF 04-13 provides guidance as to when purchases and sales of inventory with the same counterparty should be accounted for as a single exchange
transaction. EFTF 04-13 also provides guidance as to when a nonmonetary exchange of inventory should be accounted for at fair value. EITF 04-13 wiil be applied to
new arrangements entered into, and meditication or renewals of existing arrangements occurring after January [, 2007. The Group does not expect the adoption of EITF
04-13 will have a significant effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Acceunting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN 48™). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in the Company’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attributes for the
financial statement recognition and measurement of & tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The provisions of FIN 48 ure effective for the fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006. The Group does not expect that the adoption of FIN 48 will have a significant effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS Na. 157, Fair Value Measurements (*SFAS No. 157"), which defines fair value, provides a framework for measuring fair
value, and expands the disclosures required for fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies to other accounting proncuncements that require fair value
measurements and does not require any new fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and is required 1o be
adopted by the Group in fiscal year 2008, Although the Group will continue to evaluate the application of SFAS No. 157, management does not currently believe the
adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have a materiul impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

[n February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Lighilities — Inciuding an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 115 (“SFAS No 159), SFAS No. 139 permits an entity to elect fuir value as the initial and subsequent measurement attribute for many financial assets and
liabilities. Entities electing the fair value option would be required to recognize changes in fair value in earnings. Entities electing the fair value option are required to
distinguish, on the face of the statement of financial position, the fair value of assets and liabilities for which the fair value option hus been elected and similar assets
and liabilities measured using another measurement attribute. The Group is required to adopt SFAS No 159 beginning on fanuary 1, 2008. The adjustment to reflect the
difference between the fair value and the carrying amount would be accounted for as a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the date of initial
adoption. Although the Group will continue to evaluate the provisions of SFAS No. 159, managemens currently does not believe the adoption of SFAS Ne. 159 will have
a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopred Accounting Pronouncements

In September 20006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Missiaremenis when Quantifving Misstatements in Current
Yeur Financial Statememnts (“SAB No 108”). SAB No. 108 provides interpretive guidance on how the effects of the carryover or reversal of priar year misstatements
should be considered in quantifying a current year misstatement. Under SAB No. 108, the Group should quantify errors using both a balance sheet and income
statement approach (“dual approach™) and evaluate whether either approach results in a misstatement that is material when all relevant quantitative and qualitative
factors are considered. The adoption of SAB 108 did not have any impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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3 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

Accounts receivable consist of the following:

Accouni receivable _ ) B ST
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts

An analysis of the allowance for doubtful accounts is follows:

Balance at beginning of year ’ B T
Charges to consolidated statement of income . o
Written-off against accounts receivable o

Balance at end of year

2006 2006 2005
UsD RMB RMB

TOTATEI3 T 294,004 0 275038

(1.975) (15419 (7499
35698 278,580  267.543

2006 2006 2008 2004

UsD  RMB RMB RMB

960 74957 3833 4145

1015 7920 3662 0 —

- o — 31y

1975 15415 7495 3,833

The Group has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on a ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit

over a certain amount.
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4. BILLS RECEIVABLE
To reduce the Group’s credit risk, the Group has required certain customers (o pay for the sale of the Group’s products by bills receivable. Bills receivable represents a
short-term notes receivable issued by a financial institution that entitles the Group to receive the full face amount from the financial institution at maturity, which
generally ranges from 3 to & months from the date of issuance. Historically, the Group has experienced no losses on bills receivable.

The Group, in certain circumstances, has arranged to transfer with recourse certain of its bills receivable 1o banks. Under this discounting arrangement, the bank pays a
discounted amount 10 the Group and collects the amounts owed from the customers' banks, The discount typically ranges from 0.6% to 0.8% of the balance transferred,
which is recorded as interest expense.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Group received proceeds from the sales of the bills receivable amounting to RMB 106,935 (USD13,702),
RMB60.751 and RMB 157,683, respectively. In addition, the Group recorded discounts amounting to RMB781 (USD100), RMB379 and RMB 1,285 in respect of the bills
receivable sold for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, which have been included in interest expense.

For certain bills receivable sold to banks that the Group has surrendered contrel. the Group derecognised these discounted bills receivable pursuant to the provisions
of SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities ("SFAS No. 140). As at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
the Group has derecognized discounted bills receivable amounting to RMB58,531 (USD7,500) and RMB Nil, respectively in accordance with SFAS No, 140, Discounted
bills receivable under such arrangement that are not derecognized pursuant to SFAS No. 140 amounted to RMB Nil (USD Nil) and RMB 14,472 as of December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively and are accounted for as secured borrowings and included in “Bank borrowings”,

. INVENTORIES

Inventories by major categories are summarized as follows:

2006 2006 2008

~ o UsDh RMB RMB
Raw materials i 473 1,604 1979
Finished goods 3,748 68,265 107,784

9,221 71,959 110,763

Inventories amounting to RMB 7,369 (USD 924}, RMB 3,867 and RMB 628 were written off in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

6 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment consists of the following:

2006 2006 2005

i ) 7 USD RMB RME
Office unit o 214 Len 1,706
Machinery ) 137 1,066 574
Furniture and office equipment ) R 1487 11,605 4,533
Motor vehicles 453 3.536 2,965
Total i ' 2391 17878 10,178
Less: accumulated depreciation (703) (5483 {3.274)
Property and equipment, net ) o ' 1588 12,395 5,504

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was RMB2.359 (USD302), RMB974, and RMB?13, respectively.
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(a)

RMB
Cash ' o o T . _206]
Accounts receivable i 6,741
Prepaid expenses and other receivables i S T ) .
Property, plant and equipment 409
Total assets acquired ’ o o T ST 7,598
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (829}
Net assets acquired - - S ST o T 6769

INVESTMENT IN AN AFFILIATED COMPANY

In June 2006, Huameng BVI established a joint venture, COGO Engineering Services (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd ("COGO Malaysia™), with Silver Ridge Sdr Bhd. Huameng BVI
contributed RMB416 for 56% equity interest in COGO Malaysia. The investment in COGO Malaysia has been accounted under the equity method in accordance with
EITE96-16 Investor's Accounting for an Investee When the Investor Has a Majority of the Voting Interest but the Minority Shareholder or Shareholders Have Certain
Approval or Veto Rights since the minority shareholder has certain approval or veto rights over the operations of COGO Malaysia. As at December 31, 2006, COGO
Malaysia has not commenced operations.

ACQUISITIONS, GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Acguisitions
Huameng BVI and Huameng PRC

As part of the Group’s expansion into the engineering services business, Comtech Group entered into an agreement on January 11, 2006 to acquire a 51.12% equity
interest in Huameng BVI, an investment holding company, for a cash consideration of RMB44 (USDS5) which in turn acquired a 100% equity interest in Hoameng PRC
for RMB6,769 (USD847) payable in cash. Huameng PRC is engaged in the provisien of technology and engineering services, business process outsourcing, and related
training and maintenance services.

The acquisition of Huameng PRC, through Huameng BVI, was accounted for by the Group as a purchase business combination. The following table summarizes
Comiech Group's share of fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

Shanghai E&T

On August 6, 2006, Comtech China, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share acquisition agreement pursuant to which Comtech China acquired
the remaining 40% minority interests of Shanghai E&T for cash consideration of RMB 16,000 (USD2,024). The acquisition of the remaining 40% of Shanghai E&T was
accountéd for by the Group as a step purchase transaction. The purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed on
the basis of their respective estimated fair values on the acquisition date. The acquisition of the 40% of Shanghai E&T resulted in the recognition of goodwill of
RMB4,264 and an intangible asset of RMB5,467. The intangible asset acquired consisted of customer relationships and is being amortized using the straight-line
method over 5 years.
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8 ACQUISTIONS, GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS - continued

{a}  Acquisitions - continued

Viewtran Cayman and Viewtran PRC

As part of the Group's strategy to expand into other businesses to provide a more extensive service to its existing customers, Comtech Group entered into a share
purchase agreement on December 15, 2006 to purchase all the outstanding shares of Viewtran Cayman, an investment holding company which owns a 100% equity
interest in Viewtran PRC, for consideration of RMB58,529 (USD7,500). Viewtran PRC is engaged in the provision of media communication and collaboration platforms
and solutions services.

The acquisition of Viewtran PRC, through Viewtran Cayman, was accounted for by the Group as a purchase business combination. The following table summarizes the
fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The Group is in the process of finalizing the purchase price allocations; thus, the
allocation of the purchase price is subject to refinement.

RMB

Cash i ’ T
Accounts receivable ' ' 173
Prepaid expenses and other receivables o . B .. 38,
Inventories i ) . 1,367
Property, plant and equipment o o T 500
Intangibles asset -

- proprietary technology o o N 11,6107

- non-compete agreements ) ) 1.327

- license agreement N ) 1,249°

- software asset ' o ) 570
Goodwill . o o ) 7 7 o - O aaw

Total assets acquired ] _ 63172
Trade accounts payable . (397
Accrued expenses and ather labilities (721)
Net assets acquired ' 58.529

Proforma financial information

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presens the combined results of operations of the Group as if the acquisitions of Huameng PRC and Viewtran
PRC had occurred as of the beginning of January 1, 2005. The unaudited pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of what the Company’s
consolidated results of operations actually would have been had it completed these acquisitions at the beginning of each year. In addition, the unaudited pro forma
financial information does not attempt to project the future results of operations of the Group.

Year ended December 31,

T Z006 2006 2008

03 RMB RME
(unaudlted)  (unaudlted)  (unaudited)
Net sales B i} o . N .
Product revenue 162,629 1,269,176 866,332
Services revenue . ~ o o o 7,044 54,972 7421
169,673 1,324,148 873,753
Income from operations o ’ a 14,105 110,080 77.802
Net income . B __ 13398 104559 67,735
Income per share - o ) o )
Basic o423 240
Diluted =~~~ T T o 040 3.09 2.30
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8 ACQUISTIONS, GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS—continued

tb)  Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the yeur ended December 31, 2006 are as follows:

As at December 31, 2006

2006 2006 2005 I3

. i Ush RME  RMEB RMB

Balance as of January 1, 2006 ' ) — .
Acquisition of the remaining minority interest of Shanghai E&T 546 4264 — —_
Acquisition of Viewtran PRC ' ) 5437 42428 2 — —

Impairment loss = - = =

Batance as of December 31, 2006 B ) & 46,692 = =

The goodwill represents the intangible benefits that the acquired business is expected to bring to the Group in the future by providing the Group the access to potential
strategic customers and broadening the Group's product/service offerings 10 its customers.

{c) Intangible Assets
The Group's intangible ussets related to the acquisition of Shanghai E&T and Viewtran PRC in 2006, and consisted of the following:

As of Decetnber 31, 2006

Giross carrylng Amoriization Accumulated
amount period amortizatlon
RME Years RMB

Customer relationships 5.467 5 437

Proprietary technology 11,610 3 166

Non-compele agreements 1327 1 57

License agreement 1.249 2 27

Software asset 570 3 8

Total 20,223 695
USD ush

Toal (tn USD) ’ ) o A 2590 89

Aggregate amortization cxpense lor amortizing intangible assets was RMB69S5 for the year ended December 31, 2006. Estimated amortization expense for the next five
years is: RMB7,048 in 2007, RMBS5,751 in 2008, RMB4.,979 in 2009. RMB1,094 in 2010, and RMB656 in 2011.

9 BANK BORROWINGS AND BANKING FACILITIES
On October 7, 2005, Comtech Hong Kong entered into a USDS5,000 credit fucitity with Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (*SCB"). This facility is secured by
funds on deposit in an amount of RMB15.945 (USD2,043) as of December 31, 2006. and bears interest a1 rates 1.5% per annum over HIBOR or USD Prime. The SCB
facility is repayable on demand and SCB may immediately terminate the facility without the Group's consent or that of any third party. There was no cutstanding
balance under the SCB facility as of December 31, 2006 or 2005.

On Ociober 7, 2005, Comtech Hong Kong entered into 2 USD9,000 credit facility with Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited (“BOC™). As of December 31, 2005, the
outstanding loan balance under the BOC fucility was RMB21,307, at an interest rate of approximately 6% per annum, leaving RMB51,325 in availability and was secured
by funds on deposit in an amount of RMB24,455 and accounts receivable in an amount of RMB 17,027, and bore interest at rates LIBOR plus 2% per annum (6.34% a1
December 31, 2005). On December 20, 2006, the BOC facility was increased to USD15,000. As of December 31, 2006, the outstanding loan balance under the BOC facility
wis RMB30,272 (USD3,879), at an interest rate of 6% per annum, leaving RMB86,790 (USD11,121) in availability. This facility is secured by funds on deposit in an
amount of RMB39.471 (USD35,058) as of December 31, 2006, and bears interest at rates LIBOR plus 2% per annum (7.34% as of December 31, 2006). The BOC facility is
repayable on demand and BOC may increase, reduce and/or cancel the facility by written notice to the Group.
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10 INCOME TAXES

The Company is incorporated in the United States, and is subject 10 United States federal income tax. The Company did not generate income subject to income tax in the
United States in 2004, 2005 and 2006. The Company’s subsidiaries that are incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin [slands are not subject to income
taxes under those jurisdictions. The Company's subsidiaries in the PRC and Hong Kong are subject 10 income or profits tax.

PRC

The PRC statutory tax rate is 33%. Shenzhen Comtech, Comtech Communication and Comtech Software (collectively the “Shenzhen Subsidiaries™), being located in the
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone in the PRC, are subject to a reduced tax rate of 15%. Since the Shenzhen Subsidiaries have ugreed to operate for a minimum of 10 years
in the PRC, a two-year tax holiday from the first profit making year is available and thereafter from the third to the fifth years, 8 50% reduction to a tax rate of 7.5% as
fallows:

+  Shenzhen Comtech is subject to a tax rate at 7.5% in 2004, and a tax rate of 15% in 2005 and 2006.
*  Comtech Communication is under a tax holiday in 2004, and a tax rate of 7.5% until 2007.
J Comtech Software is under a tax holiday in 2005 and 2006, and will be subject to a three year tax rate of 7.5% until 2009.

Shanghai E & T is located in Shanghai Qingpu Zone and is taxed on a deemed basis at 0.5% (2005: 0.5%) of its turnover in accordance with the tax guidelines issued by
the local tax authority in Qingpu Zone in 2008 and 2006,

Comloca, Viewtran PRC and Huameng PRC have no assessable profits in 2006 or 2005,
Hong Kong

Comtech Hong Kong and Comtech Broadband, subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong, are subject to profits taxes in Hong Kong at a rate of 17.5% in 2004, 2005 and
2006.

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

2006 2006 2005 2004
USD RME RMB  RMB
Current tax ) - ’ ) - :
United States — — — —
PRC, excluding Hong Kong 654 5104 4852 2,046
Hong Kong 763 6,000 1884 254
Deferred tax ) - i — — — —

s
=
o
Ii‘
IO\|
-
o
=8
[
8

A reconciliation between income tax expense and amounts calculated using the PRC statutory tax rate is as follows:

2006 2006 2005 2004

USD RMB RME RAME
Income before income tux ) ST T 1193 1399 97,555 66,635
PRC statutory tax rate 33% 3% 3% 33%
Computed “expected” tax expenses ] . 5917 46,175 32,0937 21,990
Effect of preferential income tax rate (708) {5,528) (12,891) (12,656)
Effect of tax holiday granted 10 Shenzhen Subsidiaries ’ T (3697 (28,850)  (16,744)  (7.199)
Foreign tax differential (1.119) (8.729) (1.672) (225)
Change in valuation allowance 7 i 760 5928 C - -
Non-deductible items:
’ Stock based compensation T2 T 1502 T - _—

Others non-deductible item T % 606 5,754 448

Others ) i ’ - — = % {58)
Income taxes 1,423 11,104 6,736 2,300
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10

11

Note a

INCOME TAXES - continued

The PRC 1ax rate has been used because the majority of the Company’s pre-tax and taxable income arises in the PRC. The efiect on tax payable without tax holiday and
preferential tax amounted to approximately RMB34,378 (USD4,405), RMB29,635 and RMB19,855 in the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively
(equivalent to basic earnings per share amount of RMB1.07 (USD{.14), RMB1.05, and RMB0.92 and a diluted earnings per share amount of RMB 1.02 (USD0.13),
RMB1.00, and RMB0.91 in the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively).

Certain of the Company's PRC subsidiaries have generated net operating losses within the jurisdiction in which they operate amounting to approximately RMB36,168
(USD4,634). These losses will expire on varicus dates through 2011 and are expected 10 be utilized during the tax exgmption period.

On Mareh 16, 2007, the PRC government has enacted the new Enterprise Income Tax Law which imposes a single income tax rate of 25% for most domestic enterprises
and foreign investment enterprises. The Enterprise Income Tax Law is effective as of January 1. 2008 and may result in higher income 1axes to the Group in the future.

United Siates

For United States federal income tax purposes, the Company has net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately USD15.453 (2005: USD13,200) and expire at various
dates through 2026. Included in these US losses are net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately USD12,743 that are subject 1o significant limitations due to prior
ownership change, as defined under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Based on management’s best estimate, it is not probable that these US loss carry-
forwards are expected to be utilizable due to this prior ownership change and thus. no deferred tax assets were recognized for these US loss carry-forwards as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005. For the net operating loss carry-forwards that are not currently subject to such limitations, gross deferred tax assets of RMB6,979
(USD894) and RMB1,051 were recognized us of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. However, management believes it is more likely than not that such net
operating loss carry-forwards will not be realized, therefore. a full valuation allowance has been provided as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. There was no other
significant deferred tax asset or liability, except for the net operating loss carry-forwards, as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. The increase in the valuation allowance
during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was RMB5,928 (LISD760) and RMB392, respectively.

In addition, United States income taxes have not been provided on undistributed earnings of subsidiaries located outside the United States of approximately
RMB280,904 (USD35,994) as such earnings are considered to be permanently reinvested. If circumstances change and it becomes apparent that some or all of the
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries will be remitted in the foreseeable future but income taxes have not been recognized by the Company, income tax expenses for
such undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries would be accrued as an expense. -

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses and other liabilities consists of the following:

2006 2006 2008

USD (3300 RMEB
Legal and professional fees 518 4043 3,503
Accrued staff related cosis ) 1,338 10443 2774
Payable for acquisitions {Note a) 8297 64750 —
Other accruals and liabilities 899 7.017 3.073

11052 86253 9350

The balance represents amounts payable in relation to the Group's acquisition of Viewtran Cayman and Shanghai E&T amounting to RMB58,529
(USD7.500) and RMB6.221 (USD797), respectively.

Amount payable in relation 1o the Viewtran Cayman acquisition is non-interest bearing of which RMB31,214 (USD4,000) is due and payable as of
December 31, 2006, RMB19,511 (USD2,500) is due on March 31, 2007 and the remaining balance of RMB7,804 (USD 1,000} is due on December 31, 2007.
The balance of RMB31,214 (USD4,000) was settled in February 2007,

Amount payable in relation to the Shanghai E&T acquisition is non-interest bearing and was settled in February 2007.
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12

13

(a)

(&)

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

In August 2006, the Group disposed of its wholly-owned subsidiary, United Information Technelogy Company Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary, United
Information Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“UIT™), to an independent third party for consideration of RMB29,884 (USD3,829). The principal activity of UIT
was the sales of electronics components and related products. The Company continues to operate in this market through its other subsidiaries. The disposal resulied in
a gain of RMB6,673 (USD8S55) which was recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Options and steck warrants assumed under the Share Exchange Agreement

Prior to the share exchange transaction, the Board of Directors of the Parent adopted, and the then stockholders of the Parent approved, the 1995 Stock Option Plan for
Outside Directors (the “Directors’ Plan™) under which 5,000 options would be granted annually 1o each non-employee director of the Parent for each full year of service
on the Board of the Parent. As a part of the Share Exchange Agreement, the Company assumed fully vested options under the Directors’ Plan to purchase 115,000
shares of the Company's common stock. The options granted under the Directors’ Plan have a weighted average exercise price per option of USD3.00 each and expire
on July I, 2009. Since the share exchange transaction, the Company has not granted additional options under the Directors’ Plan. None of the options exercisable under
the Directors’ Plan was exercised in the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 or 2004. As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of the outstanding
exercisable options was USD1.747.

Prior 1o the share exchange transaction, the Parent granted fully exercisable steck warrants to purchase up to 925,417 shares of the Company’s commen stock which
were assumed as a part of the Share Exchange Agreement. The stock warrants assumed by the Company have a weighted average exercisable price per stock warrant of
USD2.76 each and expire on July 1, 2009, During the year ended December 31, 2006, 754,389 stock warrants with weighted average exercisable price per stock warmant of
USD2.72 each were exercised. No stock warrants were exercised during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, As of December 31, 2006, 171,028 exercisable stock
warrants remained outstanding with a weighted average exercisable price per stock warmrant and aggregate intrinsic value of USD2.67 each and USD2,654 respectively.

Stock warrants issued to financial advisor as part of the financial advisory fee payable in connection with the share exchange transaction

In 2005, the Company granted 325,000 stock warrants 1o the financial advisor as part of the financial advisory fee payable in connection of the share exchange
iransaction in 2004. The stock warrants have an exercise price per stock warrant of USD3.00 each. During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, 16,250 and
308,750 stock warrants were exercised. As of December 31, 2006, no stock warrants remained outstanding.
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13 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION - continued

{c) 2004 Incentive Plan

On August 3, 2004, the Board of Directors adopted the Comtech Group. [nc. 2004 Stock lncentive Plan (the 2004 Incentive Plan™) pursuant to which 2,500,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock are reserved for issuance upon exercise of stock options, and for the issuance of stock appreciation rights, non-vested shares and
performance shares. The purpose of the 2004 Incentive Plan is to provide additional incentive 10 employees, directors, advisors and consultants. The 2004 Incentive
Plan provides for a term of 10 years from the date of its adaption by the Board of Directors, after which no awards may be made, unless the 2004 Incentive Plan is early
terminated by the Board.

Stack options

A summary of stock option activity is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted average
average remaining Aggregate
Number of exercise contractoal intrinsic
options price term value
USD Years USD
Balance as of January 1, 2004 ~ . - _
Granted on August 16, 2004 (note i) 210,000 3.00
Granted on November 11, 2004 {note ii) o ) T LE90000 171
Balance as of December 31, 2004 i ) 1.500.000 3.66
" Granted on January 19, 2005 (pote i) ) ) 30,000 T 550
Granted on May 16, 2003 (note iii) ) ) 322,500 ) 5.01
Granted on December 12, 2005 {note iv) 105,000 5.53
Balance as of December 31, 2005 2,357,500 395
Exercised ) o (922.313) 388
Forfeited (121,668} 3.90
Balance as of December 31, 2006 ) o 1313519 4,01 799 18632
Exercisable as of December 31, 2006 307,541 431 8.19 4,269

Notei The vesting of these options is as follows: (1) 39,375 shares vest on February 1, 2005 or vest in equal monthly instalments over the six months from
August 16, 2005, (2) 118,125 shares vest in equal monthly instalments over the period from February 2, 2005 to Aogust 1, 2006, and (3} 52,500 shares vest
in equat monthly instalments over the period from August 2, 2006 to August 1, 2007. In addition, the Company entered into an employment contract with
its Chief Firancial Officer (“Employment Contract”™). The terms of the Employment Contract provide that in the event the Company engaged in an
underwritten offering of shares of common stock which would yield gross proceeds to the Company in excess of RMB248,319 (USD30,000), ali of the
210,000 stock options would be accelerated and become fully vested. In July 2005, the Company completed the registered offering and gross proceeds in
excess of USD30,000 was raised, and accordingly, all of the 210,000 stock options were accelerated and became fully vested at such time.
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(c)

Note ii

2004 Incentive Plan - continued

20,000 options were fully vested in 2003. 52,500 options vest in equul quarterly instalments over one year beginning the year following the date of
grant, and the remaining 1,617,500 options vest in equal quarterly instalments over a period of three years starting from the date of grant.

Noteiii ~ The stock options vest in equal quarterly instalments over a period of three years from the date of grant,

Noteiv  The stock options were fully vested on the date of grant.

Note i

Note ii

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the assumptions in the fotlowing table:

1006 2008 2004
Risk-free interest rate N/A 4.78% lo 5.08% 4.78% to 4.99%
Expected life N/A 52510 6.50 years 5.25 10 6.50 years
Expected volatility N/A  36%1050% 36% o 37%
Expected dividend yield N/A - -

The Group used a blended volistility rate using a combination of historical stock price volatitity and market implied volatility. The risk-free interest rate assumption is
based upon the average daily ¢closing rates during the preceding quarter for U.S. treasury notes that have a life which approximates the expected life of the option. The
dividend yield assumption is based on the Company’s history and expectation of dividend payouts. The expected life of employee stock options represents the
weighted-average period the stock options are expected to remain outstanding. The expected life assumptions are established through the review of annual historicai
employee exercise behavior of option grants with similar vesting periods. The Group estimated that the forfeiture rate approximated zero percent as there were no history
of significant forfeiture and the Group expects the future forfeiture to be minimal.

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was USD1.60 and USD2.48 each, respectively. The total intrinsic
value of options exercised during the year ended Decemnber 31, 2006 was USD8,766.

Non-vested equity share unit

A summary of non-vested equity share unit activity is as follows:

Weighted averuge

Shares Grant-date fair value
usp

Balance as of January 1, 2006 — —
Granted on March 8, 2006 (note i} 50.000 9.14
Granted on March 8, 2006 (note ii) 7.500 9.14
Grunted on July 21, 2006 (note iii) 6,000 10,12
Granted on July 21, 2006 (note i) 96,000 10.12
Vested {96,762) 9.6¢
Balunce as of December 31, 2006 62,738 9.89

The stock awards vest in equal quarterly instulments over a period of one year from the date of grant.

The stock awards vest in equal quarterly instalments over a period of three years from the date of grant.

Noteiii  The stock awards were fully vesied on the date of gramt,

The total fair value of non-vested equity share units vested during the year ended Decemnber 31, 2006 wus USD937. As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate unamortized
fair value of all non-vested equity share units was USD620, which is expected to be amortized on a straight-line basis over a weighted average pertod of approximately
0.44 years.
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13  STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION - continued

(c) 2004 Incentive Plan - continued

Perfarmance shares

A summary of performance shares activity is as follows:

Weighted average

Shares Grant-date fair value

) o - USh
Balance as of January 1, 2006 — —
Granted on July 21, 2006 (note i) 104,000 10.12

Vested ] (34,667) 10.12
Batance as of December 31, 2006 69,133 10.12

Notei  The performance awards vest in equal quarterly instalments over three quarters from Cctober 1. 2006 1o June 30. 2007 and were subject 10 a company-wide

performance goal which was achieved for the year ended December 31, 2006.

The total fair value of shares vested during the year ended December 31, 2006 was USD351. As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate unamortized fair value of alt non-
vested performance shares awards was USD702, which is expected to be amontized on a straight-line basis over a weighted average period of approximately 0.31 years.

(d) 2006 Incentive Plan

On December 20, 2006, the Board of Directors adopted the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2006 Incentive Pian™) pursuant to which 4,800,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock are reserved for issuance upon exercise of stock options, and for the issuance of stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and performance
shares. The purpose of the 2006 Incentive Plan is to provide additional incentive to employees, directors, advisors and consultans. The 2006 Incentive Plan provides
for a term of 10 years from the date of its adoption by the Board of Directors, after which no awards may be made, unless the 2006 Incentive Plan is early terminated by
the Board, No awards have been granted under the 2006 Incentive Plan,

14 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share as of December 31

2006 2006 2005 2004

) TSD RME RMB RMD
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Net income 15,796 123,275 86,842 62,202
Denominator: '
Basic weighted average shares 32200044 28,168.274  21.690.560
Effect of ditutive options 1629475 1.339.665 194,493
Diluted weighted average shares 33820,519 29,507,939 21,885,053
Basic earnings per share: 0.49 3.83 308 287
Diluted earnings per share: 0.47 3.64 2.94 2.84
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15 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

SFAS No. 131, Disciosures abour Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments in
financial statements. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly
by the chief operating decision muker, or decision making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company determined it has two operating segments based on the above: Component Sales and Engineering Services. Prior to
the acquisition of Huameng PRC in January 2006, the Group's only operating segment was Component Sales.

The Camponent Sales segment primarily consisis of the sale of components for the mobile handset, telecommunication system equipment, digital media and other (such
as network protection devices and data storage) markets. The Engineering Services segment primarily consists of the provision of technology and engineering services,
business process outsourcing, network system integration and related training and maintenance services. There was no inter-segment revenue during the periods
reporled. Unallocated includes items such as corporate staff and overhead.

Substantially all of the Group's operations are in the PRC. Consequentially, no geographic information is presented.

Following is the segment information for the year ended December 31, 2006:

Component Engineering

Sales Services Unallocated Tolal
RMB RMB RMB RMB
Segment revenue from external cusiomers 1,269,176 54,387 — 1,323,563
Income/(loss) from operations 156,544 9354 (37.103) 128.795
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 6,673 — — 6,673
Interest expense (2,834) (61) —_ (2.896)
Interest income 7,187 154 11 7,352
Income before income taxes and Minority interests 167,570 9,446 {37.092) 139,924
Significant non-cash items:
— Minority interest 8,795 (3,250) —_ 5.545
- Stock-based compensation ¢cost — — 20,029 20,029
— Bad deb1 expense 7,920 — — 7,920
- Provision for inventory write-down 7,369 — _ 7,369
- Depreciation and amortization 2,252 802 — 3.054
Segment assets 741.571 150,519 9.002 907,008
Total expenditures for additions to leng-lived assets
- Property and equipment 3,370 5,053 — 8,423
- Intangible assets 5.467 14,756 — 20.223
— Investment in an affiliated company — 416 — 416
— Goodwill 4,264 42,428 — 46,692
Revenues from external customers by product category are summarized as follows:
2006 2006 1005 2004
usp RMB RMB RMB
Netrevenue
Component Sales
Mobile handset 67,327 525427 446370 368,116
Telecommunications equipment 58331 455223 326,714 249254
Digital media and others 36,971 288,526 93,248 8,286
162629  1.269,176 866,332 625656
Engineering Services 6,569 54,387 — —
Total net revenue 169,598 1,323,563 866,332 625,656
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16

Statutory reserves

According 1o laws applicable to the PRC's Foreign Investment Enterprises and the Articles of Association of certain subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC (the “PRC
subsidiaries™), the PRC subsidiaries are required to appropriate part of their net profiis as determined in accordance with the accounting principles and the relevant
financial regulations applicable to enterprises limited by shares as established by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC (“PRC GAAP”) to various reserves. These include
general reserves, statutory surplus reserve and statutory public welfare fund,

For general reserve, appropriation to general reserve is at the discretion of the board of directors of the relevant PRC subsidiaries. The reserve can only be used for
specific purposes and is not distributable as cash dividends.

For statutory surptus reserve, 10% of the net profit, as determined in accordance with PRC GAAP, of the relevant PRC subsidiaries is transferred to the statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital of the relevant PRC companies. The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of dividends to shareholders can be made. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to made good previous years’ losses, if any, and may be converted
into share capital by the issue of new shares to shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholdings or by increasing
the par value of the shares currently held by the shareholders, provided that the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

For statutory public welfare fund, 5% 10 10% of the net profii, as determined in accordance with PRC GAAP, of the relevant PRC subsidiaries is transferred to the
statutory public welfare fund. This fund can only be utilized un capital items for the collective benefit of the employees such as the construction of dormitories, canieen
and other staff welfare facilities. The fund is non-distributable other than on liquidation. The transfer to this fund must be made before distribution of dividends to
shareholders can be made.

The accumulated balance of these statutory reserves maintained at the Company’s PRC subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 were RMB 19,946 (USD2,556) and
RMB14,711, respectively.
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17

18

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a)  The Group has operating lease agreements principally for its office facilities. The leases have remaining terms up to forty months. Rental expense was RMB 6,783
(USD 869), RMB 3,537 and RMB 1,590 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease agreements as of December 31, 2006 were as follows:

USD RMB
Year ending December 31, | ) . .
2007 . 712 6.024
2008 - 363 2838
2009 £z 1,810
2010 ) - 3
Total =|ﬂ 11,271

(b)  Asat December 31, 2006, the Group has outstanding purchase orders for components from suppliers in the amount of approximately RMB202,918 (USD26,001).
The Group does not have any minimum purchase obligations with these suppliers. Other than as disclosed above, the Group had no other contractual
obligations, off-balance sheet guarantees or arrangements as at December 31, 2006.

() Asof December 31, 2006, outstanding bills discounted with banks for which the Group has reained a recourse obligation amounting to RMB58,531 (USD7,500).

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
Related Party Balances

Amounts due to related parties
2006 2006 2005
USD RMB RMB

Matsunichi Electronics (Hong Kong) Limited ("Matsunichi®) 195 1522 1.561

The balance represented consideration payable to Matsunichi for the purchase of a small office suite by the Group in 2001. Mr. Jeffrey Kang, Chairman of the Company,
has a controlling interest in Matsunichi. The balance is interest free and has no fixed date of repayment. Apart from the foregoing, there was no other related party
balances or transactions.
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19 CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT
A substantial percentage of the Group's sales are made to the following customers. Details of the customers accounting for 10% or mare of total net revenue in any of
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:
Company A ) ' ) . ' 16% * *
Company B * * 13%
Company C * o F 129
Company D * * 11%
* Lessthan 10%
There were no customers that accounted for 10% or more of the total net revenue of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2005,
Details of the accounts receivable from the four customers with the largest receivable balances at December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:
Percentage of accounts receivable
) _ 3006 2008
Company A - ) T o - 3% ’ . 5%
Cempany B ) 7 165 16%
Company C ) i ) ) 4% 2%
Company D __ o _1% _10%,
30% 8%
20 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Certain employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to retirement benefits based on their salaries and length of service upon retirement in accordance with a PRC
government-managed retirement plan. The PRC government is directly responsible for the payments of the benefits to these retired employees. The Group is required to
make contributions (o the government-managed retirerent plan at 6.5% to 9% of the monthly basic sataries of certain employees. The expense of such arrangements to
the Group for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was RMB1,961 (USD251), RMB722 and RMB270, respectively.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (*the MPF scheme™) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The assets of the MPF scheme are held by independent trustees and are separated from
those of the Group's assets. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HKD20. Contributions to the plan by the employee vest immediately. The contributions paid by the
Group for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 were RMB125 (USD16), RMB45 and RMB32, respectively,
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21

22

23

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of pledged bank deposits, trade accounts receivable, bills receivable, amounts due from related parties, short-term loans, trade accounts payable,
amounts due to related parties, and other payables and accrued liabilities approximated the respective carrying amounts because of the short maturity of these
instruments.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The RMB is not a freely convertible currency. The State Administration for Foreign Exchange, under the authority of the People's Bank of China, controls the
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies. The value of the RMB is subject to changes in central government policies and to international economic and political
developments affecting supply and demand in the China Foreign Exchange Trading System market.

The PRC subsidiaries conduct their business substantially in the PRC, and their financial performance and position are measured in terms of RMB, Any devaluation of
the RMB against the USD would consequently have an adverse effect on the financial performance and asset values of the Group when measured in terms of USD. The
PRC subsidiaries' products are primarily procured, sold and delivered in the PRC for RMB. Thus, their revenues and profits are predominantly denominated in RMB.
Should the RMB devalue against USD, such devalvation could have a material adverse effect on the Group's profits and the foreign currency equivalent of such profits
repatriated by the PRC entities to the Company.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk arising from short-term variable rate borrowings from time to time. The Group's future interest expense will fluctuate in line
with any change in borrowing rates. The Group does not have any derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and believes its exposure to
interest rate risk is not material.
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Exhibit 10.13

Deed

Concerning Shares of Shanghai E & T System Company Limited (“Shanghai E&T")

December 12, 2006

Among:

(i) Honghui Li of Room 8H, Binghai Building, Jingxiu Garden, Huagiaocheng, Shenzhen, China; and
(i)  Comitech (China) Holding Ltd., whose registered office is at East Asia Chambers, P.O. Box 901, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands (hereinafter referred

to as “Comiech China™)

Whereas:

For good, valuable and eqguitable consideration, all parties agree to the following terms:

1. Every provision of this Deed shall be irrevocable, and further, to the extent as permitied by PRC laws and regulations, Honghui Li undertakes to Comtech
China and agrees that:

(13 Honghui Li has been holding, still holds and shall continue to hold his equity interests of 5% in the registered capital of Shanghai E&'T, together with afl
dividends and interest, rights and privileges accrued or to accrue upon the same (the “Equity Interesis”) for the benefit of Comiech China;

(2)  Honghui Li shall deal with and exercise any rights arising from the aforementioned Equity Interests in Shanghai E&T in such manner as Comtech China
may from time to time direct;

(3)  Honghui Li shall (i} apply the dividend and other distributions from his Equity Interests in Shanghai E&T, if any, to the extent the payments under (i) is
not permitted by PRC laws or compliance with PRC legal or regulatory requirements would render such payments not commercially feasible seek
alternate means to perform her payment obligation under (ii) including, without limitation, using his offshore personal assets equivalent in value to the
dividend and other distributions she will receive in connection with her Equity Interests in Shanghai E&T, and (ii) cause Shanghai E&T not to declare
and make any dividend or other distributions without prior written approval from Comtech China;

(4)  Honghui Li shall attend all meetings of shareholders, board of directors if appointed, or otherwise which Honghui Li shall be entitled to attend by virtue
of being the registered holder of the said Equity Interests and to vote thereat as Comtech China may direct, or alternatively 1o execute all proxies or other
documents which shall be necessary or proper to enable Comtech China’s nominees to attend and vote at any such meeting, and shall also give all
notices, orders and directions which Comtech China may require to give;

(5)  Honghui Li shail at any time and from time to time execute such further documents, instruments and agreements and to take any actions required by
Comtech China to give effect to this Deed including but not limited to transferring the Equity Interests to Comtech China or its designees.

2. This Deed will not become effective until the Registration occurs.

3 This Deed and the rights and obligations of the parties thereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China,

4. If at any time any provisions of this Deed is or become illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, the legality, validity
and enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction, and of remaining provisions of this Deed, shall not be affected of impaired thereby.

5. Any dispute arising from the interpretation or execution of, or in connection with, this Deed shall be settled through friendly consultations between the Parties.
In case no settlement can be reached through consultations, the dispute shall then be submitted to Hong Kong International Arbitration Center for arbitration.
The award is final and binding upon both parties.

Dated December 12, 2006




Signed Sealed and Delivered
By Honghui Li

In the presence of:

Name of witness:

Jia Xiao

Sealed with the common seal of
And signed by Jeffrey Kang (director) on behalf of

Comtech (China) Holding Ltd.




Exhibit 10.14

Concerning Shares of Shenzhen Comtech International Ltd

December 12, 2006

Among:

(i)

Jeffrey (Jingwei) Kang of Room 5007, 504 Floor Tower A United Plaza No. 5022 Binhe Road Futian, Shenzhen 518026 China;

(i)  Honghui Liof Home Address; and

(i) Comtech (China) Holding Ltd., whose registered office is at East Asia Chambers, P.O. Box 901, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands (hereinafier referred
to as “Comtech China™)

Whereas:

(i)  Jeffrey Kang has executed equity transfer agreements pursuant to which Jeffrey Kang has agreed to transfer his (i) ninety-nine percent (99%) equity interest in
Shenzhen Comtech International Limited (“Comitech International”} to Honghui Li;

(i)  Upon the successful registration of the agreed equity transfer with PRC governmental authorities (the “Registration”), Honghui Li will own 2 ninety-nine

percent (99%) equity interest in Comtech International.

For good, valuable and eguitable consideration, all parties agree to the following terms:

Every provision of this Deed shall be irrevocable, and further, to the extent as permitted by PRC laws and regulations, Honghui Li undertakes to Comtech
China and agrees that:

(1)  Honghui Li has been holding, still holds and shall continue to hold his equity interests in the registered capital of Comtech International, together with
all dividends and interest, rights and privileges accrued or to accrue upon the same (the “Equity Interests”) for the benefit of Comtech China;

(23 Honghui Li shall deal with and exercise any rights arising from the aforementioned Equity [nterests in Comtech international in such manner as Comtech
China may from time to time direct;

{3)  Honghui Li shall (i) apply the dividend and other distributions from his Equity Interests in Comtech International, if any, to the extent the paymenis
under (i) is not permitted by PRC laws or compliance with PRC legal or regulatory requirements would render such payments not commercially feasible
seek alternate means to perform her payment obligation under (ii) including, without limitation, using his offshore personal assets equivalent in value to
the dividend and other distributions she will receive in connection with her Equity Interests in Comtech International, and (ii) cause Comtech
International not to declare and make any dividend or other distributions without prior written approval from Comtech China;

(4)  Honghui Li shall attend all meetings of shareholders, board of directors if appointed, or otherwise which Honghui Li shall be entitled to attend by virtue
of being the registered holder of the said Equity Interests and to vote thereat as Comtech China may direct, or alternatively to execute all proxies or other
documents which shall be necessary or proper to enable Comtech China's nominees to attend and vote at any such meeting, and shall also give all
notices, orders and directions which Comtech China may require to give;

(5)  Honghui Li shall at any time and from time to time execute such further documents, instruments and agreements and to take any actions required by
Comtech China 10 give effect to this Deed including but not limited to transferring the Equity Interests to Comiech China or its designees.

This Deed will not become effective until the Registration occurs.

This Deed and the rights and obligations of the parties thereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China.

If at any time any provisions of this Deed is or become illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any jurisdiction, the legality, validity
and enforceability of such provision under the law of any other jurisdiction, and of remaining provisions of this Deed, shall not be affected of impaired thereby.

Any dispute arising from the interpretation or execution of, or in connection with, this Deed shall be settled through friendly consultations between the Parties.
In case no settlement can be reached through censultations. the dispute shall then be submitted to Hong Kong International Arbitration Center for arbitration.
The award is final and binding upon both parties.

Dated December 12, 2006




Signed Sealed and Delivered
By Honghui Li

In the presence of:

Name of witness:

Signed Sealed and Delivered
By Jeffrey Kang

[n the presence of:

Name of witness:

Sealed with the commen seal of
And signed by Jeffrey Kang (director) on behalf of

Comtech (China) Holding Ltd.




EXHIBIT 15.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Comtech Group, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-125696) on Form S-8 of Comtech Group, Inc. of our reports dated March 16, 2007, |
with respect to the consolidated balance sheet of Comtech Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of
earnings, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2006, management’s assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, which
reports appear in the December 3t, 2006 annual report on Form 10-K of Comtech Group, Inc. and to the reference to cur firm under the heading “Selected Financial
Data” in the annual report.

Qur report dated March 16, 2007, on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, contains an explanatory paragraph which states that the Company acquired Viewtran Cayman (the
“Acquired Company™) on December 15, 2006, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006 the Acquired Company's internal control over financial reporting associated with total assets representing approximately 7% of total consolidated
assets and less than 1% of consolidated net sales of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006. Qur audit of internal control over financial
reporting of the Company excluded an evaluation of the internal contrel over financial reporting of the Acquired Company,

KPMG
Hong Kong, China
March 16, 2007




EXHIBIT 15.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No, 333-125696 on Form S-8 of our report dated March 23, 2006 relating to the consolidated
financial statements of Comtech Group, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2005, appearing in the Annual Report on Farm 10-K of Comtech Group, Inc, for the year
ended December 31, 2006, and to the reference to us under the headings “Selected Financial Data” in such annual report.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Hong Kong
March 15, 2007




SUBSIDIARIES

Name of company

Alphalink Global Limited )
COGO Engineering Services Limited (previously known as “Huameng Engineering
Services Limited™) (“Huameng BV1"™)

Comloca Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited (*“Comloca™

Comtech Broadband Corporation Limited (“Comtech Broadband™}

Comtech (China) Helding Limited (*Comtech China”)

Comtech Communication Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“Comtech
Communication™)

Comtech Group

Comtech (Hong Kong) Holding Limited ("Comtech Holding")

Comtech Intemational (Hong Kong) Limited {“Comtech Hong Kong™)

Comtech Software Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“Comtech Software”)

Comitech Wireless Limited (“Comtech Wireless™) '

OAM S.p.A. (“OAM") )

Reliable Group Limited )

Shenzhen Comtech international Limited (“Shenzhen Comtech™)

Shanghai E&T System Company Limited (“Shanghai E & ™)

Shenzhen Huameng Software Company Limited (“Huameng PRC™)

Viewtran Technology Limited {*Viewtran Cayman™)

Viewtran Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Limited (“*Viewtran PRC”)

Place of incorporation/ establishment

British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
BVI

People’s Republic of China (“*PRC™)
Hong Kong

BVI1

PRC

Cayman Islands
BVI

Hong Kong
PRC

BVI

Iwaly

BVI

PRC

PRC

PRC

Cayman Islands
PRC

EXHIBIT 21.1

Attributable equity
interest held

100%
51.12%

60%
- 55%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
60%
98.6%
100%
100%
100%3
51.12%
100%
100%




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Jeffrey Kang, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Comtech Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries:

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circemstances under which such stalements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange 3
Act Rules 13a-15{¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(0) for the registrant and have: ‘

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and precedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b} Designed such internal control over financial reporting. or caused such internal control over financial reporting 1o be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

{c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation:

{d} Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our mest recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivatent functions):

(a} All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Dated: March 16, 2007

By: /st Jeffrey Kang
Name: Jeffrey Kang
Tide:  Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Hope Ni certify that:

1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Comtech Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omil to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect 10 the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this repon, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e} and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(0) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 10 be designed under our supervision, to ensere
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated substdiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;

(d) Disciosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting: and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significan deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Dated: March 16, 2007

By: /s/ Hope Ni
Name: Hope Ni
Title:  Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

WRITTEN STATEMENT
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with Annual Report of Comtech Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hergof (the “Report™), the undersigned, Jeffrey Kang, Chief Executive Officer of the Company certifies, pursuant to
18 U.5.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

{1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a-14(b) or 13d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all materia) respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 16, 2007

By: s/ leffrey Kang
Name: Jeffrey Kang
Title:  Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

WRITTEN STATEMENT
PURSUANT TO

18 US.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with Annual Report of Comtech Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company™} on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Hope Ni, Chief Financial Officer of the Company certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

{2} The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 16, 2006

By: /s/ Hope Ni
Name: Hope Ni
Title:  Chief Financial Officer
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